
Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
A.    MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
B. ROLL CALL 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
D. PROCLAMATIONS 

1. Recognizing Small Business Saturday 
 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. October 24, 2022 – Study Session (National Flood Insurance Program & Basketball Courts Proposal) 
2. October 24, 2022 – Regular  Meeting Minutes 
 

F. APPOINTMENTS to BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
1. none 

 
G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

1.  Suzanne Greenwald to be sworn in to the Senior Commission. 
 
H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
 
Request to Address the Council Forms are located on the ledge just inside the entrance.  Please complete 
and place the form in the basket at the front of the room. 
 
The public may also submit written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments may be  sent via email to:  
councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  Such comments will be provided to City Council prior 
to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the official record and made accessible to the public online following the meeting. Please note, when 
submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Please also not if your comment is on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and 
address are not provided, the provided comment will not be recorded in the official record. 
 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1.  Zoning Map Amendment – Market at Olive Phase IV, Lot A and Common Ground (REZ 22-07) 
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding 
2. MOGS 20 oxygen generator purchase 
3. Canton Avenue Phase I Construction Agreement 
4. Municipal Parks Grant Agreement (Heman Park) 
5. EDRST Funding Request – U City in Bloom and Farmers Market 
6. Snow Equipment Purchase 
 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT   (vote required) 
1. Public Safety Citizen Recognition (John Trotter)  
2. US Army Corps of Engineers RE: Detention Basin Project  
3. Update – Flood Buyout Program 
4. Frist Quarter Financial Report 
5. OMCI Application (8346 & 8488 Old Bonhomme Rd.) 
6. Conditional Use Permit (CUP 22-11) Market at Olive Phase IV – Lot A 
7. Conditional Use Permit (CUP 22- 12) Market at Olive Phase IV – Lot B 
8. Conditional Use Permit (CUP 22- 8) 7360 Forsyth 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 
6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, Missouri 63130 

Monday, November 14, 2022 
6:30 p.m. 

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Page 2 of 2 
 

L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
1. Bill 9489 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE VII OF THE TRAFFIC CODE, TO REVISE 

TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN. 
 

2. Bill 9490 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.070 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP, BY AMENDING SAID 
MAP SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY KNOWN AS LOT A AND COMMON 
GROUND 2 OF PLAT 4 OF THE MARKET AT OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, FROM “PD” PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, “GC” GENERAL COMMERCIAL AND “SR” SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “PD” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (“PD-C”). 

 
M. NEW BUSINESS 

Resolutions   (vote required) - none 
1. Resolution 2022-13  Resolution for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget Amendment #2 
2. Resolution 2022-14 Preliminary Plan Approval – Adoption of a Resolution to approve the Preliminary 

Development Plan for Market at Olive Phase IV development, Lot A and Common Ground 2. 
 
Bills   (Introduction and 1st reading - no vote required) 

3. Bill 9491 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PETITION TO ADD REAL PROPERTY TO THE 
MARKETS AT OLIVE COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT. 

 
4. Bill 9492 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.070 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 

OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP, BY AMENDING SAID 
MAP SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY KNOWN AS LOT B OF PLAT 4 OF 
THE MARKET AT OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, FROM “GC” GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT AND “SR” 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “PD” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT (“PD-C”). 

 
5. Bill 9493 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR LOT A AND COMMON 

GROUND 2 OF THE PROPOSED MARKET AT OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, PLAT 4 
 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal actions, causes 
of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or privileged communications 
between a public governmental body or its representatives or attorneys  

 
R. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
The public may also observe via: 
Live Stream via YouTube: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ 
 
 
Posted 11th  day of November 2022. 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk, MRCC 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ


WHEREAS;  the government of the City of University City, Missouri, celebrates our local small businesses 
and the contributions they make to our local economy and community; and 

WHEREAS; according to the United States Small Business Administration, there are 32.5 million small 
businesses in the United States, small businesses represent 99.7% of firms with paid employees, small 
businesses are responsible for 62% of net new jobs created since 1995, and small businesses employ 
46.8% of the employees in the private sector in the United States; and 

WHEREAS; 79% of consumers understand the importance of supporting the small businesses in their 
community on Small Business Saturday®, 70% report the day makes them want to encourage others to 
Shop Small®, independently-owned retailers, and 66% report that the day makes them want to Shop Small 
all year long; and 

WHEREAS; 58% of shoppers reported they shopped online with a small business and 54% reported they 
dined or ordered takeout from a small restaurant, bar, or café on Small Business Saturday in 2021; and 

WHEREAS; the City of University City, Missouri supports our local businesses that create jobs, boost our 
local economy, and preserve our communities; and 

WHEREAS; advocacy groups, as well as public and private organizations, across the country have 
endorsed the Saturday after Thanksgiving as Small Business Saturday. 

NOW, THEREFORE, The City Council of University City in the State of Missouri, do hereby proclaim 
November 26, 2022, as 

SMALL BUSINESS SATURDAY 

And urge the residents of our community, and communities across the country, to support small 
businesses and merchants on Small Business Saturday and throughout the year. 

WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and caused the Seal of the City of University City to be 
affixed this 14th day of November in the year Two Thousand and Twenty-two.  

SEAL 

Councilmember Aleta Klein Councilmember Steve McMahon 

Councilmember Jeff Hales Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Councilmember Tim Cusick Mayor Terry Crow 

Councilmember Stacy Clay ATTEST 
City Clerk, LaRette Reese 

PROCLAMATION 
OF THE 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

D - 1 - 1





Page 1 of 6 

NOTICE OF STUDY SESSION  
National Flood Insurance Program and 

Heman Park Basketball Courts Proposal 
CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 

 6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, Missouri 63130 
Monday, October 24, 2022 

5:30 p.m. 

AGENDA 

1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
At the Study Session of the City Council of University City held on Monday, October 24, 2022,
Mayor Terry Crow, called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m.

In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:
Councilmember Stacy Clay 
Councilmember Aleta Klein; (excused) 
Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr.; Director of 
Parks, Recreation, and Forestry and Acting Director of Public Works, Darren Dunkle, and Asia Garrison 
of Big Guards Give Foundation. 

2. CHANGES TO THE REGULAR AGENDA
Mr. Rose requested that Item J (2); Central County Dispatch Contract, be removed from the
Consent Agenda and added to the City Manager's Report as Item K (6).

3. NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM
Mr. Rose stated staff would like to present Council with information on the National Floodplain
Insurance Program (NFIP).  As a participant in this program, the City must adhere to the minimum
standards of this program to make sure its residents remain eligible for flood insurance.  He then
asked Mr. Dunkle to explain the principles of this program and how they impact the City's
administration of the NFIP.

Overview 
The National Flood Insurance Program is a voluntary program that is an agreement between the 
Federal Government (FEMA), and local communities to provide the benefits of federally backed flood 
insurance coverage in return for the mitigation of flood risks by community regulation of floodplain 
development.  Flood insurance, as are most types of federal financial assistance such as mortgage 
loans and community grants are only available to those communities that adopt and enforce a 
Floodplain Management Ordinance that meets and exceeds the minimum standards of the program.  
The goal is to mitigate the chance of flood damage and risks associated with floods.   

Homeowners, renters, and business owners who live in NFIP-participating communities are eligible to 
purchase flood insurance and are required to do so if they carry a mortgage on the property.   

• A single-family residence can be insured up to $250,000 for the structure, and $100,000 for its
contents

• Renters can be insured up to $100,000 for their contents
• Business owners, as well as the City, can be insured for up to $500,000 for structures, and

$500,000 for the contents in those structures.

E - 1 - 1



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

The NFIP’s land use regulations are intended to prevent the loss of life, property, and economic and 
social hardships resulting from flood disasters.  There is clear evidence that these goals have been 
achieved in areas where structures and other development activities are in compliance with the 
community’s floodplain management ordinance. 
 
Mr. Dunkle stated the City's regulations are in place and what staff is trying to do at this point, is make 
sure its facilities, as well as every qualifying resident and business, comply with the current Ordinance. 

 
Benefits 

• Every homeowner or business is eligible as long as the City is a participant in the program. 
• Federal regulations state that Federally backed mortgage companies must require flood 

insurance on structures within Special Flood Hazard Areas.  
• Public Assistance (PA) grants are available upon the announcement of a Presidential 

Declaration, which can be used for debris removal, and the repair of roads and bridges. 
• NFIP provides mitigation opportunities and grants for buyouts, sirens, and other items. 

 
University City 
Mr. Dunkle informed Council that some of these statistics were recorded before the recent flood. 

• Currently, there are 259 flood insurance policies 
• There have been approximately 50 million dollars in coverage 
• The City joined the NFIP in 1978 and since that time, 1,140 claims have been filed  
• Approximately 16 million dollars has been paid out towards those claims 

 
Substantial Damage Estimate (SDE) Inspections 
As part of the City's participation in the NFIP, it must designate a Floodplain Administrator; which per 
the Ordinance is the Director of Public Works.   
 
Following a disaster, the administrator is required to conduct Substantial Damage Estimate (SDE) 
Inspections of structures located within the Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA); i.e., 100-year 
floodplain, as determined by FEMA’s Flood Insurance Map (FIRM), which can be somewhat confusing 
for owners.  For example, if the FIRM indicates that your level is 520 and your home is actually at 518 
that means the structure is 2 feet below the base flood elevation.  However, the City's Ordinance says 
that a structure has to be a foot above the flood elevation, and that means that the structure is 3 feet 
out of compliance.  The objective of these SDE(s) is to accurately collect the data required for 
substantial damage determinations through rapid visual inspections and report those findings to FEMA.  
This requirement only pertains to structures located within SFHA(s), which means that not all structures 
affected by a flood will be inspected. 
 
After an SDE inspection has been conducted, the administrator sends a letter to the owner of the 
structure informing them of the status of their inspection.  If it was determined that there was substantial 
damage; (damages/improvements that exceed fifty (50) percent of the current market value of the 
structure), the owner is then required to apply for and receive an approved Floodplain Development 
Permit to bring the building/structure into compliance with the City’s Flood Ordinance.  In some cases, 
that may require repairs that include elevating or flood-proofing the structure to reduce the potential for 
future damage.  Construction activities that are undertaken without a proper Floodplain Development 
Permit are violations and may result in citations, fines, and the property owner’s ability to gain eligibility 
for FEMA assistance.   
 
Mr. Dunkle stated these are some of the things his staff is working on today.  But because of the 
magnitude of this flood, they have had to ask the Code Enforcement team to assist them in making 
these inspections.  
 
 
 
 

E - 1 - 2



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

Substantial Improvement 
Substantial Improvements are defined as any combination of reconstruction, alteration, or 
improvements to a structure, taking place for a 10-year period, in which the cumulative percentage 
equals or exceeds fifty (50) percent of the current market value of that structure.  This includes the 
alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural parts of the structure commences, whether or not 
that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.  It also includes structures that have 
incurred repetitive loss or substantial damages regardless of the actual repair work being done. 
 
Permitting 
Any development; (any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, not limited to 
buildings or other structures, levees, levee systems, mining, dredging, grading, paving, excavation or 
drilling operations, or storage or material) within the SFHA requires a Floodplain development permit 
because it can alter the property. 
 
Any permit that is for new development or has been deemed a substantial improvement is required to 
comply with the City’s Floodplain Management Regulations.  Floodplain Development Permits must be 
constantly recorded, inspected, and reviewed by the designated Floodplain Administrator and/or 
designee to ensure that applicants meet the requirements contained in the City's Ordinance and the 
NFIP's regulations before their permit can be approved.   
 
Mr. Dunkle stated staff is required to maintain these records for ten years to ensure that the repairs to a 
structure do not exceed fifty (50) percent of the structure's value.  Therefore, residents and businesses 
located within the SFHA must apply for a permit even to install something as simple as a water heater.  
 
Violations 
If the City is found to be in violation or has deficiencies in the administration of its enforcement of the 
NFIP floodplain management regulations it can be placed on probation and a surcharge of up to twenty 
(20) percent could be added to the premiums for each NFIP policy sold or renewed in the City.  If the 
City fails to alleviate these violations or deficiencies it may be suspended from the program; in which 
case no NFIP policies can be written or renewed.  However, policies in force at the time of suspension 
will remain in force for the term of the policy. 
 
Mr. Dunkle stated these are time-consuming yet critical procedures that could be costly for some 
residents depending on the level of improvements needed.  Residents who live in the eighty (80) 
percent flood zone are not allowed to have a livable basement, which means that some finished 
basements will have to be eliminated.  
 
Councilmember Hales asked Mr. Dunkle what would physically happen to a resident's basement that 
was deemed unlivable?  Mr. Dunkle stated staff is currently trying to gather more information on all the 
different methods that can be used to flood-proof a basement, but one of them would be to install self-
releasing windows. 
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions to Mr. Dunkle: 
Q.  How do the NFIP insurance rates compare to those in the private market? 
A.  The NFIP utilizes and supports private insurance companies and does not offer a special rate for its 
participants.  
Q.  Is it correct, that you do not have to be in a Special Flood Hazard Area to participate in this 
program? 
A.  That is correct, everyone is eligible. 
Q.  If the City was not a participant in this program could residents get flood insurance on their 
own in the private market? 
A.  I'm not sure whether they could or not, but the only way they can participate in the NFIP is if the City 
is a member.   

 
 

E - 1 - 3



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

Councilmember Cusick posed the following questions to Mr. Dunkle: 
Q.  What is the valuation of a property based on? 
A.  The St. Louis County's Tax Assessor's assessment. 
Q.  Is the valuation based only on the structure? 
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Is the City's $500,000 policy for multiple or individual structures? 
A.  The $500,000 limit is per policy.  So, there could be multiple buildings in one policy or an individual 
building in a separate policy.   
Q.  Do you have an idea of how many of the 259 policies are for U City structures? 
A.  I think there are approximately six City structures, and the rest are either residential or commercial. 
Q.  Do you have a more recent timeframe for when the 1,140 claims were filed?  
A.  I do not because all of these statistics were provided by FEMA.   
Q.  Is the City going to require homes not included in the buyout that sustained damage over 
and above fifty (50) percent of its current market value to be elevated? 
A.  While each home will have to be reviewed on an individual basis, our most recent estimates indicate 
that there are roughly six properties that will fall within this category.  As a result, staff has reached out 
to FEMA/SEMA to gain a better understanding of whether there are any flood-proofing alternatives 
available that would be more feasible than elevation.  
Q.  Several years ago, the City looked at elevating several houses located in the floodplain area 
and was told that they could be elevated enough.  So, what would happen today if some of our 
homeowners find themselves in this same situation?   
A.  These are the kinds of questions that staff is waiting on FEMA to provide them with the answers to. 
Q.  Do you know what the annual cost of insurance would be under this program, for a home 
valued at $150,000?  
A.  No sir, I am not familiar with their rates.  
Q.  Under this program will FEMA mandate that a resident make the necessary repairs to their 
home even if they don't have the financial means to do so?  
A.  Under this agreement, the City has a requirement to enforce FEMA's regulations, so based on my 
understanding, if a resident fails to make those necessary repairs, the City would be a violation of that 
agreement. 
 
Councilmember Cusick stated he believes this is another issue that should be considered in staff's 
discussions with FEMA/SEMA.  And he would respectfully request that Council be provided with any 
new information obtained through these discussions.   
 
Mr. Rose stated staff certainly appreciates the economic situation that many of the City's residents are 
in, and their only intent is to ensure that the City remains in compliance with these regulations so that 
everyone has an opportunity to participate in this program.  That said, he cannot imagine a situation 
where FEMA/SEMA would not be sensitive to a homeowner's financial situation and be willing to work 
with both the City and the resident on ways to achieve compliance.  
 
Councilmember Cusick asked Mr. Rose if there was something other than the recent floods that 
prompted staff to provide Council with this information tonight?  Mr. Rose stated the magnitude of the 
losses experienced during the recent floods generated more attention on the issue of making sure that 
the City did not take any actions that would jeopardize its ability to remain in compliance with the 
program's regulations. 
 
Mayor Crow thanked Mr. Dunkle for his presentation. 
 

4. HEMAN PARK BASKETBALL COURTS PROPOSAL 
Mr. Rose stated this proposal for refurbishing the Heman Park Basketball Courts was submitted to the 
Parks Commission who unanimously recommended that it be presented to Council. 

 
Mr. Dunkle stated that Asia Garrison of the Big Guards Give Foundation would be making this 
presentation. 

E - 1 - 4



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

 
Ms. Garrison stated although the PowerPoint lists Majuan Bates as the presenter, he is on a basketball 
tour and was unable to attend tonight's meeting.  So, while she is a little nervous about making this 
presentation, being in U City feels natural, since she graduated from U City High in 2013, and worked 
at Centennial Commons throughout her undergrad and graduate degrees before migrating to 
Washington, D.C. 
 
The Big Guards Give Foundation; which will be the overseer of this project, focuses on bridging 
athletes, citizens, and community leaders together by providing resources, enrichment programs, 
scholarships, and hope.  And several months ago, Mr. Bates; currently a resident of U City came up 
with an idea to refurbish the Heman Park basketball courts and highlight three individuals from U City.   

 
Consultants 
Hoop For All Foundation 

• A nonprofit organization that increases community access to health education and resources 
through sports and entertainment. 

• Located in Washington, DC 
• 20 + Events 
• 400 + Volunteers 
• 5,000 + Served 
• $25,000 + Donated 
• $125,000 + Raised 

 
Recently this organization partnered with Bradley Beal to refurbish the Benjamin Banneker Courts 
across from Howard University.  And one of the stipulations that came out of that partnership was 
Bradley's desire to refurbish basketball courts in St. Louis; more specifically, U City, which happens to 
be his hometown.   
 
Why University City? 

• Diversity, culture, and community involvement 
• Most unique individuals in the Metropolitan area 
• Lion pride spreads throughout the entire County and City 
• St. Louis athletes are connected to Heman Park 
• A safe and inclusive environment 

 
The Mission 

• To provide a safe environment for youth and community members 
• Host basketball camps and community events 
• Give college scholarships to community members 

 
Timeline 

• City Approval = FUNDING 
• The hiring of Sports Contractors 
• The hiring of Artists; (already onboard) 
• Addition of infrastructure 
• Reopening Event; (proposed for June) 

 
Benefits 

• Community Relations 
• Youth Empowerment 
  COCA scholarship for U City students 
  Women mentorship programs 

• Public Relations and Branding 
 

E - 1 - 5



 

Page 6 of 6 
 

 
Dedicated Courts 
• Jayson Tatum 
• Brandy Cole; Jason's mother 
• Duece Court; Jason's son 
• U City & Nellie; Nellyville 
• Brad Beale & his mother 

 
Estimated Budget 
Total:     $207 to $250,000 
Construction:    $60,000 
Artist/Equipment:    $15 to $20,000 
Backboard/Rims:   $15,000 
Opening Day Event:   $10,000 
Contingency Fee for Donors:  $10,000 
Steel Shelter Over Courts:  $75,000 
Equipment:    $7,500 
Basketball Hoops:   $15,000 
 
Ms. Garrison stated this project will be %100 privately funded through Big Guards, therefore, U City's 
only involvement would be to assist with advertising materials, use of its website, and the opening day 
ceremonies. 
 
Councilmembers Clay and Smotherson thanked Ms. Garrison for the presentation and the opportunity 
to participate in this program. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson posed the following questions to Ms. Garrison: 
Q.  Can you define the difference between the backboard rims and basketball hoops?   
A.  They are actually the same thing, so one of those estimates can be eliminated. 
Q.  Do you have a picture of what the backboards and rims will look like? 
A.  No decisions have been made about the final design, but once it is, I will be happy to provide that 
information to Mr. Rose. 
Q.  Will these be breakaway rims? 
A.  They will not be, but BG is always open to suggestions. 
Q.  There is a bike and walking trail on the east side of the main courts, so can you provide the 
exact location where you would like to construct the Duece Court?  
A.  What we were looking at appears to be a graveled area. 
Q.  The parking area? 
A.  Yes. 
 
Mr. Rose stated if it is agreeable to Council, the next step would be to have Mr. Dunkle work with Mr. 
Mulligan to craft a basic agreement outlining the City's expectations, which will then be brought before 
Council for consideration. 
 
Councilmember McMahon asked Mr. Rose if he could check on the status of MSD's plan to install their 
tanks in the park because he would hate to miss out on this opportunity while waiting for them.  Mr. 
Rose stated MSD's initial proposal states that they will replace anything that is destroyed.  So, staff will 
obtain an update and make sure that the agreement is airtight prior to them moving forward with the 
tanks.  
 
5. ADJOURNMENT   

Mayor Crow thanked Ms. Garrison for her presentation and adjourned the meeting at 6:17 p.m. 
 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 

E - 1 - 6



 
 
 
 
  

AGENDA 
 

A.  MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held on Monday, October 24, 2022, 
Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 

B. ROLL CALL 
In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:  
   Councilmember Stacy Clay 
   Councilmember Aleta Klein; (excused) 
   Councilmember Steven McMahon 
   Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
   Councilmember Tim Cusick 
   Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 
 
Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr.; Larry 
Chapman of Seneca; Battalion Chief Bill Hinson; Jason Nettles of Central County Dispatch, and 
Director of Planning & Zoning, Dr. John Wagner. 
 

Mayor Crow stated the community is saddened by what occurred at Central Visual and Performing 
Arts High School today.  And despite the great job that first responders and staff did to save many 
lives, everyone who was directly impacted will not be forced to live with the trauma of this event for 
many years to come.  This is the 36th school shooting in 2022 that has resulted in injury or death, 
and as a result, children and their parents all live in fear of what will happen next.  So, as I ask for a 
moment of silence for the individuals who lost their lives because of this act of violence, let us focus 
on what we, as a community can, and must do better to restore our schools to the safe havens they 
were intended to be. 
 
Councilmember Clay stated he spent the better part of sixteen years working with St. Louis Public 
Schools as a teacher, Program Director, and Deputy Superintendent, where he frequented this 
school on numerous occasions.  So, he would like to thank the Mayor for acknowledging this tragic 
event because it hits home on a very personal level. 

 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mr. Rose requested that Item J (2); Central County Dispatch Contract, be removed from the 
Consent Agenda and added to the City Manager's Report as K (6).   
 
Mr. Mulligan stated he would like to recommend that the following changes be made to Bill 
Number 9489 and that they be included in tonight's introduction of this Bill: 
 

1.  That the intersection of "Melrose and Mt. Vernon" with a blank under "stop", be amended 
to read, "Melrose and Mt. Vernon all way".   

2.  That "Stop Street" be amended to read, "Wellington and Mt. Vernon all way".   
3.  That the second line in Section 2 which states "to add the following line item," be 

amended to read, "to add the following line items".    
 
Councilmember Hales moved to approve the amendments, it was seconded by Councilmember 
Clay, and the motion was carried unanimously. 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 
6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, Missouri 63130 

Monday, October 24, 2022 
6:30 p.m. 

E - 2 - 1



 
Councilmember Cusick moved to approve the Agenda as amended, it was seconded by 
Councilmember McMahon, and the motion was carried unanimously. 
 

D. PROCLAMATIONS 
1. A Proclamation honoring Qui Xiaolong as the recipient of the Arts and Letters Commission's 

Literary Excellence Award. 
2. A Proclamation recognizing Scott Black for his many professional accomplishments, and a 

guest appearance at the Arts and Letters Commission's Returning Artists Series. 
 

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
1. October 10, 2022, Study Session; (Housing and Third Ward Revitalization RFP), was moved 

by Councilmember Smotherson, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick, and the motion 
was carried unanimously; with the exception of Councilmember Hales. 

2. October 10, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes were moved by Councilmember Smotherson, it 
was seconded by Councilmember McMahon, and the motion was carried unanimously. 

 
F. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

1. Suzanne Greenwald is nominated to the Commission on Senior Issues as a fill-in (2B vacant 
seat) by Councilmember Tim Cusick, seconded by Councilmember Hales and the motion 
was carried unanimously. 

 
G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 None 
 

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
Request to Address the Council Forms are located on the ledge just inside the entrance.  
Please complete and place the form in the basket at the front of the room. 
 
Written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  Comments may be sent 
via email to:  councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  
Such comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the official 
record and made accessible to the public online following the meeting.  
 
Please note, when submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Please also note whether 
your comment is on an agenda or a non-agenda item.  If a name and address are not provided, the comment will not 
be recorded in the official record. 
 
Tom Sullivan, 751 Syracuse, U City, MO 
Mr. Sullivan stated he still thinks the Costco Development, which destroyed many nice 
neighborhoods and businesses, is the worst thing U City has ever done.  This was a project that 
did not have the support of residents because they were lied to and completely shut out of the 
process.  One of the biggest lies was that eminent domain would only be used for Public 
Storage, which can be verified by a May 1, 2018 article where the headline reads, "U City Will 
Not Use Eminent Domain to Make Way for New Retail Apartments".   
 And please don't forget how Mayor Crow attacked a group of clergymen trying to promote 
a Community Benefits Agreement; which seems like it might have been a good idea given that 
the City's subsidies for Costco are continually increasing.  Or how he encouraged City Hall 
groupies to turn the lectern around at a meeting and attack citizens. 
  He stated another embarrassment was when the City harassed a citizen for growing a 
garden that was not in compliance with its regulations.  What wasn't mentioned in the Elliot 
Davis "You Paid For It" segment is that this was the wife of former Councilman Stephen Kraft, 
who just happened to be a contributor to the campaign against Proposition F.    
 
So, while a big contributor of this tax is getting a multi-million-dollar subsidy from the City, 
someone contributing against Proposition F has a City inspector show up at his home.   

E - 2 - 2

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Prop F failed with 68% voting against it in spite of the City illegally spending tens of thousands 
of dollars on this campaign.  Just another example of how sleazy the U City government has 
become.   
  Mr. Sullivan said a lot of promises have also been made about improving the 3rd Ward 
with revenue from the Costco Project, but it remains to be seen if those promises will be kept. 
 
Rita Clemons, 8012 Canton Avenue, U City, MO 
Ms. Clemons stated there is a dead tree located on the easement in front of her property that 
has caused her sewer line to back up on several occasions, and most recently, on May 19, 
2022, caused damage to her car when a limb fell on top of it.  But although she has received 
several notes from the City indicating that the tree would either be pruned and/or removed, she 
was informed that there was no liability on the part of the City and her claim for damages was 
denied.  So, she is appearing before Council tonight, appealing the insurance adjuster's 
determination and asking that her claim for damages be approved. 
  Ms. Clemons stated many of the tree limbs on her block are now extending across the 
north to the south side of her street and are in immediate need of the Forestry Department's 
attention. 

 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

  None 

J. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding 
2. Central County Dispatch Contract; (moved to City Manager's Report) 
3. 2019 CDBG Contract Agreement 
4. Tree Removal Contract 
 

Councilmember Cusick moved to approve Items 1, 3, and 4 of the Consent Agenda, it was 
seconded by Councilmember McMahon, and the motion was carried unanimously. 

 
K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT (vote required) 

1. Discussion of Fox 2 News Report – Creveling Drive.  No Vote. 
Mr. Rose stated he would like to play a video of a CNN Commercial that he believes 
accurately sums up the incident that occurred on Creveling Drive; that facts matter.   He 
stated the way the Creveling case was presented in the media is rather concerning, so he 
would like to take a few minutes to put the facts on the record so that everyone understands 
the sequence of events. 
 During a routine patrol of the area on September 22, 2022, a code enforcement officer 
identified a home with violations, and a Notice informing the resident of these violations was 
sent to their home. 
 Mr. Rose stated the City sends out hundreds of notices each year and since this 
process is solely intended to achieve compliance, most residents simply would not deem 
them to be newsworthy.  But on this rare occasion, Fox News reported that the officer had 
issued a citation for this resident's garden; and that was an incorrect statement.  The Notice 
of Violation was the only document sent to the resident and it was for weeds and grass. 
 On September 27, 2022, the resident called to have the area re-inspected.  The 
inspection occurred that same day wherein the officer confirmed that the weeds and grass 
had been abated.  However, an incident occurred while the officer was still on the premises, 
which resulted in the officer contacting his supervisor for assistance.  When the supervisor 
arrived he identified several tree branches that were in violation and a second Notice of 
Violation was sent to the resident on September 28th. 
 In a letter dated October 4, 2022, the resident requested to have the branches re-
inspected and authorization to conduct that inspection was issued today.   
  
 

E - 2 - 3



 Mr. Rose stated how something so simple; two Notices for violations related to grass, 
weeds, and tree limbs mushroomed into the City issuing a citation for a resident's garden 
happened, he has no idea.  But he did believe it was important to put these facts on the 
record because, in the end, that's what really matters.   

 
Councilmember McMahon posed the following questions to Mr. Rose: 
Q.  Are there photographs of these violations? 
A.  Yes.  They demonstrate what the inspector saw and why they believed a notice was 
appropriate.   (Photographs of the yard were provided for Council's review) 
 
Q.  Is it correct that the resident was never ticketed or asked to appear in Court? 
A.  That is correct, no tickets or citations were ever issued. 
 
Q.  Were any native plantings involved in this incident? 
A.  No native plantings were involved.  In fact, staff has worked with U City in Bloom to better 
understand and recognize this species of plants, and as a result, has made some adjustments to its 
enforcement procedures to no longer issue notices on native plantings. 
 
Q.  Were any of the photographs provided to Council depicted in the Fox 2 report? 
A.  No.  The only photographs depicted were those taken after the issue had been abated.  And I 
would also like to note that the reporter was made aware that no citation had been issued and that 
the notices only pertained to weeds, grass, and the branches on a tree.  So, he was aware of the 
facts and chose not to disclose them. 
  
Councilmember McMahon stated he appreciated this update because now that the City has an 
active patrol more than likely residents will start to receive notices, and hopefully, this will help to 
educate them about the process.  However, he believes Council would be willing to have a 
discussion should there ever be a concern that the City's Code is too stringent with its process for 
citing excessive weeds and grass. 
 
Mr. Rose stated homeowners are also provided with an option to appeal a notice to the director of 
that department, the City Manager, Council, and the Court, so there are checks and balances 
within the process to ensure consistency and make sure that officers do not become overzealous. 
 
Councilmember Hales stated on October 21st he pulled a public report from the City's website that 
provides a 30-day overview of the notices and letters issued by enforcement officers, and this is 
what he learned: 

• The report consisted of 18 pages that identified over 300 properties; 
• Fifteen of those notices were sent to residents living in the neighborhood of Creveling Drive; 
• The vast majority of those violations were rectified; which includes the ones discussed 

tonight on Creveling Drive, and  
• That there were 30 vehicle-related violations and 28 of those violations occurred in the 3rd 

Ward  
 
Councilmember Hales stated there were also comments questioning why officers seemed to be 
focusing on a specific area, but according to this report, it's easy to see that their focus was on 
every ward.  So, the notion that the Creveling Drive property was cited when there are so many 
other problems that exist is an unfair accusation because this report clearly indicates that officers 
are performing their job. So, he would just say thank you very much to everyone who received a 
notice and quickly abated the issue. 
 

2. Market at Olive Update - (revised 10/24/22).  No Vote. 
Mr. Rose introduced Larry Chapman, the President of Seneca, to provide Council with an 
update on the Market at Olive. 
 

E - 2 - 4



Mr. Chapman stated he is also the Manager of U City, LLC, the developer of the Market at Olive 
Project.  He then displayed an RS rendering depicting the site plan to assist in his explanation of 
this portion of his update. 

• The last resident on the north side of Olive will be moving this week 
• Site work on the north side of Olive will begin this year 
• Site work on the south side of Olive will be completed within the next three to four months 
• On the south side, Costco is Anchor A, Dierbergs is being proposed to be Anchor J, and 

Anchor B will be discussed in the not-so-distant future  
• Several retail buildings, i.e., fast food and multi-tenant retail will align the front 
• With a little bit of luck, Seneca will be able to talk about every building in the center and by 

the end of the year turn its attention to Mayflower Court to start advancing that part of the 
project. 

 
Mr. Chapman stated as a public/private partnership everything is about competing for deals.  And 
while they have been fortunate to have a lot of smaller restaurant users chasing after the traffic that 
Costco will bring, the big anchor stores are rather challenging to secure.  He stated they have been 
talking to two anchors since December 2021.  However, in the process of negotiations, there are 
always going to be some trade-offs which mean there is a need to establish priorities in order to 
come to a balanced conclusion.  And in his opinion, the number one priority for both the City and 
the developer is paying the TIF off early.   
 
Why Dierbergs? 
Mr. Chapman stated that Dierbergs is a family-owned local business that has been hugely 
significant in the community.  Second, only to Costco, they can generate the volume of sales and 
sales taxes that can pay off the TIF in a really meaningful way.  They will help attract other high-
end users and businesses for the rest of the community; they will be occupying two times the 
personal property of any other retailer; they have agreed to maintain two retail users on its front 
facade, and they are going to buy and own this store, which equates to a long-term commitment.  
So, in his opinion, Dierbergs represents the highest and best use for this location. 
 
The Chapter 100 Tax Abatement 
A grocery store of this caliber has super high sales volumes and super low margins, which means 
that they have to generate a lot of sales to cover those margins and overhead.  Mr. Chapman 
stated in his experience, they are hyper-focused on their bottom line, and even though the sales 
taxes charged to their customers help the City, it has no impact on them.  What does affect their 
bottom line are things like real estate taxes, personal property taxes, or the taxes they pay on 
construction materials.  Chapter 100 helps to alleviate this gap and is what has allowed both parties 
to move forward.  So, from an economic standpoint, it is the right thing to do.   
 
Why Should the City Agree to a Chapter 100? 
All of the future real estate taxes have been gobbled up by the TIF.  And while the 2019 
Redevelopment Plan contemplated a Chapter 353 which would have eliminated the commercial 
surcharge, it did not go forward even though it was approved in the original Ordinance.   
 Dierbergs is asking for a 50% discount on their property taxes, and Mr. Chapman stated his 
argument is that they are going to buy twice as much property and if the City gives them this 
discount the remaining 50% will be the same amount it would get from an alternative user.  So, if 
you pretend that the original TIF and Redevelopment Plan did not exist, the commercial surcharge 
is about $33,000 a year or a total of $530,000, and the personal property tax savings Dierbergs 
would receive totals about $370,000 or $23,000 a year.  However, the City will receive $370,000 
more than it is getting now.  He stated the worst-case scenario is that the total cost of Chapter 100 
would cost the City $72,000, schools $520,000, and all other taxing districts about $900,000.   
 But here's the flip side of that coin; Dierbergs is going to generate so much in sales that its 
annual revenue going to pay off the TIF will increase by $1,364,000 a year compared to the second 
alternative, which would increase revenue by a little under a million, and the third alternative by 
$725,000.  So, they are going to be better than either one of those alternatives by $500,000 a year.  

E - 2 - 5



That's 8 million dollars over the sixteen years remaining in the TIF.  And that should bring the 
average age of the TIF down by 1.7 years.   
  
 Mr. Chapman stated the one-year impact to all taxing jurisdictions would be $1,441,000, 
compared to that $7 or $800,000 they would have in terms of cost.   
Therefore, the total overall cost benefit to U City ends up to the good, even after taking the full cost 
of Chapter 100; $131,000 to the City; $954,000 to schools, and $1,645,000 for all other taxing 
jurisdictions.  He stated that's how much better off these taxing jurisdictions will be with a Dierbergs 
and a Chapter 100 than they would be if there were no Dierbergs and the TIF did not exist. 
 Mr. Chapman stated there are also some other implications; tons of intangible benefits to the 
City and community; tons of intangible benefits to the development, and a similar impact as 
previously contemplated in the Chapter 353, which was a part of the original plan.  Because even 
at a 50% personal property tax savings, or if the property tax and surcharge is a cost, they are 
outweighed by this new revenue.  Dierbergs will still generate more than any alternative currently 
on their plate.  So, all things considered, a Chapter 100 for Dierbergs is a huge net benefit to 
everyone.   
 He stated Seneca's goal is to secure large revenue-generating anchors and this type of 
incentive helps them reach that goal.  He stated the City's focus should be on garnering the best in 
class, most impactful retailers, and any trade-offs should be about the net benefit.  Dierbergs 
provides the greatest chance to pay the TIF off early.  And an early payoff is a win for the City, 
schools, and the developer.  Mr. Chapman advised Council of the need to find a way to go full 
speed ahead on this proposal because if they do, U City will have a Dierbergs opening in less than 
two years and get them into the TIF bond refinancing; which is a critical component, by next spring. 
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions to Mr. Chapman: 
Q.  What is a Chapter 100? 
A.  It is a tax avoidance plan where the City leases a property back to the owner; Dierbergs, until 
the Chapter 100 goes away.  So, it's kind of like tax abatement, but since the taxes have already 
been abated by the TIF, Chapter 100 keeps the baseline taxes from going any higher than they 
already are. 
Q.  Does it provide a benefit of not having sales taxes associated with the leasee's 
purchases?   
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Even if the things they need to buy for this project are not purchased in U City? 
A.  Correct.  The only thing they would save any sales tax on is construction materials and if they 
are not located in U City they won't be taxed here.  However, since U City is a pool city the taxes 
would go to the County.  So, when it comes to any sales tax on construction materials the impact 
locally would be zero. 
 
Q.  Can you talk about the process being followed as it relates to minority participation? 
A.  We inherited this project from NOVUS, so the Phase I reports submitted to the City indicates 
that the participation was about 12 or 13%.  However, now that they are in Phase II the workforce 
aspect of the project is being closely monitored and these reports should indicate that they are 
much closer to the 25% goal that was set. 
 
Q.  It seems like the folks in Mayflower Court have been in limbo for almost seven years.  
So, would moving this project along provide any benefit to their situation?  
A.  We took over this project in November of 2021 and met with as many people as possible to 
advise them that it would be a while before we could start on their phase of the project.  We are 
there now and have sent them two letters within the last 30 days advising them of the status and 
including an offer for their property.  We have started to meet with these owners and if they are all 
willing to sell, hope to have this portion of the project wrapped up by the end of the year. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he would like to commend Seneca on the quality of retailers 
they are attempting to secure for this location.  He then asked Mr. Chapman whether the 
construction of the remaining buildings would be dependent on the completion of Dierbergs?   

E - 2 - 6



Mr. Chapman stated it would not be.  In fact, all of the retailers in Buildings G, I, N, and O, 
anticipate being open before Dierbergs is completed.  Raising Cane has committed to Building G, 
and the other buildings should be under construction and open by next summer.  Buildings E and 
F, located directly across the street, are currently under construction and should be open in the fall.  
 
Mayor Crow thanked Mr. Chapman for his presentation. 
 
Citizen's Comments 
Patrick Fox, 1309 Purdue, U City, MO 
Mr. Fox stated although he is very pleased that the community is experiencing this new 
development he is a little concerned about the generous considerations being contemplated for 
some retailers interested in being a part of the Market at Olive.  
 Costco is anticipating that 10,000 people will visit their store when it opens tomorrow, so there 
is going to be an enormous amount of traffic.  He stated he sees the potential and believes that 
even though Dierbergs might be the top contender today, the buzz for this location will start to build 
and garner the interest of other significant retailers.  And as a U City taxpayer who pays his fair 
share, the idea of floating property taxes for a wealthy company like Dierbergs, who owns a bank 
and has the means to finance this construction, seems extremely generous.  Mr. Fox stated he was 
not saying that they should not be afforded any considerations, just that they should pay their fair 
share.  And unless he is mistaken, the purchase of construction materials made by Dierbergs under 
this agreement means that a pool city would be forgoing its proportional share of the taxes that 
would have been charged.  He stated these are some of his concerns about the underlying 
assumption with this proposition and therefore, would urge Council to proceed cautiously. 
  

3. Conditional Use Permit (CUP 22-09) Market at Olive – Phase II, Lot 9 
Mr. Rose informed Council that Dr. Wagner would be presenting the information on Items 3 
and 4. 
 

Dr. Wagner stated this CUP is for the south side of the Phase II development located near the 
intersection of McKnight and Olive.  Lot 9 is a four-store building and this CUP seeks to decrease 
the parking from 93 to 83 spaces. 
 
Mayor Crow asked if this CUP had been reviewed by the Planning Commission?  Dr. Wagner 
stated that it had. 
 
Councilmember Clay moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Smotherson, and the 
motion was carried unanimously. 
    

4. Conditional Use Permit (CUP 22-10) Market at Olive – Phase II, Lot 10 
 

Dr. Wagner stated this CUP is for the same location on the south side of Phase II and it seeks to 
decrease the number of parking from 47 to 41 spaces to accommodate the restaurant's drive-
through service. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he does not recall seeing two drive-through lanes at any of 
Raising Cane's other locations.  So, are they anticipating that more customers will frequent this 
location?    Dr. Wagner indicated that the representative for Raising Cane was nodding his head 
yes.  He stated these days Cane's has largely become a drive-through-oriented business and this 
is the site plan they came up with.  Councilmember Smotherson questioned whether there would 
be a cashier standing outside of the second drive-through to take orders?  Dr. Wagner stated while 
he anticipates that they will, that issue will be addressed when they come in to present their site 
plan.    
 
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Clay, and the 
motion was carried unanimously. 

E - 2 - 7



5. OMCI Program – Participation for 2023 (River Des Peres and Deer Creek) 
Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider approving the participation and 
reimbursement for project funding through the Operations, Maintenance, and Construction 
Improvement Program (OMCI) administered by MSD to leverage funds from their taxing 
sub-districts for the U City branch of River Des Peres and Deer Creek. 
 

Dr. Wagner stated the numbers are identical to last year's, so in anticipation of Council's approval, 
he asked Mr. Rose to sign this document so that it could be emailed back to MSD tomorrow.   
 
Councilmember McMahon moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick. 
 
Councilmember Cusick posed the following questions to Mr. Rose: 
Q.  Have these funds already been allocated, and if so, what are they being used for?   
A.  The intent is to use as much of these funds as possible for the Home Buyout Program that has 
been submitted to the State Emergency Management Agency (SEMA) and requires a 25% match.   
Q.  How much of the OMCI funds can be used towards the buyouts?   
A.  At this point, staff is unaware of whether there are any limitations on the funds for Deer Creek, 
but the intent is to recommend that as much of these funds as possible be used.  Staff will be 
working with MSD to gain the answers to these questions before bringing this item back to Council.   
 
Voice vote on Councilmember McMahon's motion carried unanimously. 

  
6. Central County Dispatch Contract 

Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider a five-year contract with 
Central County Dispatch for Fire/EMS dispatching services.  Mr. Rose asked Chief Hinson if 
he would provide an overview of the agreement being proposed. 

 
Chief Hinson introduced Jason Nettles, Executive Director of Central County, who is in attendance 
to assist him with answering any questions the Council might have. 
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions: 
Q.  Is my understanding correct, that there are two elements to this contract; enhanced 
staffing and access to technology that is currently not available within U City? 
A. (Chief Hinson):  That is correct. 
Q.  Does U City have the capacity to upgrade its current technology to match what is being 
offered by Central County? 
A. (Chief Hinson):  The City's current dispatching equipment is twenty years old; operated by the 
Police Department and requires a lot of manpower to generate a dispatch.  Everything in this 
enhanced system is computerized with the ability to provide pertinent information to the dispatcher 
in a matter of minutes.  It also has a GO System that can dispatch the closest truck to a scene. 
Q.  Will the Police Department maintain this current system if the contract is executed? 
A. (Chief Hinson):  The system currently being operated is strictly for fire and EMS.  There are 
systems available that would match the technology being provided by Central County, but it is more 
expensive than this option.  He stated the goal is to increase response times, and the viability of life 
and property. 
Q.  Is this contract renewable on an annual basis? 
A. (Mr. Nettles):  The initial contract is for five years, but that can be renewed at the same rate at 
the end of those five years. 
 
Councilmember Hales posed the following questions to Mr. Nettles: 
Q.  Council received a video today that walked you through the process of a fire emergency.  
For the benefit of those in attendance today, could you walk them through that process? 
 
 
 

E - 2 - 8



A.  Currently if you are within the boundaries of U City, a 911 call goes through to the Police 
Department which processes that call.  And even though U City will still be the primary dispatch 
center receiving the initial call, under this contract, as soon as that caller says they need an 
ambulance or a Fire Department, the U City dispatcher will transfer it to Central's dispatch for 
immediate processing, utilizing standards established by the Emergency Medical Dispatch 
Program.  That means that the basic information needed to get a CAD call entered and a unit 
dispatched should fall within a window of 15 to 20 seconds.  The utilization of NFPA standards for 
call processing and unit dispatch times is a significant performance indicator that Central can help 
every similarly situated police department improve on. 
 
Q.  Is it correct, that many of U City's immediate neighbors have contracted with East 
Central, who has essentially done the same thing with separating police and fire? 
A.  Central County provides service for about 80% of the departments in St. Louis County, all the 
way to the Jefferson County line, and the Meramec Ambulance District in Franklin County.  The 
only other two that provide any type of fire service are Kirkwood, which provides service for three 
departments, and East Central Dispatch, which provides service for seven departments. 
 Central's contract also provides location-based dispatch and some of the capital infrastructure 
for each primary apparatus, like a mobile CAD Unit valued at $2,500, mounting equipment, a 
mobile router with automatic vehicle location technology, and a first net air card.  That's how 
Central can literally see where all of its live apparatuses are located so that dispatchers can reroute 
units and make sure that the closest unit gets dispatched to the call.  The contract also provides 
upgrades on a daily basis.  So, if a higher acuity or life-threatening call comes in our dispatchers 
have the ability to divert units based on the urgency of that call.   
Q.  How many of our immediate neighbors are still operating without emergency medical 
dispatch for fire and EMS?   
A.  While there are none within St. Louis County, you can find a few in western and northern rural 
areas that do not use EMD.  
 
Chief  Hinson stated the ability to have an EMD dispatcher on the line in 30 seconds increases an 
individual's chance for survival and removes the issue of non-viability because a rapid response 
saves lives. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Hales, and 
the motion was carried unanimously. 
 
Mr. Rose stated he would like to recognize Mike Carlin, the City's Manager of Information 
Technology because this will be his last meeting.  And for that reason, he would like to take this 
time to publically let him know how much the City has appreciated all of the work he has performed 
and is wishing him well in his next chapter.   
 
Mayor Crow offered his congratulations and acknowledged that Mike would be dearly missed. 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1.  Bill 9487– AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING A PUBLIC WALKWAY 
BETWEEN 511 and 519 WESTVIEW DRIVE.  Bill Number 9487 was read for the second and 
third time. 

 
Councilmember McMahon moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Hales. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember 
Clay, Councilmember Smotherson, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 
 

E - 2 - 9



2. Bill 9488 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR PHASE II OF 
THE PROPOSED MARKET AT THE OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, LOCATED AT 8630 OLIVE 
BOULEVARD.  Bill Number 9488 was read for the second and third time. 

 
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Clay. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated residents on Woodson are concerned about the traffic that is 
going to be generated.  So, he would like to know if there are any plans to improve the east side of 
this development near McKnight or Woodson?  Mr. Chapman stated there will be some widening 
and lane straightening on both Woodson and McKnight and when it's finished, there will be three 
lanes going south consisting of a left, a through, and a right-hand turn lane on Woodson, as well as 
a right turn only lane coming out of the development onto Woodson.  He stated MoDOT has asked 
for some improvements from the west on Olive to 1-70, which should also help mitigate some of the 
traffic.  But according to every traffic study that's been conducted all of the traffic will be going to 
and from the interstate, so traffic should pretty much be contained in that area. 
 Councilmember Smotherson questioned whether there was a way to stop Fed Ex from using 
Olive as one of its routes, or solicit their help in maintaining Woodson?  Mr. Chapman stated he 
had no idea what could be done about Fed Ex other than discussing these concerns with Overland 
or enacting a heavy police presence to make sure their trucks are not committing any traffic 
violations.  
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember Clay, Councilmember 
Smotherson, Councilmember McMahon, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

M. NEW BUSINESS 
Resolutions (vote required) - none 
Bills   (Introduction and 1st reading - no vote required) 
 
Introduced by Councilmember Cusick 

1. Bill 9489 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE VII OF THE TRAFFIC CODE, TO 
REVISE TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN.  Bill Number 9489 was read for the 
first time. 

 
  Introduced by Councilmember Smotherson   
2. Bill 9490–AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.070 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 

THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP, 
BY AMENDING SAID MAP SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY 
KNOWN AS LOT A AND COMMON GROUND 2 OF PLAT 4 OF THE MARKET AT OLIVE 
DEVELOPMENT, FROM “PD” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, “GC” 
GENERAL COMMERCIAL AND “SR” SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “PD” 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (“PD-C”).  Bill Number 9490 was read 
for the first time. 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions, and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 

Aren Ginsberg, 430 West Point Court, U City, MO 
 

E - 2 - 10



Ms. Ginsberg stated in the past two weeks U City TNR volunteers have trapped, neutered, 
vaccinated, and returned seven cats from four municipal sites at no cost to U City taxpayers.  
Unfortunately, the use of cat food, water, and shelter, continues to spark misunderstandings 
between the volunteers and code enforcement.  Therefore, on behalf of these volunteers, she 
would respectfully request that Section 210.130 of the Municipal Code be amended to add, 
"providing food, water, and shelter" to the list of permitted acts.  Thanks for your service to our 
community. 
 
Diane Bonds, 8665 Sloan Drive, U City, MO 
Ms. Bonds stated that she is totally against the part of the Mayflower Development that will bring 
more renters into the area.  Currently, renters are residing in The District, Delcrest, and all along 
Delmar, and new rentals are popping up from 1-70 to Price Road.  She stated this development 
seems to be pushing the residents who live south of McKnight and Mayflower away, and she 
does not believe this part of the development is necessary.  
  Ms. Bonds stated she has also requested that the tree in front of her home be removed 
because dead branches are constantly falling during inclement weather.  She stated staff has 
come out and pruned the tree, but the only thing they removed was the lower branches.  And 
now she has three dents and several scratches on her car that she cannot get repaired until the 
tree is removed.  So, she is here tonight to make another request to have this tree removed.  
Thank you for your time and service to the community. 
 

P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Councilmember Cusick stated he has received numerous questions from dog owners about 
when restorations would be made to the Dog Park and would like to get an update on its status.  
Mr. Rose stated the Dog Park, as well as Centennial Commons, and the Public Works yard was 
all damaged during the flood.  And while staff has taken steps to clean up these areas, the 
restoration process will require FEMA's approval to receive federal dollars.  So, at this point, all of 
the information has been provided to FEMA and staff is waiting on their approval to move 
forward. 
 
Mayor Crow stated there will be a ribbon cutting for Costco at 7:45 a.m. tomorrow and he is 
hoping that there will be a nice crowd coming out to participate in this long-awaited celebration.  
  

Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal 
actions, causes of action, or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential 
or privileged communications between a public governmental body or its representatives or 
attorneys 

 
Councilmember McMahon moved to close the Regular Session to go into a Closed Session, it was 
seconded by Councilmember Clay. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember Smotherson, Councilmember Clay, 
Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

R. ADJOURNMENT  
Mayor Crow thanked everyone for their attendance and closed the Regular City Council meeting 
at 7:56 p.m. to go into a Closed Session on the Second floor.  The Closed Session reconvened 
in an open session at 8:38 p.m. 

 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk, MRCC 
 

E - 2 - 11



From: David Harris
To: Council Comments Shared
Subject: Agenda Items E.1 and K.2 for October 24, 2022 City Council Meeting
Date: Monday, October 24, 2022 11:21:00 AM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

I have comments about Agenda Item E.1 (Approval of Minutes for October 10, 2022, Study Session,
Housing and Third Ward Revitalization RFP).  The comments relate to the news about the proposed
sources of funds for the $10 million for Ward 3, on page E-1-1.
 
I also have comments about Agenda Item K.2, the possible Dierbergs at the Market at Olive and the
proposed Chapter 100 Program with abatement of 50% of personal property taxes, elimination of the
commercial surcharge, and a CID assessment instead of PILOTs, as discussed on pages K-2-1 to K-2-
28.
 
However, because the comments relate to the Market at Olive and Costco is opening tomorrow, and
because the agenda items still appear to be more informational than decision-making at this time, I will
make my comments at a future meeting.

David J. Harris
8039 Gannon Avenue
University City, MO 63130

 

E - 2 - 12

mailto:djharris11@sbcglobal.net
mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


From: David Harris
To: Council Comments Shared
Subject: Avenir Tax Exemptions – Responses to your reasons from September 27, 2022 meeting
Date: Monday, October 24, 2022 11:10:34 AM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

For reasons in my September 12, 2022 comments, I disagree with and I am disappointed by your
decision to provide the Avenir development a real property tax abatement of at least $2,185,659 plus a
sales tax exemption of at least $1,041,976 and a use tax exemption of $222,336 (subtotal $1,264,312),
resulting in a total tax exemption of at least $3,449,971, by approving Bills 9486 and 9485, respectively,
at the September 27, 2022 Council meeting.
 
At the September 27 meeting, four of you presented some reasons you voted to approve the real property
tax abatement, the sales tax exemption, and the use tax exemption (sometimes I refer to the three
together as “the tax exemptions” or “the exemptions”).  However, you waited until after you voted to
approve Bill 9485 and immediately before you voted to approve Bill 9486 to publicly describe those
reasons.
 
Even though it is likely too late to change your minds or to change your approval, here are my responses
to and comments about some of your reasons.
 
To Councilmember Jeffrey Hales
 
Councilmember Hales, you stated that you “could not find an instance where the process has been
remotely as transparent as this one has” and then identified 6 Planning Commission meetings, 11 City
Council meetings, and 3 Zoom meetings with residents.
 
I reviewed the available agendas, minutes, and some recordings for each of the Planning Commission
(on the City website, “Plan Commission”) and City Council meetings.  The exemptions have not been as
“transparent” as you stated.  Please correct me if I am wrong, but it appears that the following is a more
accurate timeline.
 
(1) The Chapter 353 real property tax abatement was discussed at the August 26, 2020 Planning
Commission meeting, at which the commission recommended, as you said, “a twenty-year tax
abatement; the first ten years at 100% and the last ten years at 50%.”  What you did not say was the
recommendation vote was 4-3, indicative of the substantial opposition to the abatement.
 
(2) The City Council never publicly discussed or voted on the August 26, 2020 Planning Commission tax
abatement recommendation.  On September 29, 2020, the Consent Agenda item set a public hearing
about the Chapter 353 redevelopment plan and tax abatement.  On October 12, 2020, the public hearing
was continued until October 26.  On October 26, discussion of the abatement was delayed, at your
request, until November 9.  On November 9, the Council approved a Preliminary Development Plan, but
did not discuss or approve the tax abatement.  According to the meeting minutes, “approval of a
Preliminary Development Plan is merely an authorization to proceed with the preparation of a Final
Development Plan.”
 
(3) The June 14, 2021 City Council meeting, the December 15, 2021, January 26, 2022, and February 23,
2022 Planning Commission meetings, and the March 14 (not 13), 2022 and March 28, 2022 City Council
meetings covered other aspects of Avenir, not the exemptions. 
 
(4) The March 31, 2022 Planning Commission meeting was a continuation from a March 23 meeting
agenda item with the request for five years of real property tax abatement.  The commission voted
against the abatement request by a vote of 4-1.

E - 2 - 13

mailto:djharris11@sbcglobal.net
mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


 
(5) The April 11, 2022 and April 25, 2022 City Council meetings covered other aspects of Avenir, not the
exemptions.
 
(6) At the July 25, 2022 City Council meeting, the City Manager recommended remanding to the Planning
Commission the March 31 recommendation against tax abatement and the Council agreed.
 
(7) At the July 27, 2022 Planning Commission meeting, the commission voted to recommend the
abatement by the same split vote total of 4-3 as two years earlier on the twenty-year abatement.
 
(8) On September 12, 2022, the Chapter 353 tax abatement was on the City Council agenda for a first
reading as Bill 9485.  There was no discussion.
 
(9) At the September 27, 2022 meeting, the Council approved Bill 9485, with no discussion. 
 
(10) The Chapter 100 Bond issue with the sales tax exemption and the use tax exemption was never
publicly disclosed or discussed before the first reading on September 12 as Bill 9486.
 
(11) At the September 27, 2022 meeting, the Council approved Bill 9486, with no discussion other than
the monologues referred to above.
 
(12) Much information related to the tax abatement, the sales tax exemption and the use tax exemption
was contained in a report by Jonathan Ferry that was not made public until after the September 27, 2022
meeting.
 
From the foregoing timeline, it is obvious to me there were non-public discussions about the sales tax
exemption and the use tax exemption before September 12 and possibly between September 12 and
September 27.
 
From the foregoing timeline, it is likely there were non-public discussions about the tax abatement before
September 12 and possibly between September 12 and September 27.
 
There was a time before you were on the City Council when indications of non-public discussions,
undisclosed reports, and minimal or non-existent transparency would have made you question the
integrity of a Council decision.  What happened to you?
 
Additionally, you stated, “as it relates to the public comments . . . at the end of the day, the comments in
opposition to this project were not even close to those that were in support, which totaled sixty-two.”  As
with your statement about transparency, that observation was not really accurate.  The number of
comments for the September 27 meeting were more heavily in support (although there were 48 such
comments, not 62, when you remove duplicates from the same person or from the same household) with
8 in opposition, the comments for the September 12 meeting were 18 in favor and 15
opposed.  Moreover, the comments from the public hearing two years ago were overwhelmingly in
opposition to tax abatement or expressed other concerns about the project, including a petition signed by
54 residents.
 
Does anything I am saying change your perspective about your approval of the exemptions?
 
To Councilmember Steve McMahon
 
Councilmember McMahon, to the extent that you agree with Councilmember Hales’ presentation of the
timeline and transparency, please read my comments above.
 
You then observed, “one might wonder if these residents actually believe the abatement is unnecessary
of if they’re hoping that the developer does need it, and the elimination of this abatement will stop the
entire project.”  That was an ad hominem response, meaning you are attacking the residents’ – your
constituents’ - character or motives instead of replying to the residents’ – your constituents’ - questions or

E - 2 - 14



arguments.  How do you feel when your character or your motives are questioned, instead of someone
addressing the substance of your opinion?   Although I should not need to say it, I will do so, that I believe
the abatement is unnecessary for the many reasons explained.  I do not know all the other residents who
objected to the exemptions, but I will go out on a limb and say I think most if not all of them believe the
same as me.  Moreover, by trying to distract with an ad hominem response, you never answered or
addressed why you think the exemptions are necessary.
 
To Councilmember Aletha Klein
 
Councilmember Klein, I was surprised to hear that the City and City Council don’t “yet have a policy in
place to determine what a reasonable abatement would be for this kind of development.”  That is
concerning, because the City and Council are making decisions without policy guidance.  Moreover, that
means any developer can ask for anything the developer thinks the developer can get, something that
already occurs too much, and is occurring again, for example, with the proposed Dierbergs at the Market
at Olive project, a subject for another time.
 
You stated that “Some in the community believe that this abatement gets funding from the City's budget
that could be used for other projects to help the developer offset some of his expenses. This is not the
case.  There is no fund that the City is taking from to give to the developer that could be used on
floodplain buyouts or City services.  The City is also not losing a tax revenue stream that it would
otherwise have.”  I recognize, and I assume most of the other residents objecting to the exemptions
recognize, that there are not current funds that are being given to the developer.  Additionally, your
statement does not address the concerns about the exemptions.  There is future revenue that is being
“lost” by giving it away, or giving it back, to the developer.
 
Regarding the figures you cited for tax revenue to the Library and the School District, the figures are over
a period of five years.  In other words, the Library and the School District currently receive $5,175 and
$65,273 each year from the properties.  Over the five years of the tax abatement (2025-2029), they will
receive a total of $25,784 and $326,364.
 
After the tax abatement, as you said, “the Library will get $128,677, and the School District will get 1.590
million dollars.”  However, that increased amount is over a five-year period, meaning each year, the
Library will get $25,735 and the School District will get $318,000.  Those are increases of $20,560 and
$252,727 a year from the current amount (about four times more, not “five times” more), a welcome
increase but hardly a “huge burst” or something that will result in “better services, improved schools, and
more development opportunities.”  Your statement implies that you think the increase to $128,677 and
$1,590,000 is every year.  Did I misunderstand your statement?  If not, does this clarification change your
perspective about your approval of the exemptions?
 
To Councilmember Stacy Clay
 
Councilmember Clay, I generally understand when you advise “don’t allow the perfect to be the enemy of
the good.”  However, with the exemptions, it is not a choice of perfect versus good.  It is a choice of
whether the exemptions are necessary, particularly for a luxury rental project, or whether they are
primarily a tax giveaway to increase a developer’s profit.  In other words, whether the exemptions are
good for the City and its residents, not whether they are perfect.
 
Additionally, I am struck by the irony that the Avenir developer, Charles Deutsch, contributed to the
campaign to increase the sales tax in U. City that everyone would have to pay (Proposition F in April) that
was projected to generate $575,000 per year, yet is seeking a sales tax exemption for himself of over $1
million, equivalent to about two years of the projected Proposition F revenue, and a total tax exemption of
almost $3,450,000, equivalent to six years of the projected revenue.
 
Does anything I am saying change your perspective about your approval of the exemptions?

David J. Harris
8039 Gannon Avenue

E - 2 - 15



E - 2 - 16



I - 1 - 1



COPY FOR YOUR RECORDS ONLY,
NOT AN INVOICE OR AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION 

Please Read Carefully

Missouri  Lawyers  Media  is  not  responsible  for  
errors  or  omissions  after  the  First  Run  Date.  If  
any  errors,  contact  1  (314)  421-1880.  Attorneys  
placing  legal  advertisements  are  responsible  for  
payment  of  same.

Joyce Pumm
University City, City Of
6801 Delmar Blvd 
St. Louis, MO 63130-3104

ORDER KEYWORDS:

1 of 1
Missouri Lawyers Media

Missouri Lawyers Weekly, St Louis Daily Record, St Charles Business 
Record The Countian (St Louis, Jefferson), The Daily Record and LAN

319 N Fourth Street, 5th Floor 
St. Louis,  MO 63102

1 (314) 421-1880 
www.molawyersmedia.com

Subsequent Rate:
Anchor Rate: $31.32

$0.00

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
(CASE NUMBER: REZ 22-07) 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY WILL HOLD A PUBLIC 
HEARING ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 
14, 2022, IN THE 5TH FLOOR 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF CITY 
HALL, 6801 DELMAR BOULEVARD, 
TO CONSIDER

PO #
Order #
Placement

Schedule
# of Times
Base Charge*
Addt'l Charges/Disc*
Payment Amount

TOTAL:
(Not an Invoice)

REZ 22-07
12168260

Countian St. Louis (MO)
Government

Hearings and Minutes
10/30/2022 - 10/30/2022

1 inserts
31.32

0.00
0.00

31.32

*Changes to this order may result in pricing changes. 
Order: 12168260 Proof Printed:  8:21:11AM on 10/26/2022 by Karie ClarkCustomer: 10017118/University City, City Of

I - 1 - 2



J - 1 - 1



City of University City Council Meeting
Agenda Item - Addendum (November 14, 2022)

Subject/Title:
Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding

Description Amount

2022 Chevy Silverado HD 2500 Work Truck Truck 51,824.00    
2022 Chevy Silverado HD 2500 Work Truck Truck 51,324.00    
2022 Chevy Silverado HD 2500 Work Truck Truck 51,674.00    
2.0 cubic yard Salt Spreader (Qty 2) $6,325/ea. 12,650.00    
2.0 cubic yard Salt Spreader (Qty 6) $6,325/ea. 37,950.00    
2.0 cubic yard Salt Spreader (Qty 3) $6,325/ea. 18,975.00    
Truck Side Harness Ultramount Plow (6) $4,200/ea. 25,200.00    
Truck Side Harness Ultramount Plow (2) $4,300/ea. 8,600.00       
Line-X Spray in Bedliner Textured (6) $750/ea. 4,500.00       
Line-X Spray in Bedliner Textured (2) $750/ea. 1,500.00       
G2 Series Liftgate 1300lb Tommygate (6) $4,625/ea. 27,750.00    

291,947.00  

J - 1 - 2



J - 1 - 3



J - 1 - 4



J - 1 - 5



J - 1 - 6



J - 1 - 7



J - 1 - 8



J - 1 - 9



J - 1 - 10



J - 1 - 11



J - 1 - 12



J - 1 - 13



J - 1 - 14



J - 1 - 15



J - 1 - 16



J - 2 - 1



   Invoice 

 

   
NOVAIR USA Corp. Page 1 of 1 

814 WURLITZER DRIVE Order Date 11/9/2022 
NORTH TONAWANDA NY    14120 Order ORD00018039 

Phone: 716-564-5165 or 800-414-6474 Document ID  
Fax: 716-564-5173   

 

Domestic    
Palletized    
    
Shipping: N/C shipping per Tim B.  Ann - we need to pick up their MOGS20 that   
was   
damaged by a flood this year. Picked up at our expense and brought here for   
R & D. Bill Hinson is the POC.   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   
 

    
    
    
    
Bill To: University City FD Ship To: University City FD 
 863 Westgate Avenue  863 Westgate Ave. 
 University City, MO    63130  University City, MO    63130 
 USA  USA 
    
    
    
   William Hinson, Fire Chief 
   whinson@ucitymo.org 
   (314) 570-8579  Ext. 0000 
 
 
 

Salesperson ID Customer ID Purchase Order No. Shipping Method Payment Terms Req Ship Date Master No. 
DL UNIV008 EMAIL BILL HINSON BEST WAY 50% Dep/ 50% ship 12/20/2022 18,792 

Order Avail B/O Item Number Description Unit Price Ext. Price 

1 0 1 MOGS20 MOGS 20, MOBILE OXYGEN GENERATING SYSTEM, 2 H/K CYLINDERS PER DAY, 230VAC-
60Hz-1PH $40,500.00 $40,500.00 

 
 Subtotal $40,500.00 

 Misc $0.00 
 Tax $0.00 
 Freight $0.00 
 Trade Discount $0.00 

 Total $40,500.00 
           50% Deposit Due       $20,250.00 
 

J - 2 - 2



J - 3 - 1



 

 
CONTRACT 

Canton Avenue Phase l 
STP-5402(618) 

 

THIS AGREEMENT, made as of the   day of   2022, by and between City of University City, 
 

MISSOURI (hereinafter called the CITY) and Raineri Construction, LLC, a company with offices at 
 

1300 Hampton Avenue, Suite 100, St. Louis, MO 63139 (hereinafter called the CONTRACTOR). The project shall be 

identified as Canton Avenue Phase I Road Project STP-5402(618). 

WITNESSETH 

 

The CONTRACTOR and the CITY for the consideration set forth herein agree as follows: 
 

THE CONTRACTOR AGREES to furnish all the necessary labor, materials, equipment, tools and services 
necessary to perform and complete in a workmanlike manner all work required for the construction of the 
PROJECT, in strict compliance with the Contract Documents herein mentioned, which are hereby made a 
part of the Contract.   

  
 

a. Contract Time: Work under this Agreement shall be commenced upon written Notice to Proceed, and 
shall be completed within one-hundred-twenty (150) calendar days of the authorization date in the 
Notice to Proceed.  

b. Liquidated Damages: The Contractor hereby expressly agrees to pay the City the sum of Two Hundred 
Dollars ($200.00) per day for each and every day, Sundays and legal holidays only excepted, after 
calendar days have expired during Or upon which said work or any part thereof remains incomplete and 
unfinished.    

c. Subcontractors: The Contractor agrees to bind every subcontractor by the terms of the Contract 

Documents. The Contract Documents shall. not be construed as creating any contractual relation 

between any subcontractor and the City. No sub-contractor shall further subcontract any of his work. 

 

THE CITY AGREES to pay, and the Contractor agrees to accept, in full payment for the performance 

of this Contract, the amount as stipulated in the Proposal, which is: 

 

Seven Hundred Ninety-Seven Thousand Dollars Four hundred Fifty-Five and Twenty Cents ($797,455.20) 

 

Final dollar amount will be computed from actual quantities constructed as verified by the Engineer and in 

accordance with the unit prices set out in the Proposal. 
 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: 

The Contract comprises the Contract Documents as bound herein and the Drawings. In the event that 
any provision of one Contract Document conflicts with the provision of another Contract Document, the 
provision in that Contract Document first listed below shall govern, except as otherwise specifically stated: 

 

A  Contract (This Instrument) 
B. Addenda to Contract Documents 
C. Conditions of the Contract 
D. Remaining Legal and Procedural Documents 

1. Proposal 
2. Instruction to Bidders 
3. Invitation for Bids 

E. Special Provisions 
F. Annual Wage Order 

J - 3 - 2



 

 

G. Standard Specifications 

H. Drawings/Location Maps 
I. General Provisions 
J. Bonds/Attachments 

1. Performance & Payment Bonds 

2. Bid Bond 

Canton Avenue Phase 1 
STP-5402(618) 

 

AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ENGINEER: 

 
All work shall be done under the general inspection of the Engineer. The Engineer shall decide any and 

all questions which may arise as to the quality and acceptability of materials furnished, work performed, 

rate of progress of work, interpretations of Drawings and Specifications and all questions as to the 
acceptable fulfillment of the Contract on the part of the Contractor.   

  

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS: 
  

This Agreement and all of the covenants hereof shall insure to the benefit of and be binding upon the 
Owner and Contractor respectively and his partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives. Neither 
the Owner nor the Contractor shall have the right to assign, transfer, or sublet his interests or obligation 
hereunder without consent of the other party. 

 

* In making out this form the title that is not applicable should be struck out. For example, if the Contractor 

is a corporation and this form is to be executed by its president, the words "Sole owner, a partner, secretary, 

etc." should be struck out. 

 
The Contract contains a binding arbitration provision that may be enforced by the parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement: 

 
(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 
Attest: 

 
 
 

 

Date:   
  

 

  

 

 

By:  _ 

         Contractor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
J - 3 - 3



Canton Avenue Phase 1 

STP-5402(618) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 
 

Attest: 

 

 

 

 

 
City Clerk 

 

 

Date:   

 

 

 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

 
By:  _ 

City Attorney 

Date:   

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
 

By:  _ 

City Manager 

Date:   

J - 3 - 4



J - 3 - 5



J - 3 - 6



J - 4 - 1



J - 4 - 2



J - 4 - 3



J - 4 - 4



J - 4 - 5



J - 4 - 6



J - 4 - 7



J - 4 - 8



J - 4 - 9



J - 4 - 10



J - 4 - 11



J - 4 - 12



J - 4 - 13



J - 4 - 14



J - 4 - 15



J - 4 - 16



J - 4 - 17



J - 4 - 18



J - 5 - 1



J - 5 - 2



EDRST B-1

City of University City
Economic Development Retail Sales Tax
FY22/23 Request for Funds:  Budget Cost Summary

Applicant U City In Bloom
Project Olive Boulevard Planters -  Design and care for Streetscape Planters 
Amount of Request 15,075$      
Provide a listing of each project or program proposed and the associated cost allocation.

Total Applicant's Cash Applicant's Non-Cash Project
EDRST Funds Funds Contributions Other Funds Total

I. Project or Program Direct Costs*
Plant materials 1,860$        1,860$        
Soil and amendments 1,008$        1,008$        
Labor - garden design, installation and care 11,354$      11,354$      
Volunteers - 210 hours @ $25.43 per hour 5,340$                        5,340$        
                                    Total Direct Costs 14,222$      19,562$      

II. Indirect Costs**
Operations 853$           853$           
BUDGET TOTAL - ALL ACTIVITIES 15,075$      5,340$                        20,415$      
*Examples of direct costs are project materials, salaries, fringe and benefits, supplies and equipment that are tied to a 
particular cost objective such as a project or program.  Consultation with City staff is advised to assist in defining direct costs.

**Examples of indirect costs are expenses relating to operations, such as general office and building expenses.  These costs
must represent a reasonable and proportional rate in relationship to direct costs.  Consultation with City staff is advised to
assist with defining indirect costs.

J - 5 - 3



EDRST B-1

City of University City
Economic Development Retail Sales Tax
FY22-23 Request for Funds:  Budget Cost Summary

Applicant U City In Bloom
Project Olive Boulevard - Design and Care for Gardens from Skinker to Midland
Amount of Request 16,526$      
Provide a listing of each project or program proposed and the associated cost allocation.

Total Applicant's Cash Applicant's Non-Cash Project
EDRST Funds Funds Contributions Other Funds Total

I. Project or Program Direct Costs*
Plant material 2,450$        2,450$           
Soil amendments, Irrigation repairs 750$           750$              
Garden design, mulching, plant installation, 
   weeding, deadheading and pruning 12,391$      12,391$         
Volunteers - 252 hours @ $25.43 per hour 6,408$                        6,408$           
                                      Total Direct Costs 15,591$      6,408$                        21,999$         

II. Indirect Costs**
Operations 935$           935$              
BUDGET TOTAL - ALL ACTIVITIES 16,526$      6,408$                        22,934$         
*Examples of direct costs are project materials, salaries, fringe and benefits, supplies and equipment that are tied to a 
particular cost objective such as a project or program.  Consultation with City staff is advised to assist in defining direct costs.

**Examples of indirect costs are expenses relating to operations, such as general office and building expenses.  These costs
must represent a reasonable and proportional rate in relationship to direct costs.  Consultation with City staff is advised to
assist with defining indirect costs.

J - 5 - 4



EDRST B-1

City of University City
Economic Development Retail Sales Tax
FY22-23 Request for Funds:  Budget Cost Summary

Applicant U City In Bloom
Project Olive Blvd - Care, maintenance, replacement & watering of Trees and Groundcover 
Amount Requested 9,559$        

Provide a listing of each project proposed and the associated cost allocation.  

Total Applicant's Cash Applicant's Non-Cash Project

I. Project or Program Direct Costs* EDRST Funds Funds Contributions Other Funds Total

Maintenance and watering of 50 trees/groundcovers 7,418$         7,418$       
Replace up to 10 trees 1,600$         1,600$       
Volunteers - 50 hours @ $25.43/hour $1,272 1,272$       
                                         Total Direct Costs 9,018$         

II. Indirect Costs** 10,290$     

Operations 541 541$          
BUDGET TOTAL - ALL ACTIVITIES 9,559$             $1,272 10,831$     
*Examples of direct costs are project materials, salaries, fringe and benefits, supplies and equipment that are tied to a 
particular cost objective such as a project or program.  Consultation with City staff is advised to assist in defining direct costs.

**Examples of indirect costs are expenses relating to operations, such as general office and building expenses.  These costs
must represent a reasonable and proportional rate in relationship to direct costs.  Consultation with City staff is advised to
assist with defining indirect costs.

J - 5 - 5



EDRST B-1

City of University City
Economic Development Retail Sales Tax
FY22-23 Request for Funds:  Budget Cost Summary

Applicant U City In Bloom
Project Delmar Loop -  Design and care for Loop Planters from Eastgate to Kingsland
Amount of Request 10,519$      
Provide a listing of each project or program proposed and the associated cost allocation.

Total Applicant's Cash Applicant's Non-Cash Project
EDRST Funds Funds Contributions Other Funds Total

I. Project or Program Direct Costs*
Plant materials 2,722$        2,722$        
Soil and amendments 1,075$        1,075$        
Labor - garden design, installation and care 11,530$      11,530$      
Loop Special Business District (6,000)$      6,000$         (6,000)$      
Volunteers - 200 hours @ $25.43 per hour 5,086$                        5,086$        
                                    Total Direct Costs 9,327$        19,871$      

II. Indirect Costs**
Operations 1,192$        1,192$        
BUDGET TOTAL - ALL ACTIVITIES 10,519$      5,086$                        6,000$         21,063$      
*Examples of direct costs are project materials, salaries, fringe and benefits, supplies and equipment that are tied to a 
particular cost objective such as a project or program.  Consultation with City staff is advised to assist in defining direct costs.

**Examples of indirect costs are expenses relating to operations, such as general office and building expenses.  These costs
must represent a reasonable and proportional rate in relationship to direct costs.  Consultation with City staff is advised to
assist with defining indirect costs.

J - 5 - 6



EDRST B-1
City of University City
Economic Development Retail Sales Tax
FY23 Request for Funds:  Estimated Budget Summary   

Applicant MAFM for the U City Farmers Market
Amount of Request $28,000
Provide a listing of each project or program proposed and the associated cost allocation.  

 EDRST Funds
Applicant's Cash 

Funds
Applicant's Non-Cash 

Contributions Other Funds Total
I.  Project or Program Direct Costs *
Marketing: Music &  Event Fees $9,000.00 $2,000.00 $11,000.00
Advertising-Print, Web, Social Media $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $4,000.00
Graphic Design and Artwork $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $3,000.00 $7,000.00
Banner, Sign and Poster Printing $1,000.00 $1,000.00
Marketing & Event Services $9,500.00 $7,000.00 $16,500.00
Event Equipment and Rentals $2,300.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $6,300.00
Special Event Supplies $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $3,000.00
Culinary Series & Cooking Demos $1,200.00 $500.00 $2,500.00 $1,000.00 $5,200.00
SNAP/EBT, DUBF, HPES Programs $1,200.00 $2,000.00 $3,000.00 $6,200.00
Market Set-Up and Security $10,000.00 $10,000.00
Other Grants and Sponsorships $14,000.00 $14,000.00
Program Management $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $8,000.00

SUB-TOTOTAL DIRECT $28,000.00 $4,700.00 $30,500.00 $29,000.00 $92,200.00

II.  Indirect Costs ** Other In-Kind
Facility Rent; In-Kind Donation $30,000.00 $30,000.00
Facility Utilities-Charter, R & R, Other $6,600.00 $6,600.00
Facility and Grounds Maintenance $12,000.00 $12,000.00
Event and Liability Insurance $1,200.00 $1,200.00
General Operating Expenses $4,500.00 $4,500.00
SUBTOTAL INDIRECT $12,300.00 $12,000.00 $30,000.00 $54,300.00

BUDGET TOTAL - ALL ACTIVITIES $28,000.00 $17,000 $42,500 $59,000 $146,500.00

Please Note: EDRST Budget estimate is based on pre-pandemic figures

J - 5 - 7



 

J - 5 - 8



J - 6 - 1



J - 6 - 2



J - 6 - 3



J - 6 - 4



K - 1 - 1



K - 2 - 1



K - 3 - 1





K - 4 - 1



K - 4 - 2



1st Quarter September 30, 2022

FY2023 Presentation

November 14, 2022
By

Keith Cole
Director of Finance1

K - 4 - 3



General Fund - Revenues
Adjusted Budget $23,458,250

YTD Actual $3,144,648

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 13.4%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to
same quarter of FY2022 $244,509

Key Points:

 Increase is Grant Revenue of roughly $358,000, or 148.1%.  The increase due to receiving the 
last portion of the Safer Grant.  This closes out the grant.

 Increase in Services Charges of roughly $206,000, or 1.7%.  The increase mainly from 
Ambulance Services.

 Decrease in Municipal Court & Parking of roughly $81,000, or (49.8%).  Decrease mainly due to 
collecting less in parking fines, court fines, and court costs compared to previous year.

 Decrease in Miscellaneous Revenue of roughly $233,000, or (94.0%).  Decrease mainly due to 
receiving a health plan surplus distribution from St. Louis Area Ins. Trust in previous year. 

 Note:  The bulk of property tax revenue the City receives, will come during the months of 
December 2022 and January 2023.      

Overall, revenues as a percent of budget show a slight increase of 1.7% when compared to the same 
quarter of FY22. 2

K - 4 - 4



General Fund - Expenditures
Adjusted Budget $28,112,695

YTD Actual $7,378,083

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 26.2%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to
same quarter of FY2022 $1,996,181

Key Points:

 Increase in expenditures in Public Works and Parks & Recreation of roughly $1,368,000.  This is 
mainly due to the emergency purchases of vehicles and equipment related to the flood.  

 Increase in expenditures in Police Department of roughly $186,000, or 9.1% compared to same 
quarter of FY22.  This is mainly due to emergency purchases of three (3) Dodge Durangos as a 
result of the flood.

 Increase in expenditures in Fire Department of roughly $389,000, or 32.2% compared to same 
quarter of FY22.  This is mainly due to flood mitigation of Firehouse 1 and the hiring of three open 
firefighter positions.

Overall, the expenditures as a percent of budget increased by 6.3% when compared to the same 
quarter of FY2022.

3

K - 4 - 5



Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Revenues
Adjusted Budget $2,501,200

YTD Actual $246,590

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 9.9%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
same quarter of FY2022 ($38,110)

Key Points:

 Sales Tax revenue decreased roughly 0.8% during the 1st Quarter of 
FY2023, compared to same quarter of FY22.  

4

K - 4 - 6



Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Expenditures
Adjusted Budget $2,191,010

YTD Actual $62,244

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 2.8%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to
same quarter of FY2022 ($21,222)

Key Points:

 Decrease in expenditures mainly from the purchase of the 6th Nissan Leaf 
Electric Vehicle that was purchased in 1st quarter of FY2022.  

5

K - 4 - 7



Park and Stormwater Sales Tax - Revenues

Adjusted Budget $1,321,000

YTD Actual $126,541

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 9.6%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to
same quarter of FY2022 $46,405

Key Points:

 Sales Tax revenue for the first quarter of FY2023 has shown an increase of 
roughly 57.9% when compared to the same quarter of FY2022.  

3rd quarter revenues for FY2021 are within budget 

6

K - 4 - 8



Park and Stormwater Sales Tax - Expenditures

Adjusted Budget $1,270,920

YTD Actual $44,847

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 3.5%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
same quarter of FY2022 $6,395

Key Points:

 Increase in expenditures due to having three (3) pay periods in the month 
of September 2022.  In PY, the 3rd pay period occurred in October 2021, 
2nd Quarter.     

7

K - 4 - 9



Public Safety Sales Tax - Revenues

Adjusted Budget $2,001,000

YTD Actual $204,227

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 10.2%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
same quarter of FY2022 ($6,745)

Key Points:

 Even with a slight decrease, the 1st quarter revenue of FY23, appears to be 
within reason when compared to 1st quarter of FY2022.  

8

K - 4 - 10



Public Safety Sales Tax - Expenditures
Adjusted Budget $440,195

YTD Actual $158,518

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 36.0%

Increase/(Decrease) compared to

same quarter of FY2022 $10,792

Key Points:

 The increase in expenditures as compared to FY2022 is mainly due to 
allocating a portion of the HR Director’s salary to Public Safety for handling 
of Police and Fire’s HR benefits.  In FY2022, the HR position was open for 
most of the 1st Quarter .  

9

K - 4 - 11



Questions

10

K - 4 - 12



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

General Fund Revenues:

Property Taxes 3,748,350         3,748,350         37,248              1.0% 22,956              0.6%
Sales and Use Taxes 7,102,000         7,102,000         697,044            9.8% 808,827            11.3%
Gross Receipts Taxes 5,590,000         5,590,000         1,021,630         18.3% 1,008,759         17.3%
Intergovernmental 2,350,000         2,350,000         225,634            9.6%  197,428            8.4%
Grants -                    -                    360,616            100.0% 2,418                1.0%
Licenses 719,500            719,500            15,342              2.1% 25,343              3.7%
Inspection Fees and Permits 1,329,000         1,329,000         295,390            22.2% 236,004            17.8%
Charges for Municipal Services 1,186,000         1,186,000         329,652            27.8% 123,400            8.2%
Parks and Recreation Fees 445,000            445,000            54,081              12.2% 69,336              10.0%
Municipal Court and Parking 700,400            700,400            81,381              11.6% 161,986            28.6%
Interest Revenue 50,000              50,000              11,622              23.2% (4,068)               -6.8%
Other Revenues 238,000            238,000            15,008              6.3% 247,750            44.6%

Total Revenues 23,458,250       23,458,250       3,144,648         13.4% 2,900,139 11.7%

General Fund Expenditures:

Legislative Services 218,715            218,715            50,718              50,718              23.2% 44,461              22.9%
City Manager's Office 728,460            728,460            125,473            125,473            17.2% 212,201            22.8%
Communications 420,040            420,040            65,216              65,216              15.5% 22,754              11.8%
Human Resources 313,370            313,370            59,984              59,984              19.1% 53,431              20.4%
Finance Department 979,330            979,330            256,707            256,707            26.2% 233,089            28.1%
Information Systems 516,250            516,250            112,694            112,694            21.8% 133,702            24.5%
Municipal Court 411,280            411,280            98,058              98,058              23.8% 81,701              20.5%
Police Department 9,851,380         9,851,380         2,228,086         2,228,315         22.6%  2,041,972         20.9%
Fire Department 6,313,975         6,313,975         1,598,204         1,598,204         25.3%  1,209,079         20.5%
Public Works - Admin. 284,210            284,210            36,103              36,103              12.7% 60,777              17.6%
Street Maintenance 1,295,030         1,295,030         236,817            268,165            18.3% 219,508            18.0%
Facilities Maintenance 901,120            901,120            257,792            259,388            28.6% 218,749            23.7%
Public Works - Capital Imp -                    -                    507,585            602,531            100.0% -                    0.0%
Planning & Development 1,830,325         1,928,610         349,835            349,835            18.1%  346,482            19.9%
Parks & Recreation - Parks Maint 1,971,265         1,971,265         450,485            519,535            22.9% 338,503            17.0%
Community Center 245,640            245,640            24,740              24,740              10.1% 18,726              9.0%
Aquatics 625,680            625,680            47,665              331,095            7.6% 37,099              7.6%
Centennial Commons 1,108,340         1,108,340         123,577            123,577            11.1% 109,668            10.6%
Parks & Recreation - Capital Imp -                    -                    748,344            899,775            100.0% -                    0.0%
Debt Service -                    -                    -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 28,014,410       28,112,695       7,378,083         8,010,113         26.2% 5,381,902         19.9%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) (4,556,160)        (4,654,445)        (4,233,435)        (2,481,763)        

Insurance Recoveries 40,000              40,000              121,784            21,041              
Transfer In from Other Funds 6,007,670         6,007,670         -                    37,248              
Transfer Out to Other Funds (1,675,340)        (1,675,340)        (737,670)           (600,000)           
Total Other Financing Sources 4,372,330         4,372,330         (615,886)           (541,711)           

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
   Expenditures (183,830)           (282,115)           (4,849,321)        (3,023,474)        

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 13



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Capital Improvement Sales Tax:

Sales and Use Taxes 2,500,000         2,500,000         246,590            9.9%  284,700            10.8%
Interest Revenue 1,200                1,200                -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 2,501,200         2,501,200         246,590            9.9% 284,700            10.7%

Capital Improvement Sales Tax:

Personnel Services 308,750            308,750            34,426              34,426              11.2% 47,853              16.3%
Contractual Services 1,260                1,260                143                   143                   11.3% 165                   0.0%
Capital Outlay 1,881,000         1,881,000         27,675              214,763            1.5% 35,448              1.6%

Total Expenditures 2,191,010         2,191,010         62,244              249,332            2.8% 83,466              3.4%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 310,190            310,190            184,346            201,234            

Transfer Out to General Fund (924,000)           (924,000)           -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (613,810)           (613,810)           184,346            201,234            

FY 2023

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
City of University City

As of September 30, 2022

K - 4 - 14



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Park and Stormwater Sales Tax:

Sales and Use Taxes 1,320,000         1,320,000         126,510            9.6%  80,136              5.7%
Interest Revenue 1,000                1,000                31                     3.1% -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 1,321,000         1,321,000         126,541            9.6% 80,136              5.7%

Park and Stormwater Sales Tax:

Personnel Services 260,355            260,355            44,784              44,784              17.2% 37,784              18.0%
Contractual Services 600                   600                   63                     63                     10.5% 41                     6.8%
Capital outlay 1,009,965         1,009,965         -                    439,269            0.0% 627                   0.1%

Total Expenditures 1,270,920         1,270,920         44,847              484,116            3.5% 38,452              2.8%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 50,080              50,080              81,694              41,684              

Transfer Out to General Fund (353,280)           (353,280)           -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (303,200)           (303,200)           81,694              41,684              

FY 2023
As of September 30, 2022

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

K - 4 - 15



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Public Safety Sales Tax:

Sales and Use Taxes 2,000,000         2,000,000         204,227            10.2%  210,972            9.7%
Interest Revenue 1,000                1,000                -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 2,001,000         2,001,000         204,227            10.2% 210,972            7.9%

Public Safety Sales Tax:

Personnel Services 70,630              70,630              14,699              14,699              20.8% 4,315                9.4%
Capital Outlay 255,065            255,065            29,408              29,408              11.5% 29,000              1.0%
Debt Service 114,500            114,500            114,411            114,411            99.9% 114,411            99.5%

Total Expenditures 440,195            440,195            158,518            158,518            36.0% 147,726            4.7%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 1,560,805         1,560,805         45,709              63,246              

Transfer Out to Other Funds (2,070,535)        (2,070,535)        -                    -                    
Total Other Financing Sources (2,070,535)        (2,070,535)        -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (509,730)           (509,730)           45,709              63,246              

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
As of September 30, 2022

FY 2023

City of University City

K - 4 - 16



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Fleet Operations:

Service to Other Jurisdictions 750                   750                   -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Revenue 750                   750                   -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Fleet Operations:

Expenditures 1,591,070         1,591,070         583,454            583,454            36.7% 249,823            19.4%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) (1,590,320)        (1,590,320)        (583,454)           (249,823)           

Transfer In from Other Funds 1,560,340         1,560,340         737,670            600,000            

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (29,980)             (29,980)             154,216            350,177            

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

K - 4 - 17



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Debt Service Fund:

Other Revenues -                    -                    -                    -                    0.0%  -                    0.0%

Total Revenues -                    -                    -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Debt Service Fund:

Expenses -                    -                    -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures -                    -                    -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                    -                    -                    -                    

Transfer In from Other Funds 900,000            900,000            -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 900,000            900,000            -                    -                    

FY 2023

City of University City

As of September 30, 2022
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

K - 4 - 18



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Sewer Lateral Fund:

Service Charges 580,000            580,000            6,940                1.2%  7,191                1.3%

Total Revenues 580,000            580,000            6,940                1.2% 7,191                1.3%

Sewer Lateral Fund:

Personal Services 86,495              86,495              16,452              16,452              19.0% 9,089                15.1%
Contractual Services 7,975                7,975                3,563                3,563                44.7% 3,591                48.6%
Sewer Lateral Reimbursement 400,000            400,000            38,424              75,924              9.6% 70,509              16.6%

Total Expenditures 494,470            494,470            58,439              95,939              11.8% 83,189              16.9%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 85,530              85,530              (51,499)             (75,998)             

Transfer Out to General Fund (57,220)             (57,220)             -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 28,310              28,310              (51,499)             (75,998)             

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 19



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Solid Waste Fund:

Service Charges 3,151,000         3,151,000         687,457            21.8% 1,325,745         39.1%
Miscellaneous Revenues 21,200              21,200              1,840                8.7%  5,655                14.6%
Interest Revenue 500                   500                   -                    0.0% -                    0.0%
Grants -                    -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 3,172,700         3,172,700         689,297            21.7% 1,331,400         38.8%

Solid Waste Fund:

Administration 250,235            250,235            57,164              57,164              22.8% 51,849              19.0%
Operations 2,635,475         2,635,475         607,835            607,835            23.1% 597,217            21.1%
Leaf Collection 273,785            273,785            10,978              10,978              4.0% 11,367              3.5%
Capital Improvement 280,000            280,000            703,968            703,968            251.4% 35,491              100.0%
Grants 20,000              20,000              -                    -                    0.0% 5,961                100.0%

Total Expenditures 3,459,495         3,459,495         1,379,945         1,379,945         39.9% 701,885            20.3%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) (286,795)           (286,795)           (690,648)           629,515            

Transfer Out to General Fund (191,430)           (191,430)           -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (478,225)           (478,225)           (690,648)           629,515            

City of University City

FY 2023
As of September 30, 2022

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

K - 4 - 20



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Economic Development Retail Sales Tax

Sales and Use Taxes 752,000            752,000            63,255              8.4%  40,068              5.7%
Interest Revenue 700                   700                   15                     2.1% -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 752,700            752,700            63,270              8.4% 40,068              5.7%

Economic Development Retail Sales Tax

Personnel Services 354,260            354,260            23,491              23,491              6.6% 9,743                16.6%
Contractual Services 60,500              60,500              85,895              85,895              142.0% 12,915              6.1%
Capital Outlay 230,000            230,000            -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 644,760            644,760            109,386            109,386            17.0% 22,658              8.4%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 107,940            107,940            (46,116)             17,410              

Transfer Out to General Fund (40,000)             (40,000)             -                    (37,248)             

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 67,940              67,940              (46,116)             (19,838)             

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 21



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Grants:

Grant Revenue 1,024,000         1,024,000         -                    0.0%  -                    0.0%

Total Revenues 1,024,000         1,024,000         -                    0.0% -                    0.0%

Grants:

Capital outlay 1,024,000         1,024,000         -                    49,832              0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 1,024,000         1,024,000         -                    49,832              0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                    -                    -                    -                    

Transfer Out to General Fund -                    -                    -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures -                    -                    -                    -                    

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 22



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Parking Garage:

Parking Revenue 107,000            107,000            25,403              23.7%  25,692              16.3%
Miscellaneous 87,100              87,100              21,299              24.5% 7,576                11.0%

Total Revenues 194,100            194,100            46,702              24.1% 33,268              14.7%

Parking Garage:

Personnel Services 22,900              22,900              -                    -                    0.0% -                    0.0%
Contractual Services 76,275              76,275              27,325              27,325              35.8% 27,674              27.6%
Material and Supplies -                    -                    428                   428                   100.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 99,175              99,175              27,753              27,753              28.0% 27,674              22.5%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 94,925              94,925              18,949              5,594                

Transfer Out to General Fund (128,220)           (128,220)           -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (33,295)             (33,295)             18,949              5,594                

FY 2023

City of University City

As of September 30, 2022
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

K - 4 - 23



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Golf Course:

Golf Course Revenue 900,000            900,000            434,542            48.3% 445,194            41.7%

Total Revenues 900,000            900,000            434,542            48.3% 445,194            41.7%

Golf Course:

Personnel Services 540,905            540,905            130,766            130,766            24.2% 80,978              17.9%
Contractual Services 216,875            216,875            66,906              66,906              30.9% 68,176              26.6%
Material and Supplies 160,100            160,100            25,907              25,907              16.2% 26,715              17.6%
Capital outlay 139,750            139,750            -                    43,713              0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 1,057,630         1,057,630         223,579            267,292            21.1% 175,869            20.2%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) (157,630)           (157,630)           210,963            269,325            

Transfer out to General Fund (73,220)             (73,220)             -                    -                    

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (230,850)           (230,850)           210,963            269,325            

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 24



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Police and Fire Pension:

Property Taxes 994,000            994,000            10,587              1.1%  (54,265)            -5.5%
Miscellaneous 750,500            750,500            (951,432)          -126.8% (183,474)          -45.9%
Interest Revenue 500,000            500,000            96,591              19.3% 35,586              7.1%

Total Revenues 2,244,500         2,244,500         (844,254)          -37.6% (202,153)          -10.7%

Police and Fire Pension:

Pension Administration 171,100            171,100            37,389              37,389          21.9% 20,942              11.9%
Pension Benefits 2,790,000         2,790,000         576,348            576,348        20.7% 565,847            19.6%

Total Expenditures 2,961,100         2,961,100         613,737            613,737        20.7% 586,789            19.1%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) (716,600)          (716,600)          (1,457,991)       (788,942)          

Transfer In from Other Funds 545,235            545,235            -                   -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (171,365)          (171,365)          (1,457,991)       (788,942)          

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 25



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Non-Uniformed Pension:

Miscellaneous 1,941,845         1,941,845         (1,013,750)       -52.2% (106,967)          -6.7%
Interest Revenue 500,000            500,000            104,786            21.0% 56,053              11.2%

Total Revenues 2,441,845         2,441,845         (908,964)          -37.2% -50,914 -2.4%

Non-Uniformed Pension:

Pension Administration 223,100            223,100            66,422              66,422          29.8% 35,631              17.9%
Pension Benefits 1,646,000         1,646,000         376,530            376,530        22.9% 381,246            23.0%

Total Expenditures 1,869,100         1,869,100         442,952            442,952        23.7% 416,877 22.5%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 572,745            572,745            (1,351,916)       (467,791)

Transfer in from General Fund -                   -                   -                   -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 572,745            572,745            (1,351,916)       (467,791)

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 26



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

American Rescue Plan Fund

Miscellaneous 3,400,000         3,400,000         3,480,218         102.4% 3,447,002         99.0%

Total Revenues 3,400,000         3,400,000         3,480,218         102.4% 3,447,002         99.0%

American Rescue Plan Fund

Contractual Services -                    -                    2,231                2,231            100.0% -                    0.0%
Capital Outlay 300,000            300,000            -                    -                0.0% -                    0.0%

Total Expenditures 300,000            300,000            2,231                2,231            0.7% -                   0.0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) 3,100,000         3,100,000         3,477,987         3,447,002         

Transfer Out to Other Funds (3,500,000)       (3,500,000)       -                   -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (400,000)          (400,000)          3,477,987         3,447,002         

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 27



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T2) RPA-1

Sales and Use Taxes -                    -                    -                    0.0%  7,263                100.0%
Property Taxes -                    -                    669                   100.0% 957                   4.6%

Total Revenues -                   -                   669                   100.0% 8,220                39.9%

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T2) RPA-1

Total Expenditures -                   -                   669                   -                100.0% -                   0.0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                   -                   -                   8,220                

Transfer In from Other Funds -                   -                   -                   -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures -                   -                   -                   8,220                

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 28



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T3) RPA-2

Sales and Use Taxes -                    -                    -                    0.0% 7,336                135.9%
Property Taxes -                    -                    8,801                100.0% 12,590              4.4%

Total Revenues -                   -                   8,801                100.0% 19,926              6.9%

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T3) RPA-2

Total Expenditures -                   -                   -                   -                0.0% -                   0.0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                   -                   8,801                19,926              

Transfer In from Other Funds -                   -                   -                   -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures -                   -                   8,801                19,926              

City of University City
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of September 30, 2022
FY 2023

K - 4 - 29



2023 Actual As 2022 2022
Annual Adjusted YTD YTD With % of Adjusted 1st Qtr Actual As
Budget Budget Actual Encumb Budget Actual % of Budget

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T4) RPA-3

Sales and Use Taxes -                    -                    -                    0.0% 77,257              436.5%
Property Taxes -                    -                    1,166                100.0% 1,668                1.9%

Total Revenues -                   -                   1,166                100.0% 78,925              75.6%

Olive I-170 TIF Fund (T4) RPA-3

Total Expenditures -                   -                   -                   -                0.0% -                   0%

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                   -                   1,166                78,925              

Transfer In from Other Funds -                    -                    -                    -                   

Operating Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures -                   -                   1,166                78,925              

City of University City

As of September 30, 2022
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

FY 2023

K - 4 - 30



K - 5 - 1



K - 5 - 2



K - 5 - 3



Storm Water Commission 

6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130,  

Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694 

Page 1 Storm Water Commission Minutes – April 5, 2022 

 

 

Draft: MINUTES OF THE STORMWATER COMMISSION 
April 5, 2022 

 
1. Call to Order. The twenty-first meeting of the Stormwater Commission (Commission) was called to order at 

6:33 PM by Chair Todd Thompson.  
 

2. Attendance-Roll Call. The following Commission members were present at the Community Center:  Garry 
Aronberg, Bob Criss, Mark Holly, Todd Thompson, Eric Stein. Also in attendance were Tim Cusick, 
Councilman, Sinan Alpaslan, Director of Public Works, John Mulligan, City Attorney. 

 
3. Agenda.  The Following Agenda was approved by voice vote (motion and second: Messrs. Thompson, 

Aronberg): 
Roll Call; Approval of Agenda; Approval of Minutes; Announcements by Commissioners, Citizen Comments 

Committee Reports: Early Warning, Communication, New Business, Old Business, Council Liaison 

Comments; Adjournment. 

 
4. Minutes. The minutes of the March 1, 2022, Commission meeting were approved (Messrs. Thompson and 

Holly, voice vote approval).   
 
5. Announcements 

• USGS meter has been malfunctioning but has been repaired. 
• Councilman Cusick introduced Doug Gilberg may be nominated to serve on the Commission by 

Councilman Smotherson. 
 

6. Citizen Comments. 

• Two speakers will speak during new Business section. 
 

7. Subcommittee Reports.  
• Communication Subcommittee. 

o Criss’s Hydrologic time scale paper accepted for publication… showing RDP is one of the 
flashiest rivers. 

o Professional website developer will be invited to a future meeting to discuss what we can do with 
the site. 

• Early Warning  
o Earl warning system info will be sent to Jeff Riepe of MSD. 
o Nine stage sensors have been installed in RDP by Commissioners Criss and Stein. 

• USACE report:  
o Thompson and Alpaslan had a mtg on detention plan – including MSD’s Jeff Riepe.  NEPA and 

Open Space Park Grant money are concerns regarding the Overland-Woodson Road detention 
basin feasiblity. 

o May 3 is next USACE milestone. 
o Overland is supportive and willing to work through National Park Service concerns. 
o USACE has provided us with windshield survey data. 

 

8. New Business  

• 8436 and 8644 Old Bonhomme – Will Wainwright and Edmond Koh, respectively, discussed flooding from 
street overflow into their yards. 

K - 5 - 4



Storm Water Commission 

6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130,  

Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694 

Page 2 Storm Water Commission Minutes – April 5, 2022 

 

 

o City Share of Deer Creek OMCI funds could be used for 8436 and 8644 Old Bonhomme storm 
improvements but insufficient balance now for sewer replacement project.  

o Mr. Alpaslan informed us that MSD is developing a project for that area – to upsize sewers in the 
area -- but MSD’s program is unlikely to be implemented soon. 

o Wainwright:  
 Garages are in basements, so driveways lie lower than the street. Stormwater frequently 

overtops curb and flows into his basement and into Mr. Koh’s basement. 
 He urged new sewer to 600-ft to northwest. 
 Mr. Wainwright discussed other alternatives City should consider In lieu of new public sewer: 

- Discussed closing off his drive and under-house garage.  
- Discussed flood proofing basement garage doors with commercially available 

floodproofing planks.  
- Would like City financial assistance for the planking - floodproofing option. 

o Koh pointed-out that the drainage that overtops the curb is public water in private property. 
o Motion (Aronberg, Thompson): In response to property owners request, Commission 

recommends City of U City fund floodproofing planks at 8436 and 8444 Old Bonhomme 

garage doors. Passed by voice. 

o Motion: (Criss, Stein) Commission recommends that the City use OMCI money for 

Floodproofing projects. Passed by voice vote.  

 
9. Old Business.   

• Stormwater survey: ready to print and mail…but not postage pre-paid.  Mailing in two weeks. 
• Stein, Criss, Cusick will visit houses that have not responded. 
• Code red frequently asked questions may be mailed at another time; not with the questionnaire. 

 
10. Councilman Cusick Comments.  

• U City in Bloom April 29 weekend 
• Loop food festival soon 
• Memorial Day run 
• Ruth Park Woods cleanup is progressing, and volunteers are sought. 
• Library is open in temporary quarters in kitty corner southwest from City Hall. 
• Costco on schedule to open in the fall. 

 
11. Adjournment was at 8:59 (Holly, Stein) motion passed. 
 

Minutes Preparation. Minutes were prepared by Garry Aronberg. 
 
C:\Users\garon\Dropbox\UCity Stormwater Taskforce\CommissionMinutesDrafts\20220405_StrmWtrCommMin_DRAFT.docx 

K - 5 - 5



 

 
P:\Residence\2020011933\doc\LetterReport\20201102_8444OldBonhomme_StormwaterAssessment.doc Page 1 
 
Geotechnical Engineering �  Water Resources �  Construction Engineering Quality Control �  Environmental Restoration & Permitting 

 
November 2, 2020 
 
Ed Koh 
8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. 
University City, MO   63130 
 
Re: 8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Rd. Stormwater Study 
 
Dear Mr.  Koh: 
 
As authorized by you, Reitz & Jens, Inc. (RJ) evaluated the performance and capacity of the existing central 
stormwater handling system extending from the Ruth Park Golf Course to the south between 8444 & 8436 Old 
Bonhomme Road and is providing this letter report with our assessment and concept-level recommendations.  See 
Appendix I for maps of the study limits and calculations, and Appendix II for photos of the study area.  A discussion of 
the assessment and suggestions on potential courses of action follows. 
 
An accurate assessment of the main stormwater handling system involves detailed modeling of a large stormwater 
pipe network downhill of your house, because undersized pipes downstream can propagate backwater upstream.  This 
letter report instead provides a simplified conservative assessment that will help you understand the performance of 
the system and will help you determine courses of action.   
 
Summary 
The capacity of the stormwater handling system between 8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road does not meet current 
MSD design criteria for storm sewer systems.  The system surcharges and therefore does not adequately convey the 
2-year 20-minute design storm, let alone the larger 15-year 20-minute storm that is required by MSD Rules and 
Regulations and Engineering Requirements for Sanitary Sewer and Stormwater Drainage Facilities (February, 2008).  
Calculations dictated by MSD regulations support what you and your neighbor have already experienced first-hand.  
The system does not have sufficient capacity during this design storm, so overland flow surcharges and floods the 
street.  The vertical curve of Old Bonhomme Road has a lowpoint in front of 8444 & 8436, where street flooding is not 
contained within the street, and instead overtops the street gutter and flows down both driveways into the sumped 
garages of 8444 and 8436.  The following letter report details our calculations and summary of courses of action. The 
most effective remedy to allow continued use of your garages is to replace the undersized main stormwater handling 
system with larger pipes, therefore we recommend that you provide this assessment to MSD and the City of University 
City, request that their engineers confirm the issue, and request that they add this project to their list of capital 
improvement projects.   
 
Data collection 
St. Louis County online GIS records show that homes in this community were built throughout the late 1940s and early 
1950s, and it is reasonable to assume the main trunk of the stormwater system was installed during or shortly after 
home construction. Because MSD was established in 1954, it is also reasonable to assume that the system was not 
necessarily designed to meet current MSD design and construction standards (i.e. pipe sizing methods, required pipe 
depth/slope, etc.) that would dictate the design of a new system installed today. 
 
RJ obtained MSD digital CAD mapping for topography (2-feet contours), base maps (property lot lines, building 
footprints and paving), and facility maps (stormwater handing system locations and elevations).  A review of MSD’s 
contours shows that the top of structure elevations cannot be correct.  Our assessment does not include field-run 
survey, therefore, available LiDAR data was used to revise the top of structure elevations, and field-measured depths 
were used to revise the structure invert elevations (a.k.a. flowlines).  LiDAR data appears to correspond well with MSD 
2-feet contour data. 
 
Current LiDAR data (grid 38090_f3) was downloaded from the University of Missouri (https://msdis.maps.arcgis.com/ ), 
with meta-data (a.k.a. description and provenance) that supports its use in conceptual assessments such as this letter 
report.  “This project combines the varied interests of the NRCS, USGS, SEMA, MO-DNR, USACE, MSD & MO 

1055 Corporate Square Drive 
St. Louis, MO 63132-2928 

phone: 314-993-4132 
fax:314-993-4177 

www.reitzjens.com 

K - 5 - 6



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study 
November 2, 2020 

  Page 2 

Department of Conservation to collect detailed ground elevation data from Aerial LiDAR Sensors for approximately 
6575 Square Miles into a unified collection and processing project to benefit the US Government. These partners 
require high-resolution digital elevation data developed from Aerial LiDAR collection in the following Missouri Counties: 
Monroe, Audrain, Montgomery, Ray, Livingston, Randolph, Howard, Cooper, Putnam, Sullivan, Adair, Macon, Lincoln, 
St. Louis & St. Francois. The areas to be collected may only cover the portions of the counties without existing data. 
These data will then be used to generate digital elevation models and contours for use in hydraulic/hydrologic models 
and other purposes to include conservation planning activities and environmental assessments.”  “All deliverables 
meet or exceed standards for both vertical and horizontal accuracy as stated in NDEP Guidelines for Digital Elevation 
Data, Version 1.0 for NSSDA of 95% confidence for 2-ft contours and ASPRS Class I Standards.” 
 
The following table shows the structure elevations as reported by MSD facilities mapping, and the revised elevations 
used by RJ for the current assessment.  Future detailed analyses should include field-run survey, but the data used in 
this study are appropriate for a simplified conservative assessment. 
 

Stormwater Handling System Elevations 

STRUCTURES DEPTH DEPTH

INVERT TOP OF Per MSD Field

STRUCTURE ELEV. STRUC Facilities Map Measured

ID ELEV.

Per MSD Facilities Map

17K4-111D 586.33 591.43 5.10 4.6

17K4-110D 585.25 590.77 5.52 5.4

17K4-044D 584.34 590.75 6.41 6.6

17K4-061D 580.78 595.18 * 14.40 4

17K4-063D 577.10 597.25 * 20.15 6.3

*elevation conflicts with MSD contours

Revised structure elevations: 

Top of Structure per LiDAR. Flowline per field-measured depth.

17K4-111D 586.87 591.47 4.6

17K4-110D 586.17 591.57 5.4

17K4-044D 584.57 591.17 6.6

17K4-061D 581.89 585.89 4

17K4-063D 578.02 584.32 6.3  
 
Site 
The main stormwater handling system is located between 8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road.  The garage floors for 
both 8444 and 8346 are at the bottom of driveways that slope down approximately 4 feet below the elevation of Old 
Bonhomme Road.  The backyards to the south of the driveways are also approximately 2 feet above the garage floor.  
In other words, both the garages are in localized sumps. 
 
The 24-inch reinforced concrete pipe (RCP) crossing Old Bonhomme Road is experiencing joint-separation.  The joints 
between pipe segments are separating, and will require repair at some point.  However, the 24-inch RCP between 
8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road appears to be in good condition.  The property owners indicated that a large 
diameter water main runs down Old Bonhomme and crosses this storm sewer pipe.  The depth of that water main was 
bit available, but may have influenced the current storm sewer system design/construction. 

K - 5 - 7



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study 
November 2, 2020 

  Page 3 

 
Left Photo: Pipe between structures 17K4-110D  Right Photo: Pipe between structures 17K4-044D 
& 17K4-044D, taken from 044D looking upstream.  & 17K4-061D, taken from 044D looking downstream. 
 
Hydraulic Capacity Assessment 
The watershed for the main stormwater handling system serves 20 acres of drainage that includes three main inputs.  
The west watershed is the largest at 10 acres and extends 900 feet to McKnight.  The golf course adds 7.5 acres.  The 
east watershed is the smallest at 2.6 acres and extends 800 feet to the intersection of Groby Road and Old 
Bonhomme Road.  Appendix I Sheet 2 shows the watershed delineations. 
 
Hydraulic capacity will be discussed with respect to the magnitude of storm event that the system will accept and 
convey.  For example, a 1-year storm represents a strong thunderstorm while a 100-year storm represents a historic 
flood.  MSD stormwater systems are designed to convey a 15-year storm with an assumed time of concentration of 20 
minutes.  Appendix I includes a tabulated summary of the existing conditions design storm discharges (Appendix I, 
Tables 1 & 2).  Also included are hydraulic conveyance calculations for the MSD-stipulated 15-year design storm (4.7 
inches / hour) and 2-year design storm (3.1 inches per hour) each having a 20-minute storm duration. 
 
The main system will not convey a 2-year storm or larger event.  Calculations indicate that during these storm events 
the system surcharges the inlet grates, ponds in the road, overtops the roadway gutters, then flows down the 
driveways and temporarily ponds in the garages of 8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road  A 2-year storm has a 
probability of 50% chance of occurring in any given year.  Therefore, the probability of system surcharge is 
approximately 50% chance in any given year. 
 
The primary cause of surcharge is pipes with insufficient diameter and/or slope between curb inlet 17K4-110D and at 
least 17K4-063D.  The pipe that handles the golf course drainage has sufficient capacity in and of itself, but the backup 
from undersized pipes downstream creates lack of capacity here as well. 
 
Computational methods used for the assessment are as follows.  Hydrology was estimated in accordance with MSD 
Rules and Regulations, which uses the Rational Method (regional intensity curves and landuse coefficients).  
Hydraulics were also estimated in accordance with MSD Rules and Regulations for calculating hydraulic gradelines 
(HGLs).  This letter report used a simplified conservative assessment of hydraulic gradeline by limiting the analysis to 
the 5 MSD structures as shown on the mapping in Appendix I, and assumed the HGL was at the top of pipe at 
structure 17K4-063D.  It was not necessary to extend calculations to include of a larger portion of the stormwater 
handling system, as these limited analyses shows that the system lacks sufficient capacity, and extending the study 
further downstream could only show that conditions are even worse if this downstream portion is also undersized. 
 
Documented Flooding History  
The system does not have sufficient capacity during this design storm, so overland flow surcharges and floods the 
street.  The vertical curve of Old Bonhomme Road has a lowpoint in front of 8444 & 8436, where street flooding is not 
contained within the street, and instead overtops the street gutter and flows down both driveways into the sumped 
garages of 8444 and 8436.  Property owners report that the driveway and floor drains fully drain the floodwater quickly 

K - 5 - 8



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study 
November 2, 2020 

  Page 4 

once the storm passes.  Three specific flooding events on this block were captured on film (5/27/2009, 7/22/2019, and 
8/9/2020), and corroborate this assessment.  See Appendix II for a selection of these photos. 
 
It is difficult to compare any single storm event to theoretical design storms, but an argument can be made that the 
8/9/2020 storm was smaller than MSD’s 15-year, 20-min design storm and therefore should not have surcharged the 
system, if it were sized in compliance with MSD design standards.  Residents at 8436 and 8444 Old Bonhomme Road 
presented their issue to the University City Stormwater Commission in October 2020.  One Commission member who 
lives 1.3 miles to the east of 8444 Old Bonhomme Road recorded 2.19 inches of rainfall for 8/9/2020 storm. This is 
consistent with data from 6 MSD rain gauges that represent drainage into the nearby River des Peres which showed 
2.12” of rain had fallen in 75 min (1.99 inches in 60 minutes), as processed by the University City Stormwater 
Commission.  According to US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Atlas 14 data, the rainfall 
during the 8/9/2020 event was between a 5-year and 10-year storm (1.8 and 2.09 inches in 60 minutes, respectively), 
and therefore smaller than MSD’s 15-year, 20-min design storm. 
https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_map_cont.html?bkmrk=mo 
 
The resident at 8436 reported at the Stormwater Commission that he reported this issue to MSD in the recent past (5 
years ago?).  MSD investigated, installed rock around inlet 17K4-110D, and offered to provide a mobile pump to 
remove water from the flooded garage but this offer was declined. 
 
Impacts of Flooding 
Since 2019, residents at 8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road have reported to insurance that two (2) garage-parked 
vehicles were flooded when over 2 feet of floodwater penetrated the car doors.  More importantly, the hydrostatic load 
of 2 to 3 feet of water within the garage against the interior wall of the house provides sufficient cause for concern 
about the structural integrity of the block walls if the interior door (katy-barred) holds back water.  The interior door does 
not always hold back water, and has at times twisted off of the hinges allowing flooding to penetrate inside the 
habitable basement. Overland flow also impacts three homes on Alanson Drive (940, 932, and 924) creating yard 
flooding at a minimum, though further discussion with these property owners may show a history of damage to their 
homes as well. 
 
Potential Courses of Action 
The residents of 8444 and 8436 Old Bonhomme Road should consider the following courses of action and their 
associated consequences (See Table 5).  Regardless of which course you choose, it is recommended that you gather 
testimony from neighbors who are also impacted by surcharging sewers, and document all cases of prior flooding to 
help provide MSD the full picture of how you and the neighborhood are impacted by flooding.   
 
Additional detailed analysis and coordination with MSD will be needed during future design-development to confirm 
and permit the limits and alignment of any storm sewer system replacement.  MSD may determine that additional 
portions of the downstream system (currently 24-inch diameter) will also require replacement.  However, we offer the 
following as possible alternatives for the minimum level of replacement needed to resolve flooding in front of 8444 Old 
Bonhomme Road. 
 
Upgrading the system along the current alignment by replacing 347 feet of 24-inch RCP with 36-inch RCP would bring 
the system into (or very nearly into) compliance with MSD requirements.  Appendix I Table 4 presents hydraulic 
calculations supporting these proposed conceptual upgrades. 
 
One possible alternative might be to re-route the West drainage from manhole 17K4-041D to the south down Alanson 
Drive and tying into curb inlet 17K4-063D.  This alternative would require that the existing main stormwater handling 
system from 17K4-111D through 17K4-063D is capable of handling the drainage from the Golf Course and the East 
Watersheds, and if so, would minimize private property impacts/coordination by keeping the heavy construction within 
the road right-of-way.   
 
Mr. Koh asked that we consider one alternative to create a water holding area within the golf course.  Unfortunately, 
this is not feasible without also upgrading the stormwater handling system.  The total 2-year storm volume from the 
7.5-acre golf course drainage area is approximately 0.8 acre-feet.  This would require a minimum holding area 100 feet 
x 100 feet x 3 feet, for example.  There is insufficient space available space between the golf green and the adjacent 

K - 5 - 9



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study 
November 2, 2020 

  Page 5 

homes, and this area is steeply sloped.  Not only would this require making the golf green smaller, it would create an 
unsafe condition in close proximity to homes and the public golf course. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact us at your convenience. 
 
Sincerely, 

 

REITZ & JENS, INC.      
Eric Karch, PE       
Project Manager            

K - 5 - 10



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study  Appendix I 
October 30, 2020 

 
  Appendix I  Page 1 
 
Geotechnical Engineering �  Water Resources �  Construction Engineering Quality Control �  Environmental Restoration & Permitting 

 
 

 
 
 

APPENDIX I 
 

MAPS: 
Sheet 1 – Stormwater System Map 
Sheet 2 – Watershed Map 
 
HYDRAULIC CALCULATIONS: 
Table 1 – Calculations for Hydrology  
Table 2 – Calculations for Existing    Conditions   2-year, 20-minute Design Storm 
Table 3 – Calculations for Existing    Conditions 15-year, 20-minute Design Storm 
Table 4 – Calculations for Proposed Conditions 15-year, 20-minute Design Storm 
Table 5 – Potential Courses of Action 
 
 

K - 5 - 11



57
' 2

4"
 R

CP
14

5'
 2

4"
 R

C
P

40' 12" RCP

202' 15" RCP 200' 15" RCP153' 24" RCP" RCP

33' 12" RCP

40' 12" RCP

119' 24" RCP (CPP)

177D
583.98

17K4-041D
591.91 587.11

17K4-044D
590.75 584.34

17K4-047D
592.61 588.38

17K4-111D
591.43 586.33

17K4-109D
595.93 591.87

17
58

17K4-062D
590.58 586.63

K4-048D
.71 592.66

17K4-110D
590.77 585.25
585.62 

17K4-046D
595.17 588.37

17K4-045D
595.38 587.80

17K4-061D
595.18 580.78

17K4-063D
597.25 577.10
578.29 

17K4-068D
575.99 570.89

592

594

59
0

58
8

596

586

598

584

600

582
580

602 604
606

608

610

578

612

592

58
6

588

586

58
4 584

582

588
596

592

584

59
2

592

59
6

590

60
0

592
594

592

59
4

592594

596

592

594 59
4

590

596

588

586

59
2

598

OLD BONHOMME

ALAN
SO

N

LA
VA

L

GOLF
 C

OURSE

8444 Old Bonhomme
Sheet 1: Project Site Map

D
oc

um
en

t P
at

h:
 P

:\R
es

id
en

ce
\2

02
00

11
93

3\
dw

g\
G

IS
\G

IS
_8

44
4O

ld
Bo

nh
om

m
e_

Si
te

.m
xd

   
D

at
e 

Sa
ve

d:
 1

0/
30

/2
02

0 
3:

26
:5

7 
PM

0 5025 Feet

0 105 Meters

#8444 #8436

Downstream end of
limited hydraulic analysis

Upstream end of
limited hydraulic analysis

Property owners at 8444 & 8436 report frequent storm
sewer surcharge resulting in street ponding that runs
down the driveways and floods garages & basements.

#940

#932

#924 Property owners at 940, 932, and 924
may experience overland flooding from
storm sewer surchange uphill.

K - 5 - 12



M
C

KN
IG

H
T

O
LD

 BO
N

H
O

M
M

E

GROBY

SPOON

ALANSON AL
BE

Y

LA
V A

L

GOLF
 C

OURSE

TU
LA

N
E

BERICK

C
H

AR
TR

ES

SH
AN

D
ELD

ALKEITH

BROOKSHIRE

ROWLAND

PU
TT

ER

M
ID

IR
O

N

8444 Old Bonhomme
Sheet 2: Watershed Map

D
oc

um
en

t P
at

h:
 P

:\R
es

id
en

ce
\2

02
00

11
93

3\
dw

g\
G

IS
\G

IS
_8

44
4O

ld
Bo

nh
om

m
e_

W
S.

m
xd

   
D

at
e 

Sa
ve

d:
 1

0/
30

/2
02

0 
3:

24
:0

9 
PM

0 200100 Feet

0 4020 Meters

Watershed=20.09 Acres

#8444

#8436

Golf Course=7.49 Acres
Street East=0.83 Acres

Residential East
=1.76 Acres
Residential East
=1.76 Acres

Streets & Apartments
West=4.70 Acres

Residential
West=5.31 Acres

K - 5 - 13



8444 Old Bonhomme Table 1. Calculations for Design Storm Discharge
Reitz & Jens, Inc.

PI Factor Discharge PI Factor Discharge PI Factor Discharge

(acres) (percent) (cfs/acre) (cfs) (cfs/acre) (cfs) (cfs/acre) (cfs)

Single Family Residential West 5.31 50 1.74 9 2.58 14 3.47 18

Streets & Apartments West 4.70 100 2.39 11 3.54 17 4.77 22

Golf Course 7.49 5 1.15 9 1.70 13 2.29 17

Single Family Residential East 1.76 50 1.74 3 2.58 5 3.47 6

Street East 0.83 100 2.39 2 3.54 3 4.77 4

Total to Central Stormwater 

Handling System 20.09 34 51 68

Subtotal to West branch of Central 

Stormwater Handling System* 10.01 2.05 20 3.03 30 4.08 41

Subtotal to East branch of Central 

Stormwater Handling System* 2.59 1.95 5 2.89 7 3.89 10

East + West* 12.60 2.03 3.00 4.04

* PI values are an area-weighted Average 

ImperviousDrainage 

Area

Drainage Area ID

MSD St Louis Design Storms

2-year, 20-min 15-year, 20-min 100-year, 20-min

K - 5 - 14



8444 Old Bonhomme

Reitz & Jens, Inc. Table 2. Calculations for Hydraulic Gradeline and Pipe Sizing Blue text is from MSD facilities mapping

Existing Conditions (2-year, 20-minute storm) Orange text is approximate based on LiDAR

RCP  n = 0.013 (MSD HYDRAULIC FORMULAS WERE USED) Purple text is based on apprx field-measure depth from LiDAR ground elev

   HYDRAULIC

   GRADELINE

STRUCTURES HEAD LOSSES    ELEVATIONS US

GIS INVERT ELEV. TRIB. TOTAL DESIGN PIPE PIPE PIPE VELOCITY V^2/2g HYDRAULIC FRICTION CURVE MANHOLES IN OUT TOP OF TOP OF MAX. PERCENT MH HGL

Drainage STRUCTURE IN OUT AREA P.I. Q FLOW LENGTH SLOPE DIA. AREA CAPACITY DES. FLOW DES. FLOW SLOPE AND INLETS PIPE STRUC ALLOW. DISCHARGE IN SILL

Area ID ID Ft. Ft. Ac. cfs/Ac. cfs (Qt) cfs Ft. (S) Ft./Ft. (D) In. Sq. Ft. (Q') cfs (V) Ft./Sec. Ft. (Hs) Ft./Ft. Ft. Ft. Ft. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. Qt/Q' ELEV. ELEV.

Golf Course EX Double Curb Inlet

(17K4-111D) 586.87 586.87 7.49 1.15 8.61 0.12 593.17 593.05 588.87 591.47 589.47 593.17

RCP 8.61 28 0.0250 24 3.14 35.77 2.74 0.12 0.001 0.04 0.24

East + 

West 

Streets & 

Residential

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-110D) 586.17 586.17 12.60 2.03 25.58 1.81 593.01 591.20 588.17 591.57 588.65 593.01 590.65

RCP 34.19 57 0.0281 24 3.14 37.90 10.88 1.84 0.023 1.30 0.90

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-044D) 584.57 584.57 0.00 0.55 589.90 589.34 586.57 591.17 588.25 589.90 590.25

RCP 34.19 145 0.0185 24 3.14 30.76 10.88 1.84 0.023 3.31 1.11

EX Grated Inlet

(17K4-061D) 581.89 581.89 0.00 1.29 586.03 584.75 583.89 585.89 583.89 586.03 585.89

RCP 34.19 145 0.0267 24 3.14 36.96 10.88 1.84 0.023 3.31 1.41 0.93

EX Single Curb Inlet

(17K4-063D) 578.02 578.02 580.02 * 580.02 584.32 581.40 583.40

* Hydraulic Gradeline (HGL) assumed to be top of pipe at this location.

Highlighted values shows where HGL exceeds allowable elevation.   Actual HGL may be higher if modeling of downstream system

These simplified calculations do not account for HGL elevation after   shows that backwater propogates thru this structure.

water surcharges and spreads out, and are instead only intended to

show that the exisitng system does not meet MSD requirements

Driveway Drain 586.10 (i.e. HGL > Max Allowable Elev). Apprx HGL of storm main at driveway drain = 587.69 587.10

HGL exceeds driveway drain sill, meaning water flows out of MSD system through driveway drain.

P:\Residence\2020011933\calc\20201019_HandH_Options8444OldBonhomme.xlsx Ex_HGL_2   1 of 1

K - 5 - 15



8444 Old Bonhomme

Reitz & Jens, Inc. Table 3. Calculations for Hydraulic Gradeline and Pipe Sizing Blue text is from MSD facilities mapping

Existing Conditions (15-year, 20-minute storm) Orange text is approximate based on LiDAR

RCP  n = 0.013 (MSD HYDRAULIC FORMULAS WERE USED) Purple text is based on apprx field-measure depth from LiDAR ground elev

   HYDRAULIC

   GRADELINE

STRUCTURES HEAD LOSSES    ELEVATIONS US

GIS INVERT ELEV. TRIB. TOTAL DESIGN PIPE PIPE PIPE VELOCITY V^2/2g HYDRAULIC FRICTION CURVE MANHOLES IN OUT TOP OF TOP OF MAX. PERCENT MH HGL

Drainage STRUCTURE IN OUT AREA P.I. Q FLOW LENGTH SLOPE DIA. AREA CAPACITY DES. FLOW DES. FLOW SLOPE AND INLETS PIPE STRUC ALLOW. DISCHARGE IN SILL

Area ID ID Ft. Ft. Ac. cfs/Ac. cfs (Qt) cfs Ft. (S) Ft./Ft. (D) In. Sq. Ft. (Q') cfs (V) Ft./Sec. Ft. (Hs) Ft./Ft. Ft. Ft. Ft. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. Qt/Q' ELEV. ELEV.

Golf Course EX Double Curb Inlet

(17K4-111D) 586.87 586.87 7.49 1.70 12.73 0.25 607.75 607.49 588.87 591.47 589.47 607.75

RCP 12.73 28 0.0250 24 3.14 35.77 4.05 0.25 0.003 0.09 0.36

East + 

West 

Streets & 

Residential

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-110D) 586.17 586.17 12.60 3.00 37.80 3.96 607.40 603.44 588.17 591.57 588.65 607.40 590.65

RCP 50.53 57 0.0281 24 3.14 37.90 16.08 4.02 0.050 2.84 1.33

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-044D) 584.57 584.57 0.00 1.21 600.59 599.39 586.57 591.17 588.25 600.59 590.25

RCP 50.53 145 0.0185 24 3.14 30.76 16.08 4.02 0.050 7.23 1.64

EX Grated Inlet

(17K4-061D) 581.89 581.89 0.00 2.81 592.16 589.34 583.89 585.89 583.89 592.16 585.89

RCP 50.53 145 0.0267 24 3.14 36.96 16.08 4.02 0.050 7.23 2.09 1.37

EX Single Curb Inlet

(17K4-063D) 578.02 578.02 580.02 * 580.02 584.32 581.40 583.40

*Triple Curb Inlet * Hydraulic Gradeline (HGL) assumed to be top of pipe at this location.

Highlighted values shows where HGL exceeds allowable elevation.   Actual HGL may be higher if modeling of downstream system

These simplified calculations do not account for HGL elevation after   shows that backwater propogates thru this structure.

water surcharges and spreads out, and are instead only intended to

show that the exisitng system does not meet MSD requirements

Driveway Drain 586.10 (i.e. HGL > Max Allowable Elev). Apprx HGL of storm main at driveway drain = 595.77 587.10

HGL exceeds driveway drain sill, meaning water flows out of MSD system through driveway drain.

P:\Residence\2020011933\calc\20201019_HandH_Options8444OldBonhomme.xlsx Ex_HGL_15   1 of 1

K - 5 - 16



8444 Old Bonhomme

Reitz & Jens, Inc. Table 4. Calculations for Hydraulic Gradeline and Pipe Sizing Blue text is from MSD facilities mapping

Proposed Conditions (15-year, 20-minute storm) Orange text is based on LiDAR

RCP  n = 0.013 (MSD HYDRAULIC FORMULAS WERE USED) Purple text is based on apprx field-measure depth from LiDAR ground elev

Green text is concept-level proposed sizing

   HYDRAULIC

   GRADELINE

STRUCTURES HEAD LOSSES    ELEVATIONS US

GIS INVERT ELEV. TRIB. TOTAL DESIGN PIPE PIPE PIPE VELOCITY V^2/2g HYDRAULIC FRICTION CURVE MANHOLES IN OUT TOP OF TOP OF MAX. PERCENT

Drainage STRUCTURE IN OUT AREA P.I. Q FLOW LENGTH SLOPE DIA. AREA CAPACITY DES. FLOW DES. FLOW SLOPE AND INLETS PIPE STRUC ALLOW. DISCHARGE SILL

Area ID ID Ft. Ft. Ac. cfs/Ac. cfs (Qt) cfs Ft. (S) Ft./Ft. (D) In. Sq. Ft. (Q') cfs (V) Ft./Sec. Ft. (Hs) Ft./Ft. Ft. Ft. Ft. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. ELEV. Qt/Q' ELEV.

Golf Course EX Double Curb Inlet

(17K4-111D) 586.87 586.87 7.49 1.70 12.73 0.25 588.98 588.73 588.87 591.47 589.47

RCP 12.73 28 0.0250 24 3.14 35.77 4.05 0.25 0.003 0.09 0.36

East + 

West 

Streets & 

Residential

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-110D) 586.17 586.17 12.60 3.00 37.80 0.74 588.64 587.90 588.17 591.57 588.65 590.65

RCP 50.53 57 0.0281 36 7.07 111.75 7.15 0.79 0.006 0.33 0.45

EX Triple Curb Inlet

(17K4-044D) 584.57 584.57 0.00 0.24 587.57 586.18 587.57 591.17 588.25 590.25

RCP 50.53 145 0.0185 36 7.07 90.68 7.15 0.79 0.006 0.83 0.56

EX Grated Inlet

(17K4-061D) 581.89 581.89 0.00 0.56 584.89 583.32 584.89 585.89 583.89 585.89

RCP 50.53 145 0.0267 36 7.07 108.96 7.15 0.79 0.006 0.83 0.93 0.46

EX Single Curb Inlet

(17K4-063D) 578.02 578.02 581.02 * 581.02 584.32 581.40 583.40

* Hydraulic Gradeline (HGL) assumed to be top of pipe at this location.

Using 36 inch pipes keeps water from surcharging out of curb inlets,   Actual HGL may be higher if modeling of downstream system

which would significantly reduce flooding and meet the spirit of the MSD requirements.   shows that backwater propogates thru this structure.
Additional changes (larger pipe or deeper structures) may be needed 

to strictly meet MSD HGL requirements at 17K4-110D).

Driveway Drain 586.10 Apprx HGL of storm main at driveway drain = 585.53 587.10

Proposed improvements lower the HGL to below the driveway drain sill.

P:\Residence\2020011933\calc\20201019_HandH_Options8444OldBonhomme.xlsx Pr_HGL_15   1 of 1

K - 5 - 17



8444 Old Bonhomme Table 5. Potential Courses of Action
Reitz & Jens, Inc.

Potential Course of 

Action Cost* Additional factors

Basement and garage continue to flood.

Talk with home insurance broker about getting flood 

insurance.

Consider parking cars on the street.  Add reinforcement to 

interior door inside the garage (katy-bar). Elevate or 

remove personal items from garage and basement.

Hire structural engineer to provide assessment of the 

degree and type of reinforcement or replacement is needed 

for the exterior and interior garage walls to handle 

occasional hydrostatic loading from 3 feet of flooding.

Consider adding flood-control panels to garage door and/or 

interior door inside the garage.  These are typically for 

commercial-use only, but manufacturer could be consulted 

for applicability to your situation.  This would likely hinder 

practical daily use of the garage for parking cars.

Design and build permanent wall across garage entrance 

and fill sump.  Build external car port or garage at street 

grade.

Fill must be sufficiently high that surcharging sewers and 

street ponding will flow down Alanson Drive until peak of 

storm passes.

Significantly reduce the frequency of garage flooding, 

though  infrequently occurring large storms that exceed 

MSD's design capacity would continue to create flooding in 

the garages.

The system between the golf course and Alanson Drive will 

likely require removal and replacement at a high cost. MSD 

may determine that additional portions of the downstream 

system (currently 24-inch diameter) will also require 

replacement.

Private amenities along the path of excavation would 

require removal and replacement (driveway paving and 

fences), and some tree removal. 

*This limited study did not include detailed cost estimates, so the costs shown here should be used 

for order-of-magnitude understanding only.

ModerateDo nothing to main 

stormwater handling 

system, and gain greater 

utility of the garage.

Do nothing to main 

stormwater handling 

system, and reduce the 

utility of the garage.

Minimum

Do nothing to main 

stormwater handling 

system, abandon 

garage, and build new 

garage.

Moderate

Upgrade existing central 

stormwater system to a 

larger size that meets 

MSD design standards.

High

(apprx. 

$150,000)

K - 5 - 18



8444 Old Bonhomme Rd. Stormwater Study   
October 30, 2020 

 
  Appendix II  Page 1 
 
Geotechnical Engineering �  Water Resources �  Construction Engineering Quality Control �  Environmental Restoration & Permitting 

 
 

APPENDIX II 
 

PHOTOS 

K - 5 - 19



 

  Page 2 

 
Figure 1 - 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm Old Bonhomme Road Looking South 

 
Figure 2 - 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm Old Bonhomme Road Looking South 

K - 5 - 20



 

  Page 3 

 
Figure 3 - 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm 8436 Garage 

 
Figure 4 - 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm 8436 Garage 

K - 5 - 21



 

  Page 4 

 
Figure 5- 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm Overland Flow downhill of garages 

(940 Alanson in foreground; 932 Alanson in background) 

 
Figure 6 - 5/27/2009 Mid-Storm Old Bonhomme Road Looking North 

K - 5 - 22



 

  Page 5 

 
Figure 7 - 7/22/2019 Post-Storm 8444 Flooded Car 

 
Figure 8 - 7/22/2019 Post-Storm 8444 Garage 

K - 5 - 23



Page 6 

Figure 9 - 8/9/2020 Post-Storm 8444 Garage 

Figure 10 - 8/9/2020 Post-Storm 8444 Garage 

K - 5 - 24



K - 6 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 
 
October 26, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Application for Conditional Use Permit CUP 22-11 – The proposed use is to 

allow an 8.5% reduction in the number of required parking spaces as required 
by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on October 26, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via 
videoconference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by 
U-City, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit to allow an 8.5% reduction in the number of 
required parking spaces as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance for 
Lot A of the Market at Olive, Plat 4 development. By a vote of 7 for and 0 against, the 
Plan Commission recommended approval of the application. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

K - 6 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
MEETING DATE:   November 14, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   CUP-22-11 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Applicant: U. City, LLC 
Location: Lot A, Market at Olive North, Plat 4 
 
Request: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow an 8.5% 

reduction in the number of required parking spaces as 
required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning 
Ordinance  

 
Existing Zoning: SR – Single-Family Residential / GC – General 

Commercial District (Currently requesting to rezone to 
PD-C Planned Development Commercial District) 

Existing Land Use:   Vacant, empty commercial building and houses 
Proposed Land Use: Restaurant with drive thru 
 
Surrounding Zoning: 
North:     SR – Single-Family Residential 
East: SR – Single-Family Residential / 

GC – General Commercial District 
South:     PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
West:      PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[ X ] Approval  [  ] Approval with Conditions in Resolution  [  ] Denial 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No  [ X ] No reference 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Application for Conditional Use Permit 
B. Applicant Memo 
C. Area Map 
D. Site Plan 

 
K - 6 - 3



CUP 22-11   
Page 2 

 
Applicant’s Request – Parking Reduction 
The Applicant is requesting approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow for a 
reduction in the number of required parking spaces for the site. On September 28, 
2022, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the site’s rezoning from 
General Commercial (GC) to Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C).  
 
As noted in the Applicant Memo (attached), a 4,930 square foot restaurant with drive 
thru (Chick-fil-A), is proposed for Lot A of Phase IV of the Market at Olive development. 
If these uses were parked according to §400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance, 65.73 
spaces would be required. However, two provisions in the code allow for parking 
reduction. The first allows developments within 500 feet of a public transit station or stop 
to be reduced by 10%, which reduces the required parking to 59.16. The second 
provision allows developments, by CUP approval, the ability to reduce parking by up to 
20% with evidence supporting the appropriateness of the reduction.  
 
Given shifting trends in fast food restaurants to more drive thru than indoor dining 
service, the proposed 8.5% reduction from 59 spaces to 54 spaces is appropriate. The 
development plan provides 59 drive thru stacking spaces, far more than is required per 
code for drive thru restaurants. The applicant is not requesting any other deviations 
from the code as part of the CUP. 
 
Existing Property 
The existing property where the restaurant is proposed is along Olive Boulevard where 
the western part of Jeffrey Plaza was located. There will be only two out lots in Phase IV 
of the Market at Olive development: one at the corner of Woodson Road and Olive 
Boulevard, and the subject parcel immediately to the west. A larger parcel to the north 
of these out lots is intended for “anchor” retail and has not yet been rezoned for that 
use. 
 
The development of the Chick-fil-A restaurant is part of the larger “Market at Olive” 
redevelopment project that is currently underway and is consistent with the overall site 
concept plan.  
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on October 26, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Lot A of the Market at 
Olive, Plat 4 development, to allow an 8.5% reduction in the number of required parking 
spaces as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance, from 59 to 54 
spaces. 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff is of the opinion that the requested parking reduction is appropriate and justified. 
Staff is recommending approval of the Conditional Use Permit to reduce the number of 
required off-street parking spaces, as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, for Lot A of Phase IV of the Market at Olive development, from 59 to 54, a 
reduction of 8.5%. 
 
 K - 6 - 4



CUP 22-11   
Page 3 

 
The site plan for the restaurant, including the location of the parking spaces, can be 
found in the material for the Chick-Fil-A Final Development Plan, next on the Plan 
Commission agenda. 
 

K - 6 - 5



 

257 Chesterfield Business Parkway, St. Louis, MO 63005 
636.530.9100 – Main | 636.530.9130 – Fax 

www.stockassoc.com | general@stockassoc.com 

 
 
 October 5, 2022 
 
To:  University City Plan Commission  
 26801 Delmar Boulevard 
 University City, MO 63130  
 
Attention: Mr. John Wagner, Ph.D., Director of Planning and Development 
From:  Ms. Alison Gauch, P.E.  
 
 
Re:  Market at Olive Plat 4 Lot A (Chick-Fil-A)- Conditional Use Permit Application, Off-Street 

(Stock Project No. 217-6193) 
 
On behalf of U-City LLC enclosed is a conditional use permit application for Lot A of Market at Olive 
Plat 4. Lot A is to be developed into a 4,930 square foot Chick-Fil-A restaurant with drive thru. A 
zoning map amendment to Planned Development- Commercial (PD-C) has been applied for and 
recommended for approval by the Plan Commission on September 28, 2022. Based on my reading of 
the Zoning Code, there is no specific use listed in Article VII that matches exactly the proposed use for 
lot A. It seems to fall under the restaurant category, but that doesn’t take into account that its business 
will be primarily drive thru and that they have provided significantly more room for drive thru stacking 
than required. 
 
Based on the restaurant requirements of 1 space for every 75 square feet of restaurant and the 10% 
reduction for nearby transit, this building will require 59 spaces. The proposed plan provides 54 spaces. 
Other than the requested amendment to off-street parking, the proposed plan for the building on lot A 
will comply with the PD-C zoning.  
 
The condition use permit application is to request approval of a reduction to 54 required parking stalls. 
The proposed design layout takes into consideration the known user’s building layout and drive-
through configuration, which is driven by market demand for less indoor dining and more drive thru 
option. 

 
If you should have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me via email at 
alison.gauch@stockassoc.com  or by phone at (636) 530-9100 with any questions. 

 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
Alison Gauch 
 
Alison Gauch, P.E.  

K - 6 - 6

mailto:alison.gauch@stockassoc.com


K - 6 - 7



K - 6 - 8



12

15 10

8
8

5

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

DRIVE

THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE

THRU

4

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

SITE PLAN

C4.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

FI
N

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

 F
O

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

4.
0 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
  P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 0
4,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:4
7p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

K - 6 - 9



K - 6 - 10



K - 7 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 
 
August 24, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Application for Conditional Use Permit CUP 22-12 – The proposed use is to 

allow a 16.2% reduction in the number of required parking spaces as required 
by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on October 26, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via 
videoconference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by 
U-City, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit to allow a 16.2% reduction in the number of 
required parking spaces as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance for 
Lot B of the Market at Olive, Plat 4 development. By a vote of 7 for and 0 against, the 
Plan Commission recommended approval of the application. 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

K - 7 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
MEETING DATE:   November 14, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   CUP-22-12 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Applicant: U. City, LLC 
Location: Lot B, Market at Olive North (Phase IV) 
 
Request: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a 16.2% 

reduction in the number of required parking spaces as 
required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning 
Ordinance  

 
Existing Zoning: SR – Single-Family Residential / GC – General 

Commercial District (Concurrently requesting to 
rezone to PD-C – Planned Development Commercial 
District) 

Existing Land Use: Vacant, empty commercial building and houses 
Proposed Land Use: Retail & restaurant with drive thru 
 
Surrounding Zoning: 
North:     SR – Single-Family Residential 
East: SR – Single-Family Residential / 

GC – General Commercial District 
South:     PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
West: SR – Single-Family Residential /  

GC – General Commercial District 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[ X ] Approval  [  ] Approval with Conditions in Resolution  [  ] Denial 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No  [ X ] No reference 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Application for Conditional Use Permit 
B. Applicant Memo 
C. Site Plan 

K - 7 - 3



CUP 22-12  
Page 2 

 
Applicant’s Request – Parking Reduction 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow for a 
reduction in the number of required parking spaces for the site. The applicant is also 
concurrently applying for a Zoning Map Amendment for the subject property, to rezone 
from General Commercial (GC) to Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C).  
 
As noted in the Applicant Memo (attached), a 7,700 square foot multi-tenant building 
with 5,200 square feet of restaurant space, including a drive thru on the east end cap, 
and 2,500 square feet of retail space, is proposed for Lot B of Phase IV of the Market at 
Olive development. If these uses were parked according to §400.2140 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, 82 spaces would be required. However, two provisions in the code allow for 
parking reduction. The first allows developments within 500 feet of a public transit 
station or stop to be reduced by 10%, which reduces the required parking to 74. The 
second provision allows developments, by CUP approval, the ability to reduce parking 
by up to 20% with evidence supporting the appropriateness of the reduction, which 
would allow parking to be reduced to as little as 59 spaces for the site. The applicant is 
proposing 62 parking spaces, a reduction of 16.2%. 
 
Given shifting trends in fast food restaurants to more drive thru than indoor dining 
service, the proposed parking reduction is appropriate. The development plan provides 
significantly more drive thru stacking spaces than is required per code. The applicant is 
not requesting any other deviations from the code as part of the CUP. 
 
Existing Property 
The existing property where the restaurant is proposed is along Olive Boulevard where 
the eastern part of Jeffrey Plaza was located. There will be only two out lots in Phase IV 
of the Market at Olive development: the subject parcel at the corner of Woodson Road 
and Olive Boulevard, and the parcel immediately to the west, which will be developed 
into a Chick-fil-A restaurant. A larger parcel to the north of these out lots is intended for 
“anchor” retail and has not yet been rezoned for that use. 
The multi-tenant building is part of the larger “Market at Olive” redevelopment that is 
currently underway and is consistent with the overall site concept plan.  
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on October 26, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Lot B of the Market at 
Olive, Plat 4 development, to allow a 16.2% reduction in the number of required parking 
spaces as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning Ordinance, from 74 to 62 
spaces.  

Staff Recommendation 
Staff is of the opinion that the requested parking reduction is appropriate and justified. 
Staff is recommending approval of the Conditional Use Permit to reduce the number of 
required off-street parking spaces, as required by Section 400.2140 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, for Lot B of Phase IV of the Market at Olive development, from 74 to 62 
spaces, a reduction of 16.2%. 

K - 7 - 4



 

257 Chesterfield Business Parkway, St. Louis, MO 63005 
636.530.9100 – Main | 636.530.9130 – Fax 

www.stockassoc.com | general@stockassoc.com 

 
 
 October 5, 2022 
 
To:  University City Plan Commission  
 26801 Delmar Boulevard 
 University City, MO 63130  
 
Attention: Mr. John Wagner, Ph.D., Director of Planning and Development 
From:  Ms. Alison Gauch, P.E.  
 
 
Re:  Market at Olive Plat 4 Lot B (Multi-Tenant Restaurant/Retail)- Conditional Use Permit 

Application, Off-Street (Stock Project No. 217-6193) 
 
On behalf of U-City LLC enclosed is a conditional use permit application for Lot B of Market at Olive 
Plat 4. Lot B is to be developed into a 7,700 square foot Multi-tenant building with a drive-thru on the 
east endcap and assuming one other restaurant tenant on the west end and retail in the center. A zoning 
map amendment to Planned Development- Commercial (PD-C) is being applied for concurrently with 
this application. Based on my reading of the Zoning Code, there is no specific use listed in Article VII 
that matches exactly the proposed use for lot A. The endcap user seems to fall under the restaurant 
category, but that doesn’t take into account that its business will be primarily drive thru and that we are 
providing significantly more room for drive thru stacking than required. 
 
Based on the restaurant requirements of 1 space for every 75 square feet of restaurant, retail requirement 
of 1 space for every 200 square feet, and the 10% reduction for nearby transit, this building will require 
74 spaces. The proposed plan provides 62 spaces. Other than the requested amendment to off-street 
parking, the proposed plan for the building on lot A will comply with the PD-C zoning.  
 
The conditional use permit application is to request approval of a reduction to 62 required parking 
stalls. The proposed design layout takes into consideration a drive-through configuration with 
significant stacking room for the known end-cap user, which is driven by market demand for less indoor 
dining and more drive thru option. 

 
If you should have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me via email at 
alison.gauch@stockassoc.com  or by phone at (636) 530-9100 with any questions. 

 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
Alison Gauch 
 
Alison Gauch, P.E.  

K - 7 - 5

mailto:alison.gauch@stockassoc.com


K - 7 - 6



K - 7 - 7



+/- 7,700 SQ. FT.
63 PARKING
STALLS

BLDG E

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

SITE &
GRADING PLAN

C5.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 L

O
T 

B 
C

5.
0 

G
R

AD
IN

G
 (2

)  
PL

O
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 0
4,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:5
1p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

K - 7 - 8



K - 8 - 1 



  

 
 
September 28, 2022 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
RE: Application for Conditional Use Permit CUP 22-08 – The proposed use is to 

allow a gasoline station and convenience store at 7360 Forsyth Boulevard in the 
“GC” General Commercial District. 

Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on September 28, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via 
videoconference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by 
Wallis Companies for a Conditional Use Permit to allow a gasoline station and 
convenience store at 7360 Forsyth Boulevard in the “GC” General Commercial District. 

By a vote of 4 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the 
application subject to the following conditions: 

1. The Convenience Store portion of the building shall comprise no more than 3,500 
square-feet in gross floor area of the building, as required by the Zoning 
Ordinance’s definition of “Convenience Store:” 

2. Parking shall be provided as required by §400.2140, Schedule of Off-Street 
Parking Spaces.  

3. The Applicant shall maintain the existing masonry wall with a railing along the 
rear property line to provide a buffer to the residences behind the store. 

4. The Applicant shall maintain a site coverage of 75% in lieu of the 70% required 
by the §400.520(D). 

5. Changes to signage on the site and building, if different than that proposed in the 
application materials, shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission and a 
recommendation made to the City Council.  

 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

K - 8 - 2 



 

Department of Planning and Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8500, Fax: (314) 862-3168 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   November 14, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   CUP 22-08 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  1 
 
Applicant: Wallis Companies  
 
Location: 7360 Forsyth Boulevard 
 
Property Owner: Wallis Companies, dba Wallis Petroleum, LC. 
 
Request: Conditional Use Permit (C.U.P.) to allow a gasoline 

station and convenience store at 7360 Forsyth 
Boulevard in the “GC” General Commercial District. 

  
Existing Zoning:   GC – General Commercial District 
Existing Land Use:   Gasoline Station, Vehicle repair and Service facility. 
Proposed Zoning:   No Change 
Proposed Land Use:  Gasoline Station and Convenience Store 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Current Land Use: 
North:     GC – General Commercial District 
East:      GC – General Commercial District 
South:     SR – Single-family Residential District 
West:      GC – General Commercial District  
    
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[ ] Approval       [X] Approval with Conditions   [ ] Denial 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No  [ x ] No reference 
Attachments: 

A. Application for Conditional Use Permit 
B. C.U.P. Applicant Memo 
C. Site Development Plan 

K - 8 - 3 



C.U.P. 22-08 
Page 2  

D. Existing and Proposed Elevations 
E. Proposed Floor Plan 

 
Applicant’s Request  
The applicant is requesting Conditional Use Permit to convert the existing gasoline and 
vehicle service station into a gasoline station and a convenience store. The existing 
building will remain intact, although the exterior elevation will change, as noted in the 
Applicant’s submittal. 

The proposed site development plan meets the GC – General Commercial District 
requirements, except for two (2) items, and it has been requested that these be 
incorporated into the Conditional use Permit.  

1. Section 400.1190(A)  

Screening Between Non-Residential and Residential Zoning Districts: 
“In situations where a non-residential use is established abutting or adjacent to 
residentially-zoned property, the developer of the non-residential use shall provide the 
[following] screening within the required rear and/or side yard building setback areas.”  

As noted in the Applicant Memo, there is a 20-foot elevation change between the site and 
the houses in the store. Screening would be impractical. Instead, the Applicant will 
maintain the existing masonry wall with a railing along the rear property line.  

2. Section 400.520(D)  

Maximum Site Coverage.  
“For developments encompassing twenty thousand (20,000) square-feet or more of land 
area, site coverage shall not exceed seventy percent (70%). Site coverage may be 
increased by a factor of one to ten percent (1% - 10%), under the conditional use permit 
procedures contained in Article XI, "Conditional Uses.”  

The Applicant is requesting to maintain a site coverage of 75% in lieu of the 70% required 
by the §400.520(D), an increase of 5%. 

Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on September 28, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a gasoline station and 
convenience store at 7360 Forsyth Boulevard in the “GC” General Commercial District. 
The Plan Commission added one condition to those recommended by Staff, as noted in 
the red text in the conditions listed below. 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff is of the opinion that the proposed use to allow a gasoline station and convenience 
store at the existing gasoline and vehicle repair and service facility would have minimal 
impact on the surrounding properties and streets adjacent to the Development. 

K - 8 - 4 



C.U.P. 22-08 
Page 3  

Staff is recommending approval of the request for a Conditional Use Permit: 
 

1. The Convenience Store portion of the building shall comprise no more than 3,500 
square-feet in gross floor area of the building, as required by the Zoning 
Ordinance’s definition of “Convenience Store:” 

2. Parking shall be provided as required by §400.2140, Schedule of Off-Street 
Parking Spaces. (Note: The site development plan shows more than the requisite 
number of parking spaces.) 

3. The Applicant shall maintain the existing masonry wall with a railing along the 
rear property line to provide a buffer to the residences behind the store. 

4. The Applicant shall maintain a site coverage of 75% in lieu of the 70% required 
by the §400.520(D). 

5. Changes to signage on the site and building, if different than that proposed in the 
application materials, shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission and a 
recommendation made to the City Council.  

K - 8 - 5 



K - 8 - 6 



K - 8 - 7 



K - 8 - 8 



K - 8 - 9 



K - 8 - 10 



K - 8 - 11 



FOREST PARK PKWY

FORSYTH

RAMP (F
OREST PARK PKWY)

ZONING: (SR) SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

ZONING: (GC) GENERAL

COMMERCIAL

ZONING: (GC) GENERAL
COMMERCIAL

BLAND D
R

ZONING: (LR) LIMITED RESIDENTIAL

ZONING: (GC) GENERAL
COMMERCIAL

EXISTING STRUCTURE (4,300 SF)
 C-STORE  @ 2,980 SF

GAS Station @ 1,320 SF (hatched in orange)

EXISTING BUILDING WALL PACKS (THIS SIDE)
TO BE REPLACED WITH DOWNCAST LIGHTING
TO SHIELD ADJACENT APARTMENTS

PROPOSED 6' TALL WOOD/WOOD-LIKE PRIVACY FENCE WITH 6' WIDE GATE

PROPOSED 6' TALL MASONRY TRASH ENCLOSURE WITH METAL
SIGHT-PROOF GATE TO ABUT EXISTING MASONRY RETAINING WALL) .

EXISTING LIGHT FIXTURE HEADS TO BE REPLACED (TYP).

EXISTING LIGHT FIXTURE HEADS TO BE REPLACED (TYP).

LANDSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS

7360 FORSYTH BLVD
 0.67 ACRES (28,981 SQ.FT.)

REFERENCE

PARKING CALCULATIONS

·

·

DATE: DWG SCALE:

DRAWN BY: CHECKED BY: APPROVED BY:

PROJECT NO:

SHEET OF

DRAWING NO.:

ON THE RUN RE-BRANDING
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT PLAN

305-666.20321"=10'AUGUST 2022
CAN KTK KTK*

1 3

SP01

NORTH

8

A

B

34567 12

C

D

E

F

G

H

8 34567 12

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

WALLIS COMPANIES
7360 FORSYTH BLVD.
ST. LOUIS, MO  63105

UNIVERSITY CITY

3000 Little Hills Expressway  ·  Suite 102  ·  St. Charles, MO  63301
Ph: 314.656.4566 · 866.250.3679 · Fax: 314.656.4595

www.cecinc.com

*HAND SIGNATURE ON FILE

K - 8 - 12 

kkamp
Stamp



K - 8 - 13 



K - 8 - 14 



L - 1 - 1



Page 1 of 1 

INTRODUCED BY: Councilmember Steve McMahon  DATE:   October 24, 2022 
 
BILL NO:   9489        ORDINANCE NO. 7206 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE VII OF THE TRAFFIC 
CODE, TO REVISE TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. Schedule VII of the Traffic Code, of the University City Municipal Code is amended 
as provided herein. Language to be added to the Code is represented as highlighted. This 
Ordinance contemplates no revisions to the Code other than those so designated; any 
language or provisions from the Code omitted from this Ordinance remains in full force and 
effect.  
 
Section 2. Schedule VII Stop Intersections, Table VII-A Stop Intersections” of the Traffic Code 
is hereby amended to add the following line item: 
 
Stop Street   Cross Street    Stops 
Melrose Avenue  Mt. Vernon Avenue   All Way 
Wellington Avenue  Mt. Vernon Avenue   All Way 
 
Section 3. This ordinance shall not be construed so as to relieve any person, firm or 
corporation from any penalty heretofore incurred by the violation of the sections revised by this 
amendment nor bar the prosecution for any such violation. 
 
Section 4. Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be punished in accordance with the provisions of the University City Municipal Code. 
 
Section 5.  This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 

 
PASSED and ADOPTED this 14th day of November, 2022 
 

___________________________________ 
     MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
 CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
 CITY ATTORNEY 

L - 1 - 2



L - 2 - 1



  

 
 
September 28, 2022 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
RE: Zoning Map Amendment – Lot A and Common Ground, Market at Olive North (IV) 

Dear Ms. Reese, 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on September 28, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via 
videoconference, the Plan Commission considered the application of U. City, LLC for a 
Zoning Map Amendment for Lot A and Common Ground, Market at Olive North, Plat 4, 
and to further consider approval of a Preliminary Development Plan.  
By a vote of 4 to 0, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Zoning Map 
Amendment and Preliminary Development Plan with the following conditions: 

1. The use associated with this development shall be for a restaurant, including drive-
through facilities. 

2. Off-street parking and loading requirements shall be provided as required by a 
Conditional Use Permit for the site lowering the number of parking spaces from 59 
to 54. 

3. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed and maintained in 
compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general layout 
are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022 and the Landscape Plan dated 
September 2, 2022. The height and mass shall be restricted to that shown on the 
Final Development Plan and in the Building Elevations included with this report. 

4. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to the 
Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth details 
pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the proposed 
construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property maintenance issues 
such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan shall be finalized prior to the 
issuance of a building permit. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to obtain those 
approvals in written form in a timely manner prior to issuance of the building permit. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

L - 2 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   October 24, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   REZ 22-07 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Applicant: U. City, LLC 
 
Location: Lot A and Common Ground, Market at Olive North (IV) 
 
Request: A Zoning Map Amendment from Planned 

Development Commercial District (PD-C), General 
Commercial District (GC) and Single-family 
Residential District (SR), to Planned Development 
Commercial District (PD-C) and to further consider 
approval of a Preliminary Site Development Plan and 
Final Site Development Plan for the proposed 
commercial development. 

 
Existing Zoning: Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C), 

General Commercial District (GC) and Single-family 
Residential District (SR)  

Proposed Zoning:   Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C) 
Existing Land Use:   Vacant, empty commercial building and houses 
Proposed Land Use: Restaurant 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use 
North:     IC – Industrial Commercial   
East: SR – Single-family Residential / GC – General 

Commercial District 
South:     PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
West:      PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[ x ] Yes [  ] No  [  ] No reference 
 
PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
[  ] Approval  [x ] Approval with Conditions in Resolution [  ] Denial 
 
 

L - 2 - 3



ATTACHMENTS 
A. Map Amendment Application  
B. Preliminary and Final Site Development Plan 
C. Landscape Plan – Olive Frontage 
D. Landscape Plan – Restaurant Site 
E. Site Lighting Cut Sheets 
F. Site Photometric Plan 
G. Building Elevations 

 
 
Applicant’s Request 
The Applicant is requesting that the site be rezoned from Planned Development 
Commercial District (PD-C), General Commercial District (GC) and Single-family 
Residential District (SR), to Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C) and to 
further consider approval of a Preliminary Site Development Plan and Final Site 
Development Plan for the proposed commercial development. 
 
The rezoning covers only one of the “out lots” of the Market at Olive Phase IV 
development, specifically for a Chick-Fil-A restaurant.  
 
Existing Property 
The existing property where the restaurant is proposed is along Olive Boulevard where 
the western part of Jeffrey Plaza was located. There will be only two out lots in Phase IV 
of the Market at Olive development: one at the corner of Woodson Road and Olive 
Boulevard, and this parcel immediately to the west. A larger anchor parcel is proposed 
to the north of these out lots.  
 
The development of this restaurant is part of the larger “Market at Olive” redevelopment 
project that is currently underway and is consistent with the overall site concept plan.  
 
Analysis 
Vehicular Access 
There is one (1) proposed entry point into the development off the inner drive aisle. Two 
exit points are listed: the same entry way as well as an exit from the drive through lanes. 
As is the case on most new Chick-Fil-A locations, a double drive-through lane is 
proposed. 
 
Comprehensive Plan 
It is staff’s opinion that the proposed development is consistent with the goals and 
objectives of the University City Comprehensive Plan Update of 2005. Applicable 
sections from the Plan Update that support this opinion include: 

Chapter 3, of the Comprehensive Plan Update of 2005, under Land Use and 
Redevelopment, as a general policy, states, “The City will strongly support 
development(s) that promote desirable planning concepts such as neighborhood-
serving, mixed uses and transit-oriented development and enhance the pedestrian 

L - 2 - 4



character of the City.” The Comprehensive Plan also indicates that the City “will 
encourage the design of commercial and retail structures along major corridors for 
multiple tenants and mixed uses.” 
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on September 28, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously (4 – 0) to approve the map Amendment for Lot A and Common Ground, 
Market at Olive North, Plat IV from Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C), 
General Commercial District (GC) and Single-family Residential District (SR), to 
Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C). The Commission also voted 
unanimously to approve a Preliminary Site Development Plan for the site. 

There were primarily two issues with the Applicant’s proposal:  
1. The site was one parking stall shy of the required number of spaces required by 

the Zoning Ordinance. The plan showed 58 spaces where 59 are required. The 
Applicant opted to not ask for approval of the Final Development Plan at this 
meeting in lieu of requesting a Conditional Use Permit to lower the number of 
parking spaces required. That request is on the October 26 Plan Commission 
agenda. This has been noted in the recommendations below.  

 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
Based on this report’s analysis Staff recommends approval of the Applicant’s proposed 
Map Amendment and Preliminary Site Development Plan with the following conditions: 
 

1. The use associated with this development shall be for a restaurant, including 
drive-through facilities; and  

2. Off-street parking and loading requirements shall be provided as required by a 
Conditional Use Permit for the site lowering the number of parking spaces from 
59 to 54. 

3. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed and maintained in 
compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general 
layout are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022 and the Landscape Plan 
dated September 2, 2022. The height and mass shall be restricted to that shown 
on the Final Development Plan and in the Building Elevations included with this 
report. 

4. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to the 
Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth details 
pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the proposed 
construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property maintenance issues 
such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan shall be finalized prior to 
the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to 
obtain those approvals in written form in a timely manner prior to issuance of the 
building permit. 

 

L - 2 - 5



L - 2 - 6



INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO. 9490          ORDINANCE NO.__________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.070 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 
THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING MAP, BY AMENDING SAID MAP SO AS TO CHANGE THE 
CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY KNOWN AS LOT A AND COMMON GROUND 2 
OF PLAT 4 OF THE MARKET AT OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, FROM “PD” PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, “GC” GENERAL COMMERCIAL AND 
“SR” SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “PD” PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (“PD-C”). 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 400 of the University City Municipal Code divides the City into 
several zoning districts, and regulates the character of buildings which may be erected in each of 
said districts, and the uses to which the buildings and premises located therein may be put; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission examined an amendment of the Official Zoning 
Map of the City which changes the classification of property known as Lot A and Common 
Ground 2 associated with the Market at Olive Development, Plat 4, from Planned Development 
Commercial District (PD-C), General Commercial District (GC) and Single-family Residential 
District (SR), to Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission, in a meeting held via video conference on 
September 28, 2022, considered said amendment and recommended to the City Council that it be 
enacted into an ordinance; and 
 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing to be held by the City Council in the City 
Council Chambers at City Hall at 6:30 p.m., on November 14, 2022, was duly published in the 
St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City on October 30, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice, 
and all suggestions or objections concerning said amendment of the Official Zoning Map of the 
City were duly heard and considered by the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 400.070 of the University City Municipal Code, relating to the Official 
Zoning Map, is hereby amended by amending the Official Zoning Map illustrating the zoning 
districts established pursuant to Section 400.070, for property known as Lot A and Common 
Ground 2 of the Market at Olive Development, Plat 4, so as to change the classification of said 
property from Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C), General Commercial District 
(GC) and Single-family Residential District (SR), to Planned Development Commercial District 
(PD-C). The following land uses and developments may be permitted in said PD-C District, 
subject to approval of a final development plan: restaurant, including drive-through facilities. 

 

L - 2 - 7



Section 2. Said property described as Lot A and Common Ground 2 of the Market at 
Olive Development, Plat 4, totaling 2.276 acres, is more fully described with a legal description, 
attached hereto, marked Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof. 
 

Section 3. By Resolution No. ________, the City Council approved a preliminary 
development plan known as “Lot A and Common Ground 2 of Market at Olive Development, 
Plat 4,” and authorized the preparation of a final development plan.  A final development plan 
and plat must be approved by the City Council prior to the issuance of any building permits in 
connection with the development.  A landscape plan shall be submitted for review and approval 
with the Final Development Plan. 

 
Section 4. This ordinance shall not be construed so as to relieve any person, firm or 

corporation from any penalty incurred by the violation of Section 400.070, nor bar the 
prosecution of any such violation. 
 

Section 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
ordinance shall, upon conviction thereof, be subject to the penalties provided in Section 
400.2570 of the University City Municipal Code. 
 

Section 6. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

L - 2 - 8



EXHIBIT A – LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR REZONING – LOT A AND COMMON 
GROUND 2, MARKET AT OLIVE, PLAT 4 

 
LOT A Description 
A tract of land being part of Lots 5-7 of Block 1 of St. Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 
48 Page 33, part of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124 and part of 
Lots 2 and 3 of the Subdivision of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE, Section 4 & 5, Township 45 
North, Range 6 East, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 6 on page 3 in 
Township 45, North, Range 6 East of the Fifth Principal Meridian, University City, St Louis 
County, Missouri being more particularly described as follows:   
Commencing at the southwest corner of above Lot 2 of Market and Olive, said point also being 
located on the north right-of-way line of Olive Boulevard, variable width; thence along said 
right-of-way line South 87 degrees 54 minutes 10 seconds East, 33.00 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING of the herein described tract; thence departing said right-of-way line the following 
courses and distances: North 00 degrees 27 minutes 36 seconds East, 157.03 feet; North 03 
degrees 31 minutes 53 seconds East, 58.36 feet to the beginning of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 42.00 feet; along said curve with an arc length of 63.39 feet and a chord which bears 
North 46 degrees 46 minutes 11 seconds East, 57.54 feet; South 89 degrees 59 minutes 31 
seconds East, 201.39 feet and South 00 degrees 27 minutes 35 seconds West, 250.41 feet to that 
part of above said Lot 2 and 3 of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE to be dedicated to Missouri 
Department of Transportation; then along said proposed right-of-way,  South 89 degrees 49 
minutes 17 seconds West, 2.50 feet and South 88 degrees 59 minutes 09 seconds West, 236.26 
feet to the existing north right-of-way line of above said Olive Boulevard; thence along said 
right-of-way line, South 88 degrees 49 minutes 30 seconds West, 6.00 feet and North 87 degrees 
54 minutes 10 seconds West, 1.45 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Containing 61,581 square feet or 1.414 acres, more or less. 

 
Common Ground 2 Description 
A tract of land being part of Lots 1-7 of Block 1 and part of Vacated Elmore Court both of St. 
Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 48 Page 33,and part of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as 
recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124 in Township 45, North, Range 6 East of the Fifth Principal 
Meridian, University City, St Louis County, Missouri being more particularly described as 
follows:   
Beginning the southwest corner of above Lot 2 of Market and Olive, said point also being 
located on the north right-of-way line of Olive Boulevard, variable width; thence along the 
common line between Lots 1 and 2 of said Market and Olive, the following courses and 
distances: North 00 degrees 26 minutes 14 seconds East, 280.64 feet; North 14 degrees 59 
minutes 08 seconds East, 248.43 feet and North 00 degrees 27 minutes 35 seconds East, 56.19 
feet; thence departing said common line, the following courses and distances: South 89 degrees 
32 minutes 25 seconds East, 2.17 feet; South 07 degrees 52 minutes 59 seconds East, 70.14 feet; 
South 00 degrees 01 minute 30 seconds West, 44.57 feet to the beginning of a non-tangent curve 
to the right having a radius of 562.00 feet; thence along said curve with an arc length of  88.44 
feet and a chord which bears South 04 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds West, 88.35 feet; South 00 
degrees 19 minutes 19 seconds West, 69.94 feet; to the beginning of a non-tangent curve to the 
left having a radius of 19.00 feet; along said curve with an  arc length of 10.15 feet and a chord 

L - 2 - 9



which bears South 74 degrees 13 minutes 49 seconds East, 10.03 feet and South 89 degrees 31 
minutes 35 seconds East, 441.26 feet to the west line of that part of vacated Elmore Court, 50 
feet wide and Lot 1 of Block 1 of above said  St. Patrick Courts as dedicated to St. Louis County, 
Missouri; thence along said west line, South 01 degree 59 minutes 58 seconds East, 6.04 feet and 
South 00 degrees 18 minutes 31 seconds East, 33.63 feet; thence departing said west line the 
following courses and distances: North 89 degrees 23 minutes 43 seconds West, 7.00 feet; North 
47 degrees 43 minutes 16 seconds West, 14.07 feet; North 00 degrees 24 minutes 53 seconds 
East, 7.00 feet; North 89 degrees 37 minutes 36 seconds West, 198.24 feet; South 00 degrees 31 
minutes 21 seconds West,  23.02 feet; North 89 degrees 59 minutes 31 seconds West, 227.63 
feet; to the beginning of a curve to the left having a radius of 42.00 feet and a chord which bears 
South 46 degrees 46 minutes 11 seconds West, 57.54 feet; South 03 degrees 31 minutes 53 
seconds West, 58.36 feet and South 00 degrees 27 minutes 36 seconds West, 157.03 feet to the 
north right-of-way line of above said Olive Boulevard; thence along said right-of-way line, North 
87 degrees 54 minutes 10 seconds West, 33.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Containing 37,568 square feet or 0.862 acres, more or less. 
 
 

L - 2 - 10



TITLE SHEET

C1.0

GENERAL NOTES:

1) Basis of Bearings Missouri State Plane Grid North

C1.0 TITLE SHEET
C2.0 EXISTING & PROPOSED PROPERTY LINES
C3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS/DEMOLITION PLAN
C4.0 SITE PLAN
C5.0 SITE & GRADING PLAN
C6.0 SITE UTILITY PLAN

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

52
64

\6
19

3-
en

tit
le

m
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

1.
0 

TI
TL

E 
SH

EE
T 

(2
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

8,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:2

1p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

L - 2 - 11



ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

WOODSON RD.

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

LOT B

LOT A

COMMON
GROUND

LOT C

COMMON
GROUND

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

LOT C AND COMMON
GROUND 1 NOT
INCLUDED IN THIS
SUBMITTAL

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

12

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

19 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

34 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

35

36

37

38

39

43

40

41

42

43

COSTCO
(LOT 1 MARKET AT OLIVE
SUBDIVSION PLAT)

WOODSON RD.

O
LI

VE
 B

LV
D

.

EXISTING &
PROPOSED

PROPERTY LINES

C2.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

52
64

\6
19

3-
en

tit
le

m
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

2.
0 

EA
SE

M
EN

T 
VA

C
AT

IO
N

S 
 P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 1
8,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:2
1p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

ORIGINAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS

Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 1 and Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 2 and Lots 1-5 and 11-13 in Block 3, and  Vacated Orchard Court,
Richard Court, Elmore Court all of St. Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 48 Page 33,

Part of vacated Alfred Avenue

Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

and

A tract of land being part of Lots 1, 2 and 3 of the Subdivision of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE, Section 4 & 5, Township 45
North, Range 6 East, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 6 on page 3, of the St. Louis County records, St. Louis
County, Missouri, said tract further described as follows:

Beginning at a iron pipe in the West line of Woodson Road, (60 feet wide), at the Southeast corner of Lot 1 in Block 1 of St.
Patrick Courts a subdivision being a re-subdivision of part of Lots 1, 2 & 3 of Charles H. Giers  Estate, said subdivision is
recorded in Plat Book 48 page 33, of the St. Louis County Records; thence South 00 degrees 49 minutes 00 seconds West,
along the West line of Woodson Road, 169.77 feet to an iron spike; thence South 13 degrees 08 minutes 36 seconds West,
12.29 feet to an iron right of way marker in the North line of Olive Street Road; thence along the North line of Olive Street Road
the following courses and distances, North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West, 333.78 feet to an iron pipe; thence South
00 degrees 46 feet 00 seconds West, 5.00 feet to an iron pipe; thence North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West 189.52
feet to an iron pipe; thence leaving the North line of said Olive Street Road; North 00 degrees 47 minutes 30 seconds East,
187.00 feet to an iron pipe at the Southwest corner of Lot 8 of St. Patrick Courts; thence along the South line of said St. Patrick
Courts Subdivision South 89 degrees 12 minutes 30 seconds East, 526.00 feet to the iron pipe at the point of beginning.
Excepting out any part of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

L - 2 - 12



33
7.

6

376'

108'

120'

190'

236.2'

249.4'

49'

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

WOODSON RD.

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

EXISTING
CONDITIONS/

DEMOLITION PLAN

C3.0

BUILDING DEMOLITION

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

61
00

\2
17

61
93

\C
iv

il\
En

tit
le

m
en

ts
\6

19
3-

en
tit

le
m

en
ts

.d
w

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
FA

 C
3.

0 
EX

 C
O

N
D

 A
N

D
 D

EM
O

  P
LO

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

8,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:3

4p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

L - 2 - 13



12

15 10

8
8

5

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

DRIVE

THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE

THRU

4

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

SITE PLAN

C4.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

52
64

\6
19

3-
en

tit
le

m
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

4.
0 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
  P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 1
8,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:2
2p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

L - 2 - 14



33
7.

6

21

36

36

36

36

30

30

19

19

12

12

12
12

15 10

8
8

5

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

DRIVE

THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE

THRU

4

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

LOT C AND COMMON
GROUND 1 NOT
INCLUDED IN THIS
SUBMITTAL

SITE &
GRADING PLAN

C5.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

52
64

\6
19

3-
en

tit
le

m
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

5.
0 

G
R

AD
IN

G
  P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 1
8,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:2
2p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

L - 2 - 15



12

15 10

8
8

5

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
54 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

DRIVE

THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE

THRU

4

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

SITE UTILITY
PLAN

C6.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

52
64

\6
19

3-
en

tit
le

m
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 C

FA
 C

6.
0 

U
TI

LI
TY

  P
LO

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

8,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:2

2p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/18/22

L - 2 - 16



M - 1 - 1



General Fund:
Revenue Revenue 

Account Increase Decrease Description
Revenues

1) 4540.05 Safer Grant 360,620      Increase due to receiving the remaining amount from 
FEMA, closing out the SAFER grant.

2) 4805 Insurance Recoveries 700,000      Increase due to receiving settlement checks from 
Insurance Co. as a result of the July flood.  Checks 
represents Central Garage, Centennial Commons, Parks
Maintenance, and Community Center.

Change in Revenues - Increase 1,060,620     

FY23 Budget Amendment #2
To Be Approved by City Council

November 14, 2022

M - 1 - 2



General Fund:
Expenditure Expenditure

Account Increase Decrease Description
Expenditures

1) Information Technology
01.18.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 900              Computer equipment lossed from flood.  Funds to come from 

fund reserves.
2) Police

01.30.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 167,430      Emergency Purchases - 2022 Dodge Durangos (3) - Purchases needed
01.30.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 17,000        due to July flood.  Plus add new Police Equipment to vehicles.  

Council approved Dodge Durangos 08.08.22.
Funds to come from fund reserves.

3) Fire
01.35.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance Emergency Purchases - ramifications from the July flood.

136,280      Building Restoration - Woodard, Fielder Electrical
8,700          Fire Gear Dryer.  Council approved 08.08.22

14,480        Medical Supplies
2,875          IT Equipment

4) Public Works - Capital Improvements
01.40.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 244,139      Emergency Purchases - Street Sweeper

Council approved 08.22.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

01.40.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 51,740        Emergency Purchases - Dodge Ram 2500 P/U Truck
Council approved 09.12.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

01.40.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 105,830      Emergency Purchases - Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Streets (Qty 2)
Council approved 09.12.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

01.40.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 94,950        Emergency Purchases - 25 yd. Leaf Vacuum Trailer
Council approved 09.27.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

01.40.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 217,905      Various expenses toward mitigating from the flood.  Ex. of expenses
are supplies, small equipment, debris removal, and temporary help.
Funds to come from fund reserves.

5) Parks, Recreation & Forestry - Capital Improvements
01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 203,480      Emergency Purchases - Ford F-450, F-550(2) One Ton

Dump Trucks.  Council approved 08.22.22.  Funds to 
come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 87,900        Emergency Purcases - Ford F-150, Chevy Silverado 3/4
Ton Pickup 8ft bed. Council approved 08.22.22. Funds 
to come from fund reserves.

FY23 Budget Amendment #2
To Be Approved by City Council

November 14, 2022

M - 1 - 3



General Fund:
Expenditure Expenditure

Account Increase Decrease Description
Expenditures

FY23 Budget Amendment #2
To Be Approved by City Council

November 14, 2022

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 51,740        Emergency Purchases - Dodge Ram 2500 P/U Truck
Council apporved 09.12.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 54,535        Emergency Purchases - Compact Utility Tractor w/
Backhoe attachment.  Council approved 09.12.22.  
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 63,280        Emergency Purchases - John Deere Z960M Ztrak Front
End Mower (Qty 3).  Council approved 09.12.22.  
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 75,540        Emergency Purchases - John Deere 1570 Terrain Cut
Front Mower w/ Blade (Qty 2).  Council approved 09.12.22.  
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 7,120          Emergency Purchases - W48R Commercial Walk Behind 
Mower.  Council approved 09.12.22.  
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 165,745      Emergency Purchases - Chevy Silverado 2500HD (Parks, Parks
Service, Parks.  Council approved 09.12.22.  
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 51,325        Emergency Purchases - Chevy Silverado 2500HD
Council approved 10.24.22
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 29,360        Emergency Purchases - John Deere Utility Vehicle w/ Snow Blade
Council approved 10.24.22
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 39,375        Emergency Purchases - John Deere Compact Tractor w/ Snow Blade
Council approved 10.24.22
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 51,755        Various expenses toward mitigating from the flood.  Ex. of expenses
are supplies, small equipment, debris removal, rentals, and temp help.
Funds to come from fund reserves.

01.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance Flood Mitigation to structure and contents remediation services as a 
result of the July 2022 flood.  Estimated costs are as follows:

750,907      Centennial Commons
335,370      Parks & Maintenance Building
370,039      Central Garage
128,683      Community Center

Council approved estimated costs 08.08.22.

Change in Expenditures - Increase 3,528,383     

Total General Fund
  Reduction in Fund Balance (2,467,763)    

The effect on the General Fund from these amendments are as follows:

Original Adopted Budget (Deficit) (183,830)$     
Change in Budget Amendment #1 (98,285)         
Balance after Budget Amendment #1 (282,115)$     
Change in Budget Amendment #2 (2,467,763)    
Balance after Budget Amendment #2 (2,749,878)    

M - 1 - 4



Solid Waste Fund:

Expenditure Expenditure
Account Increase Decrease Description

1) 08.40.90.8200 Vehicles & Equipment 74,000         FY23 CIP Budget allocated $280,000 for the replace-
-              ment of an automated truck.  Due to shortage and high

demand, the cost of trash trucks increased to $354,000.
Funds to come from fund reserves.  Council approved
07.25.22.

2) 08.40.90.8200 Vehicles & Equipment 349,000       Emergency Purchase - Sidewinder Trash Truck purchase
due to the flood.  Council approved 09.12.22.
Funds to come from fund reserves.

Total Solid Waste Fund
  Reduction to Fund Balance (423,000)     

Economic Development Retail Sales Tax Fund:

Expenditure Expenditure
Account Increase Decrease

1) 11.45.78.6040 Events and Receptions 83,450         Increase due to LSBD was awarded $85,000 in EDRST
funds for City-Wide events.  All but $1,550 has been paid
leaving $83,450 available to be disbursed to the LSBD.
Council approved 08.08.22.  Funds to come from 
fund reserves.

Total Economic Development Retail Sales Tax Fund
  Reduction to Fund Balance (83,450)       

Parks & Stormwater Sales Tax Fund:

Expenditure Expenditure
Account Increase Decrease

1) 14.50.90.8100 Misc. Improvement 233,906       Improvements to Ruth Park Golf Course for rutting and 
severe water runoff.  Funds were included in Committed
Fund Reserves - Resolution 2022-7. Council approved
06.27.22.  Funds to come from fund reserves.

2) 14.50.90.8130 Flood Mitigation Assistance 205,365       Emergency Purchase - 8 cu. Yard mini rear curved rear
load trash truck.  Council approved 09.12.22.
Funds to come from fund reserves.

Total Parks & Stormwater Sales Tax Fund
  Reduction in Fund Balance (439,271)     

FY23 Budget Amendment #2
To Be Approved by City Council

November 14, 2022

M - 1 - 5



American Rescue Plan Fund
Revenue Revenue

Account Increase Decrease Description

1) 29.4804 Misc Operating Revenue 80,220        Increase due to receiving supplemental amount of 
$33,215, in addition to budgeting a lower amount 
than what we anticipated in receiving ARPA funds.

Expenditure Expenditure
Account Increase Decrease Description

1) 29.70.91.6010 Professional Services 2,235          Increase due to consulting services agreement with
Armanino, LLC, to provide oversight of ARPA 
funds. Funds to come from fund reserves.

Total American Rescue Plan Fund
  Increase to Fund Balance 77,985        

FY23 Budget Amendment #2
To Be Approved by City Council

November 14, 2022

M - 1 - 6



Resolution 2022 - 13 
 
 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 (FY23) 
BUDGET – AMENDMENT # 2 AND APPROPRIATING SAID AMOUNTS 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of University 

City, Missouri, that the Annual Budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2022, was 

approved by the City Council and circumstances now warrant amendment to that original 

budget. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in accordance with the City Charter, the several 

amounts stated in the budget amendment as presented, are herewith appropriated to the 

several objects and purposes named. 

 
Adopted this 14th day of November 2022. 

 
      

________________________________ 
     Mayor  

 
Attest: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Certified to be Correct as to Form: 
 
 
_______________________________  
City Attorney 
 
 

M - 1 - 7



M - 1 - 8



M - 2 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
September 28, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Preliminary Plan Approval –Market at Olive, Phase IV, Lot A and Common Ground 2 

(REZ 22-07) 

 
Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting, on September 28, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via video 
conference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by U. 
City, LLC to approve a resolution for “Preliminary Plan” approval of Phase IV of the 
Market at Olive development, Lot A and Common Ground 2. 
 
By a vote of 4 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said 
resolution. 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 
 
 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

M - 2 - 2



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-14 
 
 

WHEREAS, Section 400.850 of the University City Zoning Code requires that a 
preliminary development plan be approved by the City Council by adoption of a resolution 
approving said preliminary development plan, with conditions as may be specified and 
authorizing the preparation of the final development plan.  Section 400.760 of the Zoning Code 
requires that the permitted land uses and developments shall be established in the conditions of 
the ordinance adopted by the City Council governing the particular Planned Development- 
Commercial Use District. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
The City Council hereby authorizes the preparation of the final development plan for a 
development on Lot A and Common Ground 2 for the development to be known as “Market at 
Olive Plat IV”. The proposed structures shall be developed with the following conditions: 
 

1. The building and property shall be developed, constructed and maintained in compliance 
with the plans submitted and attached as “Exhibit A” to this resolution. The footprint and 
general layout are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022. The height and mass 
shall be restricted to that shown on the preliminary development plan. 

2. The use associated with this development shall be for a restaurant, including drive-
through facilities. 

3. A detailed construction traffic and parking plan shall be submitted for review and 
approval with the Site Plan. 

4. Off-street parking and loading requirements shall be provided as required by Chapter 400, 
Article VII of the University City Zoning Code and pursuant to a Conditional Use Permit 
for the site lowering the number of parking spaces from 59 to 54, as approved by the City 
Council on November 14, 2022. 

5. A landscape plan shall be submitted for review and approval to the Department of 
Planning and Development. 

6. Pylon signs for the development shall be those approved by Ordinance Number 7184. 
There shall be no monument signs for individual buildings. Directional signage for 
individual stores shall be as approved on the Final Development Plan and tenant finishes. 

7. Approval of the Preliminary Development Plan shall be valid for a period of two years 
from the date of City Council approval.  A Final Development Plan shall be submitted 
within the said two-year period per Sections 400.860 and 400.870 of the Zoning Code. 

 
 
 

M - 2 - 3



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
PASSED and RESOLVED this _______ day of __________, 2022 

 

        _____________________________ 

        Mayor 

ATTEST 

 

____________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

M - 2 - 4



TITLE SHEET

C1.0

GENERAL NOTES:

1) Basis of Bearings Missouri State Plane Grid North

C1.0 TITLE SHEET
C2.0 EXISTING & PROPOSED PROPERTY LINES
C3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS/DEMOLITION PLAN
C4.0 SITE PLAN
C5.0 SITE & GRADING PLAN
C6.0 SITE UTILITY PLAN

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y/

FI
N

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

S 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

11
94

8\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 P

R
EL

IM
 C

1.
0 

TI
TL

E 
SH

EE
T 

(2
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
Se

p 
06

,  
20

22
 - 

5:
04

pm
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

09/06/22

M - 2 - 5



ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

WOODSON RD.

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

LOT B

LOT A

COMMON
GROUND

LOT C

COMMON
GROUND

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

LOT C AND COMMON
GROUND 1 NOT
INCLUDED IN THIS
SUBMITTAL

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

12

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

19 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

34 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

35

36

37

38

39

43

40

41

42

43

COSTCO
(LOT 1 MARKET AT OLIVE
SUBDIVSION PLAT)

WOODSON RD.

O
LI

VE
 B

LV
D

.

EXISTING &
PROPOSED

PROPERTY LINES

C2.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y/

FI
N

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

S 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

11
94

8\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 P

R
EL

IM
 C

2.
0 

EA
SE

M
EN

T 
VA

C
AT

IO
N

S 
 P

LO
TT

ED
:  

Se
p 

06
,  

20
22

 - 
5:

04
pm

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

09/06/22

ORIGINAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS

Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 1 and Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 2 and Lots 1-5 and 11-13 in Block 3, and  Vacated Orchard Court,
Richard Court, Elmore Court all of St. Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 48 Page 33,

Part of vacated Alfred Avenue

Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

and

A tract of land being part of Lots 1, 2 and 3 of the Subdivision of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE, Section 4 & 5, Township 45
North, Range 6 East, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 6 on page 3, of the St. Louis County records, St. Louis
County, Missouri, said tract further described as follows:

Beginning at a iron pipe in the West line of Woodson Road, (60 feet wide), at the Southeast corner of Lot 1 in Block 1 of St.
Patrick Courts a subdivision being a re-subdivision of part of Lots 1, 2 & 3 of Charles H. Giers  Estate, said subdivision is
recorded in Plat Book 48 page 33, of the St. Louis County Records; thence South 00 degrees 49 minutes 00 seconds West,
along the West line of Woodson Road, 169.77 feet to an iron spike; thence South 13 degrees 08 minutes 36 seconds West,
12.29 feet to an iron right of way marker in the North line of Olive Street Road; thence along the North line of Olive Street Road
the following courses and distances, North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West, 333.78 feet to an iron pipe; thence South
00 degrees 46 feet 00 seconds West, 5.00 feet to an iron pipe; thence North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West 189.52
feet to an iron pipe; thence leaving the North line of said Olive Street Road; North 00 degrees 47 minutes 30 seconds East,
187.00 feet to an iron pipe at the Southwest corner of Lot 8 of St. Patrick Courts; thence along the South line of said St. Patrick
Courts Subdivision South 89 degrees 12 minutes 30 seconds East, 526.00 feet to the iron pipe at the point of beginning.
Excepting out any part of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

M - 2 - 6



12

16 10

8
8

9

BUILDING F (CHICK-FIL-A)
P14-LSR-LRG
+/- 4,930 SQ. FT.
58 PARKING STALLS
FF=580.00

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

LOT B NOT
INCLUDED IN
THIS SUBMITTAL

SITE PLAN

C4.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

A 
AN

D 
CO

M
M

ON
 G

RO
UN

D 
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y/

FI
N

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

S 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

11
94

8\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 P

R
EL

IM
 C

4.
0 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
  P

LO
TT

ED
:  

Se
p 

06
,  

20
22

 - 
5:

05
pm

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

09/06/22

M - 2 - 7



M - 2 - 8



M - 3 - 1



M - 3 - 2



  

INTRODUCED BY: __________     DATE: ______________ 
 
BILL NO. _______       ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 
                 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PETITION TO ADD REAL PROPERTY TO 
THE MARKETS AT OLIVE COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT. 

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Sections 67.1401 to 67.1571 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri 
(the “CID Act”) and pursuant to Ordinance No. 7131, the City of University City, Missouri (the “City”) 
previously established the Markets at Olive Community Improvement District (the “District”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the CID Act and pursuant to Ordinance No. 7153, the City added 
approximately 18.37 acres of property to the District boundaries; and  
 
 WHEREAS, a “Petition to Expand the Markets at Olive Community Improvement District,” a copy 
of which is attached as Exhibit A hereto (the “CID Expansion Petition”), was filed with the City Clerk on 
November 4, 2022, requesting that the boundaries of the District be expanded to include an additional 
approximately 25.5 acres that are contiguous with the existing boundary of the District (as further described 
in the CID Expansion Petition, the “Additional Property”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, on November 1, 2022, the Board of Directors of the District adopted Resolution No. 
22-001 consenting to addition of the Additional Property to the District; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council held a duly-noticed public hearing on November 28, 2022, at which 
all persons interested in the addition of the Additional Property to the District were allowed an opportunity 
to speak and at which time the City Council heard all protests and received all endorsements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council finds that notice of the CID Expansion Petition and the proposed 
addition of the Additional Property to the District has been duly given and the public hearing thereon has 
been held in which all reasonable protests, objections and endorsements have been heard, all in accordance 
with Sections 67.1431 and 67.1441 of the CID Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council further finds that the CID Expansion Petition is proper in that it meets 
all of the requirements of the CID Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council further finds that the addition of the Additional Property to the District 
is in furtherance of (a) the “RPA 1 Redevelopment Project” described in the Redevelopment Agreement 
dated as of June 13, 2019 among the City, U. City, L.L.C. and U. City TIF Corporation, as amended, and   
(b) the “District Project” described in the District Project Agreement among the City, the District, U. City, 
L.L.C. and U. City TIF Corporation. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. The CID Expansion Petition is hereby approved.  The boundaries of the District are 
hereby amended to add the Additional Property to the District.   
 
 Section 2. The City Clerk is hereby directed to report to the Missouri Department of Economic 
Development that the District has expanded its boundaries, as contemplated by the CID Act. 

M - 3 - 3



- 2 - 

 
 

 
 Section 3. The officers of the City are hereby authorized and directed to execute all documents 
and take such actions as they may deem necessary or advisable to carry out and perform the purposes of this 
Ordinance.  All actions taken to date by the officers of the City with respect to the CID Expansion Petition, 
including, without limitation, the provision of notices for the public hearing regarding the CID Expansion 
Petition and the addition of the Additional Property to the District, are hereby ratified.   
 
 Section 4. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its passage 
and approval. 

 
 PASSED and APPROVED this 28th day of November, 2022. 

 
 
     

_______________________________________ 
MAYOR 

(Seal) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 3 - 4



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CID EXPANSION PETITION 
 

[On file in the Office of the City Clerk] 

M - 3 - 5



MARKETS AT OLIVE 
COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT 

Petition to Expand the Markets at Olive 
Community Improvement District 

Pursuant to Sections 67.1401-67.1571 of the Revised Statutes of 
Missouri, as Amended 

City of University City, Missouri 

November 4, 2022

M - 3 - 6



M - 3 - 7



M - 3 - 8



M - 3 - 9



M - 3 - 10



M - 3 - 11



M - 3 - 12



By executing this Petition on this 2nd day of November, 2022, the undersigned 
represents and warrants that he is authorized to execute this Petition on behalf of the 
property owner named immediately below. The undersigned also acknowledges that his 
signature may not be withdrawn later than seven (7) days after this Petition is filed with the 
City Clerk of the City. 

ST A TE OF {\/(, 5S O U.(; 

coUNTY oF >#-Louis 

) 

) 

) 

SS. 

U. City, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability
company

By: CRG Services Management, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company, its 
Manager 

wrence R. Chapman, Jr., Vice President 

On this�� day of November 2022, before me appeared Lawrence R. Chapman Jr., to 
me personally known, who being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Vice President and 
authorized representative of CRG Services Management, LLC, a Missouri limited liability 
company, which is the Manager of U. City, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company, and 
that said Petition was signed on behalf of U. City, L.L.C. by authority of its manager(s) and 
member(s) and acknowledged to me that he executed said Petition as said limited liability 
company's free act and deed. 

ed before me this ;l,i'Ol. day of November.,_ 2022. 

Printed Name: /UJ ldr; ';Jl&e '2.

My Commission Expires: ..D_c, / C, , d-o�'f

M - 3 - 13



M - 3 - 14



By executing this Petition on this 2nd day of November, 2022, the undersigned 
represents and warrants that he is authorized to execute this Petition on behalf of the property 
owner named immediately below. The undersigned also acknowledges that his signature may 
not be withdrawn later than seven (7) days after this Petition is filed with the City Clerk of the 
City. 

STATE OF /vUSS<D \.J.;( � 

COUNTY OF � - lolltS

) 

) 

) 

ss. 

170 and Olive Holdco, LLC, a Missouri 
limited liability company 

By: CRG Services Management, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company, its 
Manager 

On this � day of November 2022, before me appeared Lawrence R. Chapman Jr., to 
me personally known, who being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Vice President and 
authorized representative of CRG Services Management, LLC, a Missouri limited liability 
company, which is the Manager of 170 and Olive Holdco, LLC, a Missouri limited liability 
company, and that said Petition was signed on behalf of 170 and Olive Holdco, LLC by authority 
of its manager(s) and member(s) and acknowledged to me that he executed said Petition as said 
limited liability company's free act and deed. 

�n.i-'""""'.r1rmed before me this �day of November
.,_ 

2022. 

Printed Name: VU...I /6:dr; %e.2 

My Commission Expires: �. ( (e , d'Odlf 

M - 3 - 15



M - 3 - 16



M - 3 - 17



M - 3 - 18



M - 3 - 19



M - 3 - 20



M - 3 - 21



M - 3 - 22



M - 3 - 23



M - 3 - 24



M - 3 - 25



M - 3 - 26



M - 3 - 27



M - 3 - 28



M - 3 - 29



M - 3 - 30



M - 3 - 31



M - 3 - 32



M - 3 - 33



M - 3 - 34



M - 3 - 35



M - 3 - 36



M - 4 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 
 
October 26, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
RE: Map Amendment – Lot B, Market at Olive North (IV) 

Dear Ms. Reese, 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on October 26, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via 
videoconference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by 
U-City, LLC for a Zoning Map Amendment for Lot B, Market at Olive North, Plat 4, and 
to further consider approval of a Preliminary Development Plan. 

By a vote of 7 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of an 
amended application subject to the following conditions: 

1. The use associated with this development shall be for a multi-tenant retail and 
restaurant building with drive thru; and  

2. Accessible pedestrian ways shall be provided from the public sidewalk to the 
private development; and  

3. Off-street parking and loading requirements will be provided according to the 
concurrent Conditional Use Permit approval; and 

4. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed, and maintained in 
compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general 
layout are subject to the plans dated October 4, 2022; and 

5. A detailed photometric meeting the City’s lighting standards shall be provided 
along with the Final Development Plan submittal; and  

6. A Landscape Plan shall be provided as part of the Final Development Plan 
submittal. 

7. The development plan shall be adjusted to comply with site coverage 
requirements set forth in Section § 400.780(D), or provide the appropriate site 
design criteria to be allowed the additional coverage; and  

8. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to the 
Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth details 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

M - 4 - 2



pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the proposed 
construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property maintenance issues 
such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan shall be finalized prior to 
the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to 
obtain those approvals in written form in a timely manner prior to issuance of the 
building permit. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

M - 4 - 3



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
MEETING DATE:   November 14, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   REZ 22-09 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Applicant: U. City, LLC 
 
Location: Lot B, Market at Olive North (IV) 
 
Request: Zoning Map Amendment from General Commercial 

District (GC) and Single-Family Residential District 
(SR), to Planned Development Commercial District 
(PD-C) and to further consider approval of a 
Preliminary Site Development Plan  

 
Existing Zoning: General Commercial District (GC) and Single-Family 

Residential District (SR)  
Proposed Zoning:   Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C) 
Existing Land Use:   Vacant, empty commercial building and houses 
Proposed Land Use: Retail & restaurant with drive thru 
 
Surrounding Zoning: 
North:     SR – Single-Family Residential   
East: SR – Single-Family Residential / 

GC – General Commercial District 
South:     PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
West: SR – Single-Family Residential /  

GC – General Commercial District 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[ X ] Yes [  ] No  [  ] No reference 
 
PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
[  ] Approval  [ X ] Approval with Conditions in Resolution [  ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Map Amendment Application  
B. Preliminary Site Development Plan 

M - 4 - 4



REZ 22-09   
Page 2 

 
C. Landscape Plan 

 
Applicant’s Request 
The Applicant is requesting that the site be rezoned from General Commercial District 
(GC) and Single-family Residential District (SR) to Planned Development Commercial 
District (PD-C), and to further consider approval of a Preliminary Site Development Plan 
for the proposed commercial development. 
 
The rezoning covers one of the out lots of the Market at Olive Phase IV development, 
specifically for a multi-tenant retail and restaurant building with a drive thru for the east 
end cap tenant space.  
 
Existing Property 
The existing property where the restaurant is proposed is along Olive Boulevard where 
the eastern part of Jeffrey Plaza was located. There will be only two out lots in Phase IV 
of the Market at Olive development: the subject parcel at the corner of Woodson Road 
and Olive Boulevard, and a parcel immediately to the west, where a Chick-fil-A 
restaurant is proposed. A larger anchor retail development is planned for the parcel 
immediately north of these out lots, which was previously occupied by single-family 
homes that have since been demolished as part of the Market at Olive development. 
The proposed multi-tenant retail and restaurant building is consistent with the Market at 
Olive development plan. 
 
Analysis 
Land Use & Dimensional Regulations  
The proposed land use, retail and restaurant with drive thru are permitted uses within 
the GC – General Commercial district and are therefore appropriate uses in the PD-C 
district. No dimensional or density deviations from the requirements set forth in the 
zoning code are requested nor recommended as part of the map amendment 
application. 

Site Coverage & Stormwater Management 
Section 400.780 of the Zoning Code establishes a maximum site coverage of 70% for 
development in PD-C districts. Site coverage is defined as “the area of the site which is 
covered by buildings, driveways, parking lots, loading areas, but excluding open 
spaces, plazas, pedestrian circulation, and buffer areas.” Developments in the PD-C 
district are offered a site coverage “bonus” of up to 90% coverage if at least 4 of 11 site 
design criteria are met. The proposed preliminary site development plan currently has 
72.67% site coverage, slightly exceeding the maximum. The plan shall be adjusted to 
either fall under the 70% threshold or provide the appropriate site design criteria to be 
allowed the additional coverage. The referenced criteria are found in § 400.780(D)(2). 

Vehicular Access/Circulation 
There is one proposed access point into the development off the inner drive aisle to the 
north, which also provides access to the sites to the north and west. Two exits are 
proposed, one of them being a dual entry/exit point, and the other an exit only point. 

M - 4 - 5



REZ 22-09   
Page 3 

 
The drive thru is proposed to be a single lane that widens to two lanes at the order 
board and pick-up window. 
Parking 
A concurrent Conditional Use Permit application has been submitted for review by the 
Planning Commission requesting a reduction of the minimum required number of 
parking spaces. Staff is of the opinion that the proposed reduced parking is appropriate 
and is recommending approval of the CUP. 
Photometric Plan 
A photometric plan was not provided with the preliminary development plan submittal. 
The applicant will be required to submit a plan meeting the city’s lighting standards 
along with a future Final Development Plan submittal.  
Comprehensive Plan 
It is staff’s opinion that the proposed development is consistent with the goals and 
objectives of the University City Comprehensive Plan Update of 2005. Applicable 
sections from the Plan Update that support this opinion include: 

Chapter 3, of the Comprehensive Plan Update of 2005, under Land Use and 
Redevelopment, as a general policy, states, “The City will strongly support 
development(s) that promote desirable planning concepts such as neighborhood-
serving, mixed uses and transit-oriented development and enhance the pedestrian 
character of the City.” The Comprehensive Plan also indicates that the City “will 
encourage the design of commercial and retail structures along major corridors for 
multiple tenants and mixed uses.” 
 
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on October 26, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the map Amendment from General Commercial District (GC) 
and Single-Family Residential District (SR), to Planned Development Commercial 
District (PD-C) The Preliminary Site Development Plan was also unanimously approved. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
Based on this report’s analysis Staff recommends approval of the Applicant’s proposed 
Map Amendment and Preliminary Site Development Plan with the following conditions: 
 

1. The use associated with this development shall be for a multi-tenant retail and 
restaurant building with drive thru; and  

2. Accessible pedestrian ways shall be provided from the public sidewalk to the 
private development; and  

3. Off-street parking and loading requirements will be provided according to the 
concurrent Conditional Use Permit approval; and 

4. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed, and maintained in 
compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general 

M - 4 - 6



REZ 22-09   
Page 4 

 
layout are subject to the plans dated October 4, 2022; and 

5. A detailed photometric meeting the City’s lighting standards shall be provided 
along with the Final Development Plan submittal; and  

6. A Landscape Plan shall be provided as part of the Final Development Plan 
submittal. 

7. The development plan shall be adjusted to comply with site coverage 
requirements set forth in Section § 400.780(D), or provide the appropriate site 
design criteria to be allowed the additional coverage; and  

8. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to the 
Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth details 
pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the proposed 
construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property maintenance issues 
such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan shall be finalized prior to 
the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to 
obtain those approvals in written form in a timely manner prior to issuance of the 
building permit. 
 
 

 
 

M - 4 - 7



1 

INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO.____________          ORDINANCE NO.__________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.070 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 
THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING MAP, BY AMENDING SAID MAP SO AS TO CHANGE THE 
CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY KNOWN AS LOT B OF PLAT 4 OF THE 
MARKET AT OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, FROM “GC” GENERAL COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT AND “SR” SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “PD” 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (“PD-C”). 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 400 of the University City Municipal Code divides the City into 
several zoning districts, and regulates the character of buildings which may be erected in each of 
said districts, and the uses to which the buildings and premises located therein may be put; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission examined an amendment of the Official Zoning 
Map of the City which changes the classification of property known as Lot B of Plat 4 of the 
Market at Olive Development, from General Commercial District (GC) and Single-Family 
Residential District (SR), to Planned Development Commercial District (PD-C); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission, in a meeting held via video conference on 
October 26, 2022, considered said amendment and recommended to the City Council that it be 
enacted into an ordinance; and 
 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing to be held by the City Council in the City 
Council Chambers at City Hall at 6:30 p.m., on November 28, 2022, was duly published in the 
St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City on November 13, 2022; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice, 
and all suggestions or objections concerning said amendment of the Official Zoning Map of the 
City were duly heard and considered by the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 400.070 of the University City Municipal Code, relating to the Official 
Zoning Map, is hereby amended by amending the Official Zoning Map illustrating the zoning 
districts established pursuant to Section 400.070, for property known as Lot B of Plat 4 of the 
Market at Olive Development, so as to change the classification of said property from General 
Commercial District (GC) and Single-Family Residential District (SR), to Planned Development 
Commercial District (PD-C). The following land uses and developments may be permitted in 
said PD-C District, subject to approval of a final development plan: a multi-tenant retail and 
restaurant building with drive thru facilities. 

 

M - 4 - 8



2 

Section 2. Said property described as Lot B of Plat 4 of the Market at Olive 
Development, totaling 1.50 acres, is more fully described with a legal description, attached 
hereto, marked Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof. 
 

Section 3. By Resolution No. ________, the City Council approved a preliminary 
development plan known as “Lot B of Plat 4 of the Market at Olive Development,” and 
authorized the preparation of a final development plan.  A final development plan and plat must 
be approved by the City Council prior to the issuance of any building permits in connection with 
the development.  A landscape plan shall be submitted for review and approval with the Final 
Development Plan. 

 
Section 4. This ordinance shall not be construed so as to relieve any person, firm or 

corporation from any penalty incurred by the violation of Section 400.070, nor bar the 
prosecution of any such violation. 
 

Section 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
ordinance shall, upon conviction thereof, be subject to the penalties provided in Section 
400.2570 of the University City Municipal Code. 
 

Section 6. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 4 - 9



3 

EXHIBIT A – LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR REZONING – LOT B, MARKET AT OLIVE, 
PLAT 4 

 
LOT B Description 
 
A tract of land being part of Lots 1-5 of Block 1 of St. Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 
48 Page 33, and part of Lots 1 and 2 of the Subdivision of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE, 
Section 4 & 5, Township 45 North, Range 6 East, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat 
Book 6 on page 3 in Township 45, North, Range 6 East of the Fifth Principal Meridian, 
University City, St Louis County, Missouri being more particularly described as follows:   
 
Commencing at the southwest corner of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 
Page 124, of the St. Louis County records, said point also being located on the north right-of-
way line of Olive Boulevard, variable width; thence along said right-of-way line South 87 
degrees 54 minutes 10 seconds East, 34.45 feet, and North 88 degree 49 minutes 30 seconds 
East, 6.00 feet, to the northwest corner of a tract of land to be  dedicated to Missouri Department 
of Transportation; thence leaving said right of way line, along proposed dedication, North 88 
degrees 59 minutes 09 seconds East, 236.26 feet and North 89 degrees 49 minutes 17 seconds 
East 2.50 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING of the herein described tract: thence leaving said 
proposed dedication the following courses and distance: North 00 degrees 27 minutes 35 seconds 
East, 250.41 feet; South 89 degrees 59 minutes 31 seconds East, 26.24 feet; North 00 degrees 31 
minutes 21 seconds East, 23.02 feet; South 89 degrees 37 minutes 36 seconds East, 198.24 feet; 
South 00 degrees 24 minutes 53 seconds West, 7.00 feet; thence South 47 degrees 43 minutes 16 
seconds East, 14.07 feet; and South 89 degrees 23 minutes 43 seconds East, 7.00 feet, to the west 
line of a tract to be dedicated to St. Louis County Missouri; thence along said St. Louis County 
Missouri proposed dedication: South 00 degrees 01 minute 32 seconds West, 248.85 feet and 
South 20 degrees 51 minutes 47 seconds West, 6.40 feet, to the north line of above said 
dedication to Missouri Department of Transportation; thence along the north line of the Missouri 
Department of Transportation proposed dedication South 89 degrees 49 minutes 17 seconds 
West, 241.66 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.  
 
Containing 65,321 square feet or 1.500 acres, more or less. 
 
 

M - 4 - 10



TITLE SHEET

C1.0

GENERAL NOTES:

1) Basis of Bearings Missouri State Plane Grid North

C1.0 TITLE SHEET
C2.0 EXISTING & PROPOSED PROPERTY LINES
C3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS/DEMOLITION PLAN
C4.0 SITE PLAN
C5.0 SITE & GRADING PLAN
C6.0 SITE UTILITY PLAN

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 L

O
T 

B 
C

1.
0 

TI
TL

E 
SH

EE
T 

(3
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 0

4,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:5

0p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 11



ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

WOODSON RD.

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

LOT B

LOT A

COMMON
GROUND

LOT C

COMMON
GROUND

LOT A AND C AND COMMON
GROUNDS NOT INCLUDED
IN THIS SUBMITTAL. (LOT A
SUBMITTED PREVIOUSLY)

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

12

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

19 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

34 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

35

36

37

38

39

43

40

41

42

43

COSTCO
(LOT 1 MARKET AT OLIVE
SUBDIVSION PLAT)

WOODSON RD.

O
LI

VE
 B

LV
D

.

EXISTING &
PROPOSED

PROPERTY LINES

C2.0

ORIGINAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS

Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 1 and Lots 1-7 and 12-18 in Block 2 and Lots 1-5 and 11-13 in Block 3, and  Vacated Orchard Court,
Richard Court, Elmore Court all of St. Patrick Courts, as recorded in Plat Book 48 Page 33,

Part of vacated Alfred Avenue

Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

and

A tract of land being part of Lots 1, 2 and 3 of the Subdivision of CHARLES H. GIERS ESTATE, Section 4 & 5, Township 45
North, Range 6 East, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 6 on page 3, of the St. Louis County records, St. Louis
County, Missouri, said tract further described as follows:

Beginning at a iron pipe in the West line of Woodson Road, (60 feet wide), at the Southeast corner of Lot 1 in Block 1 of St.
Patrick Courts a subdivision being a re-subdivision of part of Lots 1, 2 & 3 of Charles H. Giers  Estate, said subdivision is
recorded in Plat Book 48 page 33, of the St. Louis County Records; thence South 00 degrees 49 minutes 00 seconds West,
along the West line of Woodson Road, 169.77 feet to an iron spike; thence South 13 degrees 08 minutes 36 seconds West,
12.29 feet to an iron right of way marker in the North line of Olive Street Road; thence along the North line of Olive Street Road
the following courses and distances, North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West, 333.78 feet to an iron pipe; thence South
00 degrees 46 feet 00 seconds West, 5.00 feet to an iron pipe; thence North 89 degrees 14 minutes 00 seconds West 189.52
feet to an iron pipe; thence leaving the North line of said Olive Street Road; North 00 degrees 47 minutes 30 seconds East,
187.00 feet to an iron pipe at the Southwest corner of Lot 8 of St. Patrick Courts; thence along the South line of said St. Patrick
Courts Subdivision South 89 degrees 12 minutes 30 seconds East, 526.00 feet to the iron pipe at the point of beginning.
Excepting out any part of Lot 2 of Market and Olive as recorded in Plat Book 369 Page 124

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

61
00

\2
17

61
93

\C
iv

il\
En

tit
le

m
en

ts
\6

19
3-

en
tit

le
m

en
ts

.d
w

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 L
O

T 
B 

C
2.

0 
EA

SE
M

EN
T 

VA
C

AT
IO

N
S 

(2
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 0

4,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:5

5p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 12



33
7.

6

376'

108'

120'

190'

236.2'

249.4'

49'

ELM
O

R
E (50'w

) C
T.

R
IC

H
AR

D
 (50'w

) C
T.

O
R

C
H

AR
D

 (50'w
) C

T.

ALFR
ED

 (40'w
) AVE.

WOODSON RD.

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

EXISTING
CONDITIONS/

DEMOLITION PLAN

C3.0

BUILDING DEMOLITION

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

61
00

\2
17

61
93

\C
iv

il\
En

tit
le

m
en

ts
\6

19
3-

en
tit

le
m

en
ts

.d
w

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 L
O

T 
B 

C
3.

0 
EX

 C
O

N
D

 A
N

D
 D

EM
O

 (2
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 0

4,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:5

6p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 13



12

15 10

8
8

5

+/- 7,700 SQ. FT.
63 PARKING
STALLS

BLDG E

4

SITE PLAN

C4.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 L

O
T 

B 
C

4.
0 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
 (2

)  
PL

O
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 0
4,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:5
0p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 14



+/- 7,700 SQ. FT.
63 PARKING
STALLS

BLDG E

O
LIVE (V.W

.) BLVD
.

SITE &
GRADING PLAN

C5.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 L

O
T 

B 
C

5.
0 

G
R

AD
IN

G
 (2

)  
PL

O
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 0
4,

  2
02

2 
- 4

:5
1p

m
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 a

lis
on

.g
au

ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 15



12

15 10

8
8

5

+/- 7,700 SQ. FT.
63 PARKING
STALLS

BLDG E

4

SITE UTILITY
PLAN

C6.0

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

U
N

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I

M
AR

KE
T 

AT
 O

LI
VE

 N
OR

TH
-

LO
T 

B

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

AN
 F

O
R

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 C
:\U

se
rs

\A
LI

SO
N

~1
.G

AU
\A

pp
D

at
a\

Lo
ca

l\T
em

p\
Ac

Pu
bl

is
h_

13
20

0\
61

93
-e

nt
itl

em
en

ts
.d

w
g 

 L
AY

O
U

T:
 L

O
T 

B 
C

6.
0 

U
TI

LI
TY

 (2
)  

PL
O

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 0

4,
  2

02
2 

- 4
:5

1p
m

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 a
lis

on
.g

au
ch

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

10/04/22

M - 4 - 16



M - 5 - 1



M - 5 - 2



October 26, 2022 

Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 

RE: Final Development Plan Approval – Lot A, Market at Olive, Plat 4 

Dear Ms. Reese, 

At a regularly scheduled meeting, on October 26, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via video 
conference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by U-
City, LLC to approve the Final Development Plan Lot A or Market at Olive Development, 
Plat 4. 

By a vote of 7 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said 
Final Development Plan with the following conditions: 

1. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed, and maintained
in compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and
general layout are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022. The height
and mass shall be restricted to that shown on the Final Development Plan.

2. Accessible pedestrian walkways shall be provided from the public sidewalk to
the private development; and

3. Off-street parking and loading requirements will be provided according to the
concurrent Conditional Use Permit approval.

4. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to
the Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth
details pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the
proposed construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property
maintenance issues such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan
shall be finalized prior to the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the
applicant’s responsibility to obtain those approvals in written form in a timely
manner prior to issuance of the building permit.

Plan Commission
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168  
 

M - 5 - 3



5. Bicycle racks shall be provided according to Section 400.2145 Off-Street
Bicycle Parking Requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.

6. The Final Landscape Plan shall be as approved by the Department of
Planning and Development prior to issuance of building permits.

7. There shall be no interference by pick-up or service delivery vehicles with
pedestrian or vehicular traffic on Lot A or Lot B and the Common Ground 2
parcel.

Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

M - 5 - 4



1 

 
INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO.        ORDINANCE NO. 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
LOT A AND COMMON GROUND 2 OF THE PROPOSED MARKET AT 

OLIVE DEVELOPMENT, PLAT 4 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Preliminary Development Plan was approved by the City Council of 
University City on November 14, 2022 by Resolution No. 2022-______, for the development 
project known as “Lot A and Common Ground 2, Market at Olive, Plat 4” in a Planned 
Development – Commercial (PD-C) District in the City of University City, and the City Council 
authorized the submittal of a Final Development Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Final Development Plan dated September 6, 2022, has been submitted for 
review and approval; and  

 
WHEREAS, the review and approval of a Final Development Plan shall be in 

accordance with Section 400.870 “Final Development Plan Procedure” and Section 405.380 
“Final Plat Submittal Requirements” of the University City Municipal Code with the adoption of 
an ordinance by City Council; and  

 
WHEREAS, at its meeting on October 26, 2022, the University City Plan Commission 

considered and recommended to the City Council of University City approval of said Final 
Development Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, said Final Development Plan, including all required documents and 
information submitted therewith, is before the City Council for its consideration. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Attached, marked “Exhibit A” and made a part hereof is a Final Development 
Plan submitted for the “Lot A and Common Ground 2, Market at Olive, Plat 4” development.  
  

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the Final Development Plan is in full 
compliance with said Section 400.870 of the University City Municipal Code. 

 
Section 3. The Final Development Plan shall include the following additional conditions: 
1. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed, and maintained in 

compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general 
layout are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022. The height and mass 
shall be restricted to that shown on the Final Development Plan. 

2. Accessible pedestrian walkways shall be provided from the public sidewalk to the 
private development. 

3. Off-street parking and loading requirements will be provided as required by 
Chapter VII of the University City Zoning Code and pursuant to a Conditional 

M - 5 - 5



2 

use Permit for the site lowering the number of parking spaces from 59 to 54, as 
approved by the City Council on November 14, 2022. 

4. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to the 
Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth 
details pertaining to worker parking during all phases of the proposed 
construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property maintenance issues 
such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan shall be finalized prior to 
the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to 
obtain those approvals in written form in a timely manner prior to issuance of the 
building permit. 

5. Bicycle racks shall be provided according to Section 400.2145 Off-Street Bicycle 
Parking Requirements of the Zoning Code.  

6. The Final Landscape Plan shall be as approved by the Department of Planning 
and Development prior to issuance of building permits. 

7. There shall be no interference by pick-up or service delivery vehicles with 
pedestrian or vehicular traffic for Lot A or Lot B on the Common Ground 2 
parcel. 

 
Section 4. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the Final Development Plan 

the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal of University City. 
 

Section 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 

M - 5 - 6



3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 

M - 5 - 7



4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 

M - 5 - 8



5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 

M - 5 - 9



6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 

M - 5 - 10



7 

 
 
 
 

 
Exhibit A 

M - 5 - 11



8 

 
 

 
 

Exhibit A 
 

M - 5 - 12



9 

 

M - 5 - 13



 
 

Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 

MEETING DATE: November 14, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER: FDP 22-04 

COUNCIL DISTRICT: 3 
 
Applicant: U. City, LLC 
Location: Lot A and Common Ground 2, Market at Olive North, 

Plat 4 
Request: Final Development Plan approval 
 

Existing Zoning: PD-C Planned Development Commercial District 
Proposed Zoning: NA 
Existing Land Use: Vacant 
Proposed Land Use: Commercial 
 
Surrounding Zoning: 
North:     SR – Single-Family Residential 
East: SR – Single-Family Residential / 

GC – General Commercial District 
South:     PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 
West:      PD-C – Planned Development Commercial District 

Comprehensive Plan Conformance: 
[ x ] Yes [ ] No [ ] No reference 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
[ ] Approval [ X ] Approval with Conditions [ ] Denial 
 
Attachments: 

A. Final Development Plan 
B. Landscape Plan – Olive Frontage and Site 
C. Photometric Plan 
D. Lighting Cut Sheets 

M - 5 - 14



Page 2 of 3 

Market at Olive – Lot A, Plat 4 
Final Development Plan 
  

 

E. Building Elevations 
Existing Property 
The subject property is referred to as Lot A in Phase IV of the Market at Olive 
Development. The 1.414-acre tract was recommended for Map Amendment and 
Preliminary Development Plan approval from GC – General Commercial and SR – 
Single-Family Residential to PD-C – Planned Development Commercial by the Planning 
Commission on September 28, 2022.  

 
Applicant’s Request 
The applicant is requesting that the final plan be approved to allow for the construction 
of a 4,930 square foot fast food restaurant (Chick-fil-A) with drive thru, as shown on the 
attached plans. 

 
Analysis 
Section 400.870, Final Development Plan Procedure, (B) 1-5 state that the Final 
Development Plan shall be in substantial compliance with the approved preliminary 
development plan. Modifications and refinements, resulting from the final design 
process, may be approved. In no event shall any modification of the development plan 
result in the following: 

1. A change in the use or character of the development; 
2. An increase in building or site coverage or increase in building height; 
3. An increase in the intensity of use (e.g., number of dwelling units); 
4. An increase in vehicular traffic generation or significant changes in traffic access 

and circulation; and 
5. A reduction in approved open space or required buffer areas. 

 
The proposed Final Development Plan complies with items 1 – 5 in Section 400.870. 

 
Plan Commission 
The Final Development Plan was approved at the October 26, 2022, as recommended by 
Staff. Additional recommendations discussed and/or added at the meeting are indicated 
in red in the list. below. It should also be noted that the Plan Commission voted to add 
the Common Ground 2 portion of the plat to the Final Development Plan. 

 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
Staff has determined that the Final Development Plan for Lot A of Phase IV of the Market 
at Olive Development meets the requirements of Section 400.870 of the Zoning 
ordinance and recommends approval of the plan with the following conditions: 

1. The buildings and property shall be developed, constructed, and maintained in 
compliance with the plans submitted and attached. The footprint and general 
layout are subject to the plans dated September 6, 2022. The height and mass 
shall be restricted to that shown on the Final Development Plan. 

M - 5 - 15



Page 3 of 3 

Market at Olive – Lot A, Plat 4 
Final Development Plan 
  

 

2. Accessible pedestrian walkways shall be provided from the public sidewalk to 
the private development; and  

3. Off-street parking and loading requirements will be provided according to the 
concurrent Conditional Use Permit approval. 

4. A detailed construction traffic control and parking plan should be submitted to 
the Director of Planning & Development for approval. Said plan shall set forth 
details pertaining to worker and resident parking during all phases of the 
proposed construction. It shall further detail solutions to public property 
maintenance issues such as street cleaning and traffic diversion. Said plan 
shall be finalized prior to the issuance of a building permit. It shall be the 
applicant’s responsibility to obtain those approvals in written form in a timely 
manner prior to issuance of the building permit. 

5. Bicycle racks shall be provided according to Section 400.2145 Off-Street 
Bicycle Parking Requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.  

6. The Final Landscape Plan shall be as approved by the Department of Planning 
and Development prior to issuance of building permits. 

7. There shall be no interference by pick-up or service delivery vehicles with 
pedestrian or vehicular traffic for Lot A or Lot B on the Common Ground 2 
parcel. 

M - 5 - 16


	Blank Page
	E2 - 2022-10-24 Draft Reg Minutes.pdf
	Blank Page

	J1 - Emergency Purchase.pdf
	11.14.22

	J5 - EDRST Funding Request.pdf
	Sheet1
	UCIB EDRST Budget FY23 - 2.pdf
	Sheet1

	UCIB EDRST Budget FY23 - 3.pdf
	Sheet1

	UCIB EDRST Budget FY23 - 4.pdf
	Sheet1

	Blank Page

	J6 - Snow Equipment.pdf
	Blank Page

	K3.pdf
	Blank Page

	K4 - 1st Qtr Financial Report.pdf
	������������������1st Quarter September 30, 2022� �FY2023 Presentation�
	�General Fund - Revenues
	General Fund - Expenditures
	Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Revenues
	Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Expenditures
	Park and Stormwater Sales Tax - Revenues
	Park and Stormwater Sales Tax - Expenditures
	Public Safety Sales Tax - Revenues
	Public Safety Sales Tax - Expenditures
	Slide Number 10
	Qrtly Report -1st Qtr FY23 - Statement of Rev & Exp.pdf
	1st Quarter
	1st Qtr Pension Fds
	ARPA Fund
	1st Qtr Olive I-170 Fds

	Blank Page

	K6 - CUP 22-11.pdf
	6. CFA Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	6193-entitlements-CFA C4.0 SITE PLAN


	Blank Page

	K7 - CUP 22-12.pdf
	6. Lot B Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	6193-entitlements-LOT B C5.0 GRADING (2)



	L2 - Bill 9490 - Map Amendment = Market at Olive IV - Lot A.pdf
	5. 2022-10-18 REVISED PRELIM DEV PLAN- LOT A R.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	6193-entitlements-CFA C1.0 TITLE SHEET (2)
	6193-entitlements-CFA C2.0 EASEMENT VACATIONS
	6193-entitlements-CFA C4.0 SITE PLAN
	6193-entitlements-CFA C5.0 GRADING
	6193-entitlements-CFA C6.0 UTILITY


	Blank Page

	M1 - Res 2022-13 FY23 Budget Amend No 2.pdf
	FY2023 Budget Amendment 2.pdf
	Gen Fd Rev
	Gen Fd Exp
	Other Funds
	Other Funds 2

	Blank Page

	M2 -  Market at Olive  Prelimary Plan Resolution (Lot A and Common Ground).pdf
	4. MARKET AT OLIVE NORTH- LOT A AND COMMON GROUND (2) Prelim Plan  R.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	6193-entitlements-PRELIM C1.0 TITLE SHEET (2)
	6193-entitlements-PRELIM C2.0 EASEMENT VACATIONS
	6193-entitlements-PRELIM C4.0 SITE PLAN


	Blank Page

	M3 - Bill 9491 - Market at Olive CID Expansion.pdf
	Blank Page

	M4 - Market at Olive Map Amendment Lot B Noth IV.pdf
	5. B1 2022-10-04 Market At Olive North- Lot B Prelim Dev Plan  R.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	6193-entitlements-LOT B C1.0 TITLE SHEET (3)
	6193-entitlements-LOT B C4.0 SITE PLAN (2)
	6193-entitlements-LOT B C5.0 GRADING (2)
	6193-entitlements-LOT B C6.0 UTILITY (2)



	M5 - Market at Olive Final Development Plan Lot A Plat 4.pdf
	4. FDP - Lot A - Staff Report CC.pdf
	Department of Community Development
	Existing Property
	Applicant’s Request
	Analysis
	Plan Commission
	Conclusion/Recommendation

	Blank Page




